

# University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

**Doctoral Dissertations** 

**Graduate School** 

5-2013

# Geographic and Temporal Epidemiology of Campylobacteriosis

Jennifer Weisent jweisent@utk.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_graddiss

Part of the Applied Statistics Commons, Epidemiology Commons, and the Longitudinal Data Analysis and Time Series Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Weisent, Jennifer, "Geographic and Temporal Epidemiology of Campylobacteriosis." PhD diss., University of Tennessee, 2013. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_graddiss/1792

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Jennifer Weisent entitled "Geographic and Temporal Epidemiology of Campylobacteriosis." I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Comparative and Experimental Medicine.

Barton Rohrbach, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Agricola Odoi, William Seaver, Jun Lin, John R. Dunn

Accepted for the Council:

Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

Geographic and Temporal Epidemiology of Campylobacteriosis

A Dissertation Presented for The Doctor of Philosophy Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Jennifer Weisent May 2013

Copyright© 2012 by Jennifer Weisent All rights reserved

## Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Marguerite and Francis Weisent. Throughout my life they have offered me the freedom and encouragement to be adventurous, think independently, explore ideas and pursue lofty goals without hesitation or fear. I am eternally grateful for all of their support and love.

## Acknowledgements

My sincerest gratitude and loyalty go out to my dear circle of closest friends, especially Dr. Kristi Oldham, Siri Karta Barry, and Joanna Rodger—amazing, pioneering women, who challenge me relentlessly and support me unconditionally.

I would like to thank my Major Advisor Dr. Barton Rohrbach for his encouragement and scientific integrity. I am grateful that he stayed involved and devoted to the completion of this dissertation, despite having attained the honorable status of Professor Emeritus during my tenure as student. I am grateful to Dr. Agricola Odoi, professor and co-advisor of my studies, whose skills and interests in epidemiological modeling provided the foundation for much of my research. His dedication to excellence in scientific writing has challenged me to improve my style, organization and clarity. Sincerest thanks to Dr. William Seaver, whose superior teaching style and compassionate mentoring inspired a love of statistics I did not know I had. His kindred and animated enthusiasm for science and our feline friends helped sculpt my technical and analytical skills, and warmed my heart.

I would also like to thank my other committee members, Dr. Jun Lin for his time and expertise in the field of *Campylobacter* research and Dr. John Dunn, Deputy State Epidemiologist for Tennessee, for dedicating his time and providing data and manuscript assistance for this research.

I am grateful, once again, to my supportive family, and finally, to James McNabb, the admirable gentleman who looks forward to having a "full-time" partner who is conscious, inspired and heart-centered, with every breath.

#### Abstract

Campylobacteriosis is a leading cause of gastroenteritis in the United States. The focus of this research was to (i) analyze and predict spatial and temporal patterns and associations for campylobacteriosis risk and (ii) compare the utility of advanced modeling methods. Laboratory-confirmed *Campylobacter* case data, obtained from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network were used in all investigations.

We compared the accuracy of forecasting techniques for campylobacteriosis risk in Minnesota, Oregon and Georgia and found that time series regression, decomposition, and Box-Jenkins Autoregressive Integrated Moving Averages reliably predict monthly risk of infection for campylobacteriosis. Decomposition provided the fastest, most accurate, user-friendly method.

Secondly, forecasting models were used to predict monthly climatic effects on the risk of campylobacteriosis in Georgia. The objectives were to (i) assess temporal patterns of campylobacteriosis risk (ii) compare univariate forecasting models with those that incorporate precipitation and temperature and (iii) investigate alternatives to random walk series and non random occurrences that could be outliers. We found significant regional associations between campylobacteriosis risk and climatic factors and control charting identified high risk time periods.

Our spatial study in Tennessee compared standardized risk estimates and investigated high risk spatial clustering of campylobacteriosis at three geographic scales. Spatial scan methods identified overlapping clusters (p<0.05) at census tract,

V

zip code and county sub-division levels. A greater number of smaller, finer resolution clusters were identified at the census tract level.

Objectives of the second study were to (i) identify socioeconomic determinants of the geographic disparities of campylobacteriosis risk (ii) investigate if regression coefficients demonstrate spatial variability and (iii) compare the performance of four modeling approaches: negative binomial, spatial lag, global and local Poisson geographically weighted regression. Local models had the best fit and identified associations between socioeconomic factors and geographic disparities in campylobacteriosis risk. Significant variables included race, unemployment rate, education attainment, urbanicity, and divorce rate.

Recent technological advancements have opened a virtually limitless 'toolbox' of analytical methods and offer novel means of identifying temporal spikes, spatial clusters and geographic disparities in campylobacteriosis risk that expand and hone our ability to create cost efficient, needs-based prevention and control measures.

Introduction1
CHAPTER 1. Literature Review6
1.0 Introduction72.0 History73.0 Campylobacter species/strains84.0 Clinical Signs105.0 Pathogenesis and Virulence factors11
<ul><li>5.1 The role of flagellum in pathogenesis</li><li>5.2 The role of bacterial enterotoxins</li><li>5.3 The role of cell surface properties</li><li>5.3 Other virulence factors</li></ul>
<ul> <li>6.0 Campylobacter biology and the environment</li></ul>
7.0 Transmission
8.0 Immunity
9.0 Diagnosis, Isolation and Identification
12.0 Antimicrobial resistance
<ul><li>13.0 Genetic characteristics and molecular typing methods</li></ul>
<ul><li>14.0 Epidemiology of campylobacteriosis</li></ul>

## **Table of Contents**

- 14.1.2 Developing nations
- 14.2 Burden of disease
- 14.3 Sporadic versus common source infections
  - 14.3.1 Poultry
  - 14.3.2 Outbreak detection: successes and challenges
  - 14.3.3 Molecular evidence for sporadic vs. outbreak cases
- 14.4. Risk factors for campylobacteriosis in humans

14.4.1 The importance of poultry in human *Campylobacter* infection

14.4.2 Prevalence in poultry flocks and contamination in retail chicken

14.4.3 Evidence against the importance of poultry as a source of human infection

14.4.4 *Campylobacter* as a food-borne pathogen

14.4.4.1 The role of human behavior

- 14.4.4.2 Cross contamination and undercooked food
- 14.4.3 Restaurants
- 14.4.4 Unpasteurized milk
- 14.4.4.5 Organic Foods
- 14.4.5 Socioeconomic risk factors for campylobacteriosis
  - 14.4.5.1 Race and ethnicity
  - 14.4.5.2 Age and gender
- 14.4.6 Rural verses urban
- 14.4.7 Travel-associated campylobacteriosis
- 14.4.8 Pets

15.0 Environmental epidemiology of campylobacteriosis......73

- 15.1 Domestic and wild animal disease reservoirs
  - 15.1.1 Carriage and shedding in domestic farm animals
  - 15.1.2 Molecular evidence for animal reservoirs
  - 15.1.3 Wild birds
- 15.2 Water as a source of infection
  - 15.2.1 Sewage and water treatment
  - 15.2.2 Agricultural land use and surface water contamination
  - 15.2.3 The link between land and water use and recreational
  - activity exposure to campylobacters
- 15.3 Climatic factors
  - 15.3.1 Seasonality of campylobacteriosis
    - 15.3.1.1 Behavioral factors and seasonality
    - 15.3.1.2 Animal and environment-related seasonal factors
  - 15.3.2 Temperature
  - 15.3.3 Precipitation

- 17.0 Spatial analysis and Geographic Information Systems (GIS)......90
  - 17.1 Spatial analyses as a tool for public health

17.2 Distribution of campylobacteriosis and campylobacters 17.3 Limitations
17.4 Trends in GIS and spatial analysis 18.0 Control and prevention of campylobacteriosis
18.6 Other 19.0. Summary, conclusions and future directions
CHAPTER 2. Comparison of three time series models for predicting campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, Minnesota and Oregon103
1.0 Summary.       104         2.0 Introduction.       105         3.0 Methods.       107         3.1 Data source and study area description       107         3.2 Data preparation       3.3 Pattern analysis and outlier identification         3.4 Time-series modeling techniques       3.4.1Time-series regression         3.4.2 Automatic decomposition       3.4.3 Box-Jenkins ARIMA         4.0 Results.       112
<ul> <li>4.1 Pattern analysis</li> <li>4.2 Outlier identification</li> <li>4.3 Time-series model results and comparisons</li> <li>4.3.1 Time-series regression</li> <li>4.3.2 Automatic decomposition</li> <li>4.3.3 ARIMA</li> </ul> 5.0 Discussion
CHAPTER 3. The importance of climatic factors and outliers in predicting regional monthly campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, USA119
1.0 Abstract.1202.0 Introduction.1213.0 Methods.1233.1 Study area3.2 Data sources and preparation

3.3 Pattern Analysis, Cross Correlations and Outlier Identification 3.4 Time series analysis
3.5 Statistical control charting & holdout sample variation
<ul> <li>4.0 Results</li></ul>
5.0 Discussion
6.0 Limitations
7.0 Conclusions
CHAPTER 4. Detection of high risk campylobacteriosis clusters at three geographic levels
1.0 Abstract
2.0 Introduction 143
3.0 Materials and Methods
3.1 Study area and data sources
3.2 Geocoding and data aggregation
3.3 Standardization
3.4 Spatial analysis
3.4.2 Cluster detection
4.0 Besults
<ul><li>4.1 Risk estimates and smoothing</li><li>4.2 Cluster detection</li></ul>
4.3 Alternate scanning window analysis
5.0 Discussion
6.0 Conclusions
CHAPTER 5. Socioeconomic determinants of geographic disparities in campylobacteriosis risk: a comparison of global and local modeling approaches
1.0 Abstract
3.1 Study area and data sources
3.2 Geocoding and Data aggregation 3.3 Computation of Campylobactriosis Risk, Smoothing and Mapping

3.4 Regression Analysis 3.4.1 Univariate regression analysis 3.4.2 Multivariable Regression Analysis 3.4.2.1 Negative Binomial Models 3.4.2.2 Spatial lag Models	
3.4.2.3 Global and Local Poisson Geographically Weighted Regression Models	
4.0 Results	
4.2 Socioeconomic determinants of geographic distribution of campylobacteriosis risk	
4.3 Comparison on modeling approaches 5.0 Discussion	}
6.0 Conclusion	r
CHAPTER 6 Summary and Recommendations18	6
1.0 Time Series Investigations 2.0 Spatial Investigations	
Conclusions	5
Appendices	5 )
Appendix A: Tables	
Vita	)

## List of Tables

**Table 2.1.** Time-series model comparisons for campylobacteriosis risk per 100,000 persons in Georgia (1999–2007), Oregon and Minnesota (1998–2007).

**Table 3.1.** Descriptive statistics and cross correlations (temperature and precipitation) for monthly campylobacteriosis risk estimates per 100,000 population in Georgia, climate divisions 1-9, and combined divisions 1-3, 4-6 and 7-9.

**Table 3.2.** Decomposition & time series regression with external variables and interventions for Georgia, USA, Divisions 1-9 and Combinations 1-3, 4-6 & 7-9.

**Table 4.1**.Significant high risk (p<.05) campylobacteriosis cluster profiles at census tract, zip code and county subdivision spatial levels. The observed verses expected number of cases and relative risks for the clusters are reported. Also included are the p-values, general region of the cluster, number of areal units and the population (U.S. Census 2000) for each cluster.

**Table 5.1**. Cases deleted from initial dataset and reasons for deletion.

**Table 5.2.** Summary statistics of the socioeconomic factors investigated for potential associations with campulobactoriosis risk

with campylobacteriosis risk.

**Table 5.3.** Spearman Rank Correlation Coefficients of variables investigated for potential association with campylobacteriosis in Tennessee.

**Table 5.4.** Results of assessment of univariate (simple) associations between campylobacteriosis risk and selected socioeconomic factors.

**Table 5.5**. Comparison of negative binomial, spatial lag, global and local Poisson geographically weighted regression models.

**Table 5.6.** Assessment of the stationarity of the local Geographically Weighted (GWR)

 Model regression coefficients

## List of Figures

**Figure 2.1.** Risk of campylobacteriosis per 100,000 persons in (a) Georgia (1999-2007), (b) Oregon (1998–2007) and (c) Minnesota (1998–2007).

**Figure 2.2.** (a) Autocorrelation and (b) partial autocorrelation plots for Georgia campylobacteriosis risk per 100,000 persons.

**Figure 2.3.** Validation year (2008) actual vs. predicted risk of campyloacteriosis per 100,000 persons in (a) Georgia, (b) Oregon and (c) Minnesota.

**Figure 2.4.** Comparison of temporal patterns in risk of campylobacteriosis in Oregon, Minnesota and Georgia.

**Figure 3.1.** (a) Georgia state map including county (names) and climate division (numerical) boundaries and (b) Digital elevation map highlighting the regions that correspond to mountains (red, pink), piedmont (dark blues), coastal plain (blue to green interface) and swamp regions (light green).

**Figure 3.2.** Procedural flow chart for forecasting campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, USA

**Figure 3.3.** Risk (and linear trend) of campylobacteriosis (scale factor of 100), precipitation (scale factor of 10) and temperature in Georgia, USA from 1999-2008.

**Figure 3.4.** Risk of campylobacteriosis (scale factor of 10) and precipitation for Georgia, USA climate divisions 1-9 (a-i) from 1999-2008.

**Figure 3.5.** ARIMA (000 011) Control Charting and Moving holdout results for Divisions 1 (a) & Division 4 (b). Included are the standardized residual scatter plots and mean training and holdout R<sup>2</sup> results for Moving holdout analyses using decomposition (compared with 2008 results).

**Figure 4.1**. Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed risk of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee during the study period September 1, 1991 to December 31, 2008 at the county subdivision spatial level. The risks are standardized by age and gender.

**Figure 4.2**. Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed risk of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee at the zip code spatial level. Primary insert incorporates the area surrounding Knoxville. Secondary insert highlights the highest risk region of central Knoxville (dark purple). The risks are standardized by age and gender.

**Figure 4.3**. Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed risk of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee at the census tract spatial level. The three regional inserts highlight important high risk areas at this scale. The risks are standardized by age and gender.

**Figure 4.4.** Significant high risk clusters using 3% scanning window at three levels: (a) county subdivision, (b) zip code, (c) census tract.

**Figure 4.5.** Magnified view of Tennessee demonstrates simultaneous overlay of clusters using 3% scanning window: (a) includes only the zip code (green), (b) contains the zip code and census tract (blue) and (c) shows all three (from bottom to top): zip code, census tract and county subdivision (brown). Note: Order of overlay was chosen for improved visualization.

**Figure 4.6.** Significant (p<0.05) high risk cluster results for county subdivision spatial level using (a) 3% scanning window, (b) 5% scanning window, (c) 10% scanning window.

**Figure 5.1.** Geographic distribution of selected socioeconomic variables investigated for potential association with campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee.

**Figure 5.2.** McHenry's All Possible variable selection procedure scree plot demonstrating root mean square error improvement in the top model combinations. Improvement is optimized with four variables (dashed red line).

**Figure 5.3.** Model 1 geographically weighted parameter estimates of the significant socioeconomic determinants of campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee.

**Figure 5.4.** Model 2 geographically weighted parameter estimates of the significant socioeconomic determinants of campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee.

### List of Abbreviations Used

- AB: Antibiotic
- AFLP: Amplified fragment length polymorphism
- AIC: Akaike's Information Criterion
- CDT: Cytolethal Distending Toxin
- FQ: Fluorquinolones
- FoodNet: Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network
- GBS: Guillain Barre-syndrome
- GIS: Geographic Information Systems
- GWR: Geographically weighted regression
- IBD: Inflammatory Bowel Disease
- LOS: lipooligosaccharide
- MFS: Miller-Fisher's syndrome
- MLST: Multi locus sequence typing
- PCR: Polymerase chain reaction
- PFGE: Pulsed field gel electrophoresis
- **RA: Reactive Arthritis**
- RAPD: Randomly amplified polymorphic DNA
- SES: Socioeconomic status
- UK: United Kingdom
- **U.S.United States**
- VBNC: Viable but nonculturable state

#### INTRODUCTION

*Campylobacter* sp. bacteria are a leading cause of human gastroenteritis in developed nations, infecting an estimated one percent of the U.S. population annually, surpassing pathogens such as *Salmonella* sp. and *E. coli* (1-3). As a result of the pathogen's ubiquitous nature, the establishment of causative associations between human infection and contaminated food or water, animal contact and other environmental sources is a formidable task (4-6).

Campylobacteriosis risk (defined as the probability that an individual will develop campylobacteriosis within a given time period (7)) is affected by a complex set of temporal and spatial factors (geographic regions, climate patterns, human behaviors, and food and water sources) (8-10). The seasonality of campylobacteriosis has been well documented worldwide, and variation in disease risk may be due to the effects of temperature and rainfall on the survival and reproduction of campylobacters in either the environment or on foods sources (11-13). Studies have yet to be performed to determine the importance of climate factors on disease risk or predict the future risk of disease in different geographic regions in the United States. Comparing how temperature and precipitation patterns vary among regions may help identify the sources of transmission, improve local accuracy in forecasting, and alert epidemiologists and public health officials to potential epidemics (14-17).

In addition, outliers and interventions in surveillance data may indicate outbreaks, geographic variation in reporting, and policy or prevention procedures that affect disease risk over time. While it is difficult to predict temporal change, statistical control

charting and past interventions can be incorporated into models to understand and improve process performance (18). Univariate models and those that incorporate exogenous climate variables could be combined with alternative statistical approaches to provide public health officials with an early indication of irregularity in disease incidence and result in more efficient and cost-effective control strategies (14, 19-23).

In the United States, Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) identifies marked geographic variations in the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection (24). Although the overall risk of disease in the U.S. population is 13 cases per 100,000, some areas in Tennessee have risks as high as 200 cases per 100,000 (25). Therefore, there is interest in identifying the determinants of the geographic disparities seen in disease risk so as to guide disease control efforts. Furthermore, the use of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and spatial statistics to identify high risk regions serves to support and expand current knowledge on the mechanisms of transmission and geographic risk factors for this disease.

Understanding the impact of spatial scale on the assessment of health outcomes provide meaningful inferences from available geographic data (26, 27). Thus far, there is no consensus on what geographic scale is most appropriate, precise or useful for surveillance data (28-30). A number of studies exist that utilize cluster detection and mapping techniques to identify high risk regions for infectious diseases (31-33), yet few compare the differences in spatial patterns of disease at more than one level. From a public health standpoint, the utility of surveillance data is oftentimes limited by the level to which it can be aggregated and analyzed with reliable results. To address these

problems, we explore the direct impact of geographic scale on results of spatial cluster investigation using aggregated campylobacteriosis data in Tennessee.

Understanding health disparities among racial, ethnic and across socioeconomic subgroups is a priority of public health personnel and policy makers (34, 35). In developed countries, the relationships between socioeconomic status (SES) and campylobacteriosis risk are complex and have been shown to vary geographically, often between rural and urban areas (36-38). The geographic differences in associations between socioeconomic factors and campylobacteriosis risk are a worldwide phenomenon, hence regression models need to account for the fact that regression coefficients, used to assess associations between risk factors and disease, might vary in space. Local modeling approaches enable investigators to more accurately estimate the true relationships between determinants and disease risk since they estimate regression coefficients for each location in the study area (39-41).

Geographically weighted regression (GWR) modeling techniques compute local regression coefficients thereby allowing the estimates of the associations between outcome and explanatory variables to vary spatially (42, 43). This flexible modeling strategy is necessary to improve our understanding of the determinants of geographic disparities of campylobacteriosis risk. For example, local variations were detected in the occurrence of diseases such as obesity and breast cancer when modeled against socioeconomic factors (44-46). In these and other studies, global modeling approaches, that estimate one regression coefficient for each variable in the model, hide local variations in associations (40, 41). Local GWR model estimates allow health

professionals to better assess how the effect of the explanatory variable changes by geographic location. Armed with this knowledge, health planners can better identify the most important disease determinants for different regions and therefore better plan health programs, provision of services and resource allocation to meet the unique needs of different communities.

The potential for emerging infectious disease patterns to change in response to anthropogenic climate and land use changes warrants the continual improvement and updating of current forecasting systems. Technological advances in forecasting software and program capability beget systematic review of methods and their applicability in the realm of public health. Systematic analyses of multiple modelling techniques aims to create an optimal model to be used by public health officials with a state specific, accurate and user-friendly method for predicting disease risk. Risk forecasting could provide public health officials with an early indication of irregularity in disease incidence and act as an epidemic alert system (14, 19-22). Rather than apply a one-size-fits-all approach to control and prevention strategies, methods that identify regional variations in disease risks enable public health officials to provide more costeffective needs-based population health planning.

The focus of this research was two-fold: To analyze and predict spatial and temporal patterns and associations for campylobacteriosis risk and to assess the utility of advanced temporal and spatial modeling methods and software systems.

This dissertation is comprised of six chapters, including a comprehensive literature review at the beginning, four self-contained studies that address unique spatial

and temporal modeling objectives, and finally, a summary of the discussions,

recommendations and conclusions of the research.

## **CHAPTER 1**

## **Literature Review**

#### **1.0 Introduction**

The Campylobacteriaceae family are Gram-negative, spiral shaped bacteria that are typically microaerophilic and motile (1-3). The family members are primarily gastrointestinal commensal organisms and include Campylobacter, Arcobacter and Bacteroides (47, 48). The genera together (Campylobacter, Arcobacter and Helicobacter) comprise over forty species, most of which have been isolated from humans (5). Thermophilic campylobacters, in particular C. jejuni, C. coli and C. lari, are responsible for the majority of disease in humans (47, 49), with C. jejuni comprising 80-90% of infections (1). While *Campylobacter spp*. have been known causative agents of diarrhea in domestic farm animals since the early 1900's, in the last 30 years *Campylobacter* infection has emerged as the most common cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in humans (1, 2). Despite being responsible for over 2 million cases annually in the United States, death due to *Campylobacter* infection is uncommon. Deaths occur, worldwide, in approximately 5 per 10,000 people (50) and in the United States, up to124 die annually (51). Victims are often infants, elderly or other immune compromised, individuals (2).

#### 2.0 History

The organism now known as *Campylobacter* was first found in infants with diarrhea that died in the 1880's (47, 49). Theodore Escherich described the bacterium microscopically from neonatal stool samples in 1886, but was unable to obtain a successful culture (52). Subsequently, the research community lost interest as it was

not considered to be a pathogen of significance. *Campylobacter* was definitively identified in 1913 by McFadyean and Stockman during research into epizootic abortions among sheep in the United Kingdom (UK) (1, 49).

Initial description and naming of *Vibrio fetus* as a major cause of abortion in cattle and sheep was confirmed by Smith in follow-up morphological work performed in 1918 (52) (49, 53). In 1957, Elizabeth King identified two distinct subgroups by visual, serological and clinical characteristics (1, 48). In 1963 the organism was differentiated from the genus *Vibrio*, and given the name *Campylobacter*, derived from the Greek word for 'curved rod' (49).

The first report of human *Campylobacter* enteritis was documented in 1938 and attributed to consumption of contaminated milk (53). It was not until 1972 that the organism was isolated from human blood and feces by Dekyser and Butzler (47). In 1977, Martin Skirrow described a culture and incubation procedure that has since been adopted as a standard laboratory method for fecal isolation. This technique paved the way for further research and classification (5, 49). Most recently, four main species of *Campylobacter* (*jejuni, coli, lari, fetus*) which share less than 35% genetic similarity have been characterized using DNA hybridization (54). To date, thirteen additional species have been identified, the majority of which have been isolated from humans (5, 55, 56).

#### 3.0 Campylobacter species/strains

For this review, "*Campylobacter*" refers to either *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* as these two species account for the vast majority (90-99%) of *Campylobacter* strains isolated from humans (57-59). The term may also be used to designate campylobacter isolates when

identification was not undertaken at the species level. The 2007 quarterly report from the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control identified *C. jejuni* as the predominant species (92.9% of isolates) recorded for 15 European countries under surveillance (60). *Campylobacter coli*, the second most frequently isolated species, accounts for between 7 and 18.6% of human cases (61). A study of poultry house isolates in France detected 77.7% contaminated with *C. jejuni*, 10.7% *C. coli* and 11.6% had both (62). The same study sampled supermarket chicken parts and found *C. jejuni* in 74% and *C. coli* in 26% of positive samples.

Isolation procedures developed to enhance the growth of *C. jejuni* and *C.coli* may be supportive of other species of pathogenic importance (57). In a study of South African pediatric patients, 16.2% of stool isolates had multiple *Campylobacter* isolates. Such pathogenic strains include *C. concisus*, *C. upsaliensis*, *C. jejuni* subsp. *doylei* and *H. fennelliae* (57). C*ampylobacter lari*, *C.hyointestinalis*, and *C.fetus* subsp *fetus*, have also been associated with diarrhea in humans (63). A study of feedlot cattle shedding patterns in Alberta, Canada detected *C. lanienae* (55.5%), *C. hyointestinals* (7.7%) and *C. fetus* (1.7%) in fecal samples over five collection periods during a four month period (64). Dogs and cats are considered to be primary reservoirs for *C. helveticus* and *C.upsaliensis* (65, 66). The pathogenic potential of some species in humans remains unknown.

In Poland *C. coli* were detected in 30.1% of positive human samples and 56.9% of poultry meat samples. The authors concluded that a regional component may be of importance in species prevalence (67). Geographic differences among strains from

developed versus developing nations have also been reported (63). In South America, approximately 25% of human cases are due to *C. coli* isolates whereas industrialized nations typically see no more than 5% of this species (68). Similarly, *C.coli* was found in 41% of human isolates from Hong Kong and 39% from the Central African Republic (63). While prevalence of strains may vary geographically, they are found homogenously among hosts. In a study of *C. jejuni* (control) and *C.coli* (case) no significant differences were found in age, gender or geographic locale between the two species (58). In general, *C. jejuni* patients are more likely to be hospitalized, and *C. coli* patients are often linked to consumption of river, stream or spring water, suggesting differences in disease source, transmission and outcome. The reasons for such differences are a major topic of scientific investigation in the field of health geographics.

#### 4.0 Clinical Signs

Onset of human campylobacteriosis is characterized by fever and acute inflammatory enteritis (48). The mean incubation period of three days (range 1-7 days) is longer than most gastrointestinal infections (54, 69, 70). Infection may be accompanied by influenza-like symptoms, abdominal pain and cramping, followed by profuse watery diarrhea (69). In a study of 3489 confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis in 2003, 96% reported diarrhea, 28% bloody diarrhea, 81% fever and 86% abdominal cramps. A second case-control study including 7,360 responses demonstrated very similar results: Diarrhea 95%, abdominal pain 85%, fever 78% and bloody diarrhea 27% (71). In a cohort study of diarrheal illness, *Campylobacter* positive cases were more likely to show signs of fever [OR 3.19 (95% CI 2.36, 4.31)], muscle aches [OR 3.13

(95% CI 2.32, 4.22)] and abdominal pain [OR 3.40 (95% CI 2.32, 5.12)] than patients with *Campylobacter* negative laboratory results (72). Cases due to *C. coli* tend to be milder than those due to *C. jejuni*, although they are not clinically distinguishable without speciation (63, 69).

In children the disease can manifest as abdominal pain without diarrhea (30%), and although patients infrequently vomit (15%) nausea is a common symptom (69). Children are also more likely to pass frank blood in the stool (69). Although most infections are confined to the intestines, systemic infection may accompany intestinal disease, especially in immune compromised, very old and very young patients (48, 54). Immune deficient patients can become chronic carriers of the bacteria and suffer recurrent bouts of enteritis and bacteremia, although the importance of bacteremia associated with enteritis is not clearly understood (54, 69).

Intestinal complications can also occur, such as colitis, toxic megacolon and intestinal hemorrhage (73). Hepatitis, nephritis, pancreatitis and myocarditis are other reported extra-intestinal sequelae (73). The wide array of potential clinical manifestations are postulated to be a result of the organism's unique genetic diversity, a high priority research topic in molecular and clinical epidemiology (74).

#### 5.0 Pathogenesis and Virulence Factors

The details of *Campylobacter* pathogenesis and virulence factors are not clearly understood (48, 63, 74, 75). From an epidemiological standpoint, there are no major differences in virulence among *C .jejuni* strains, and many species (*C. concisus*, *C. upsaliensis*, *C. jejuni* subsp. *doylei* and *H. fennelliae*) are known to cause similar clinical

signs (76) (57). *Campylobacter jejuni* is implicated in over 90% of human cases in developed nations, therefore, comprehensive knowledge of pathophysiology is limited to this species (54). Pathology of the disease is described for human hosts, as domestic and non-domestic animal species, including poultry, often exhibit asymptomatic intestinal colonization (77).

Following ingestion by the host, *Campylobacter* colonizes both the small intestine and its target organ, the colon (78). Gastric acid in the stomach and bile salts may eliminate much of the consumed dose; however, *C. jejuni's* ability to bypass these natural defense mechanisms enhances overall virulence (54, 79, 80).

*Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* cause inflammation and may cause tissue damage by translocating across the intestinal barrier (81). During infection, the bacteria is found primarily inside or closely associated with intestinal crypt cells (82). *Campylobacter jejuni* is capable of surviving intracellularly, which helps it to evade the host immune response (75, 82). The pathogen essentially 'hides out', by residing in a membrane bound compartment within the intestinal epithelial cells (75, 81). While inside the cell, the bacteria undergo physiological changes that enable them to avoid delivery to lysosomes and remain viable for a minimum of 24 hours (81).

Results from intestinal biopsies and leukocyte counts in stool samples of *Campylobacter* enteritis cases have helped to classify the disease as inflammatory in nature (48). Phagocytic mononuclear and polymorphonuclear cells have also been detected within the intestinal epithelium (81). Physical adherence of bacteria to the epithelial mucosa initiates the host inflammatory response and results in the

development of diarrhea (53, 83). Tissue injury secondary to this inflammatory response occurs in the jejunum, ileum and colon where marked epithelial gland destruction, crypt abscess formation and infiltration of the lamina propria occur (1).

Recent evidence suggests that the bacteria have also developed efficient strategies for entry into the subcellular epithelial space, leading to infection levels between 10-15 bacteria per cell within 2-3 hours (83). Other postulated virulence factors alter gut motility in the host and enable survival in blood phagocytes (54, 77). The clinical manifestation of diarrhea occurs primarily as a consequence of cell damage resulting from pathogen infiltration and reduction in intestinal absorptive capacity (48) (81). Extensive damage to host intestines can result from the combination of inflammation, epithelial hemorrhage and the release of bacterial toxins (54, 79, 81).

#### 5.1 The role of flagellum in pathogenesis

The flagellum is a necessary component of *Campylobacter* pathogenesis, infectivity and virulence (54, 77, 81). The rapid, erratic motions produced by the major and minor flagellin (flaA and flaB) are vital to overcoming peristalsis and intestinal colonization (48, 78) . *Campylobacter jejuni* motility allows for effective translocation, adherence and invasion in viscous conditions such as those found in the thick mucus linings of the intestinal tract (78). Recent molecular typing studies seek to understand the mechanism of *fla*A, as flagellar characteristics that support successful colonization in the chicken gut may be linked to increased virulence in humans (84). Evidence suggests that other virulence factors undergo co-regulation with flagella and that flagella may contain adhesins for attachment to epithelium (54, 85). The flagellum also secretes

antigens required for invasion of the host epithelium (86). These proteins contribute to virulence via Type III secretory apparati that project into and compromise the host cell (53, 86). Recent microarray studies and genetic characterization of the strain NCTC11168 (the first sequenced strain) variant confirm the association between antigenic proteins and virulence (78).

#### 5.2 The role of bacterial enterotoxins

Several studies report that pathogenic strains of *Campylobacter* produce Cytolethal Distending Toxin (CDT), a three subunit holotoxin that allows binding and penetration of host cells (80, 86). CDT toxins have been found in gastrointestinal pathogens such as *E. coli* and *Shigella* and are a known cause of cell distention and death (87). However, the enterotoxin genes have not been identified in *C. jejuni* and the specific role toxins may play in *Campylobacter* pathogenesis remains unclear (48, 86, 87). Cytolethal Distending Toxin may cause cell cycle arrest, have apoptotic effects, and induce Interleukin-8 (IL-8), a pro-inflammatory cytokine thereby increasing hostpathogen epithelial contact time and immunosuppression (75, 80, 85). The inflammatory response and IL-8 release are considered crucial to induce diarrhea in the host (53, 75). Additional hypotheses suggest that other cholera-like enterotoxins are also involved in the pathogenesis of *C. jejuni* (1, 87). However, enterotoxins have not been found in fecal samples of infected individuals, nor have antibodies to toxins been identified (1, 48, 77).

#### 5.3 The role of cell surface properties

*Campylobacter jejuni's* success as a gut pathogen and commensal is linked to its ability to modify cell surface properties (84). The lipooligosaccharide (LOS) and capsular structure of *C. jejuni* are highly variable and associated with effective evasion of the host immune system (85, 86). Both structures are implicated in epithelial cell adherence, invasion and virulence (83, 86). Reduced virulence and adherence, in vitro and in vivo, have been found in capsule deficient strains (53, 85). Lipooligosaccharide may also play a role in extraintestinal manifestations of the disease such as Guillaine Barre Syndrome (GBS). For example, LOS can be mimicked on the molecular level by peripheral nerve gangliosides resulting in autoreactive antibodies and subsequently, a damaging inflammatory response (53).

#### 5.4 Other important virulence factors

Secretion and signal transduction mechanisms, O-linked and N-linked glycosylation systems, flagellar proteins, adherence appendage identification, and chemotaxis are areas of *Campylobacter* pathogenesis and virulence that require further investigation (53, 86). Chemotaxis toward mucus and amino acids has been observed, yet protein response, attractants and signal transduction mechanisms are not well understood (86). A series of adhesins (CdF, JlpA, CapA, CBF1) have also been described, each making an important contribution to binding, invasion and inflammation (86). The protein CiaB is secreted by *C. jejuni* as a prerequisite to invasion of cultured epithelial cells (86). This secretion mechanism has been linked to an export system on the flagellum which has yet to be fully characterized. Other studies have tied O-linked

glycosylation with assembly and motility of flagella and N-linked glycosylation with *Campylobacter* virulence factors (53).

Despite the many recent advances in the understanding of *C. jejuni* pathophysiology, it is believed that the majority of virulence factors have yet to be identified (74, 85). In addition, the relative importance of *Campylobacter*-host cell interactions in the role of the infectious process remains unclear (2, 81, 83). Major barriers to understanding *C. jejuni* pathogenesis are attributed to (i) the lack of non-primate models that mimic intestinal pathology, (ii) an inability to fully substantiate hypotheses on the molecular level and (iii) the complex and variable genetic makeup of the organism (79, 85, 86). Advances in microarray and other genetic tools are expected to make great contributions to our knowledge in the near future (84, 86).

#### 6.0 *Campylobacter* biology and the environment

#### 6.1 Biology and survival

Campylobacters oxidate amino acids or tricarboxylic acids as sources of energy and grow in microaerophilic environments (containing 5-10% oxygen) (48, 88). Stringent nutritional requirements and a minimum of adaptive responses limit their ability to grow in the environment, especially when compared to other bacterial pathogens (74). Campylobacters are only capable of reproducing at temperatures found in warmblooded animals (48, 88), and upon excretion from human, animal and bird hosts, must contend with a host of stress factors. When expelled into aquatic and terrestrial environments they are immediately exposed to variable levels of oxygen, temperature changes, nutrient sources and ultraviolet radiation (89-91). Experimental evidence has

shown that temperature and atmospheric conditions have a significant influence over the expression of genes (92).

Recent molecular studies have identified genes thought to confer protective heat and acid tolerance traits via plasmids (89). Unlike *Salmonella* and *E. coli* which possess numerous genetically expressed defense mechanisms (osmoprotectants, and regulators of oxidative stress and heat-shock) campylobacters have a more limited range of cellular survival adaptations (89, 92, 93). *Escherichia coli* remains culturable for much longer periods of time under the same experimental conditions (>200 days versus <85 days for *C. jejuni*). Thus, although campylobacters remain viable in the environment, detection is a challenge (93).

Campylobacters require high temperatures (32-45 °C) for replication in the host (88, 94). Paradoxically, the organism survives more readily at low environmental temperatures (4°C versus 22°C or 30°C) and in cold aquatic environments (89, 90). They are also sensitive to ultraviolet-B radiation at experimental levels comparable with sunny conditions (91, 95). Obiri-Danso et al. demonstrated rapid decline in survival rates under light and temperature ranges reflective of summer conditions in the UK (95). Positive environmental samples were detected more frequently on rainy versus sunny days by Louis et al.(96), supporting the fact that campylobacters are sensitive to desiccation (89, 96).

Evidence shows that *Campylobacter* survival declines in response to warmer environments, in part due to competition with other bacteria (88, 96). Experimentally, the pathogen's ability to adhere and invade host cells diminished as ambient or aquatic

temperatures rose (91). *Campylobacter jejuni* are no longer culturable after 12 hours, at 37°C, whereas in colder conditions (4°C) they remained culturable for up to 5 days (95, 97). Thomas et al. found the greatest change in rate of decay between 15-25° C, with a rapid decline in culturability at temperatures exceeding 15° C (90).

Despite these limitations, campylobacters are commonly present and transmissible in both aquatic environments and animal excreta (98-100). In Wales, human campylobacteriosis rates were correlated with annual increases in temperature and the overall seasonal pattern was associated with environmental factors more so than food consumption (96). Rollins et al. hypothesize that survivability in colder conditions may improve the organism's likelihood of being recycled into animal hosts in the spring (97), thereby playing a key role in maintaining a viable reservoir over winter. The combination of *Campylobacter's* complex response to environmental stressors and unique host interactions continue to perplex the research community.

#### 6.3 Free-living organisms as potential reservoirs

Free-living protozoal organisms and arthropods may provide campylobacters with substantial reservoirs and vehicles for infection. One potential reservoir includes the Darkling beetle (*Alphitobius diaperinus*) and larvae, within which detection of live campylobacters has been recorded (101). The exact mechanism by which arthropod dissemination of the pathogen occurs is poorly understood. *Campylobacter jejuni* also shows improved survivability when cultured with amoebic organisms, as opposed to when cultured alone (102, 103). In laboratory experiments, campylobacters survived within the amoeba (*Acanthamoeba polyphaga*) at temperatures that normally diminish

survival time in the environment (102). Following co-cultivation, campylobacters were alive and motile within amoebic vacuoles, and survived rupture of the host cell. A similar study showed that *C. jejuni* remained viable longer in co-cultures with protozoa and had a significant increase in ability to resist disinfection (103). Further studies to understand and quantify the symbiotic relationships between protozoal species and arthropods in *Campylobacter* survival and disease transmission are needed.

#### 6.4 Viable but Nonculturable State

The viable but nonculturable state (VBNC) is a physiological change of state, described as a biological transition induced by suboptimal environmental conditions. The state may be of transitory dormancy or ultimate decline for the organism, but this has yet to be determined (89, 102). Campylobacters in the VBNC have been found in biofilms, thin adherent groupings of microorganisms that create protective aquatic microenvironments during extreme conditions (89). They have been shown to be less capable of responding adaptively to temperature and acidity in biofilms (104). The effect of biofilms and the VBNC state is of unknown significance to the survivability and pathogenesis of *Campylobacter*.

Studies indicate that conditions of stress such as elevated temperature, atmospheric oxygen and nutrient deficiency have a greater effect on culturability than survivability, with nutrient deficiency being the most important stress factor overall (91). Metabolic activity in the VBNC state has been recorded for up to 30 days and under favorable conditions, a return to culturable form has been reported (89, 97, 105). Moen et al. showed that *C. jejuni* expresses genetic traits that activate mechanisms for
survival under non growth conditions (92). Cook and Bolster observed that viability of *C. jejuni* was present under laboratory conditions more than 50 days after loss of culturability (93). *Campylobacter* cells tend to lose their recoverability prior to undergoing actual membrane disruption (92). Thus, is it difficult to quantify the outcome of environmental stress and the role of the VBNC state in the transmission of disease. In essence, campylobacters that transition into this form are capable of 'slipping under the radar.'

Scientists and public health regulators often quantify human exposure to bacteria as a function of the pathogen load in the environment. For example, water safety standards rely on the absence of bacteria to indicate safety (106). The inability to detect the VBNC form has been implicated in inconsistent findings between the presence of *Campylobacter* and more easily detectable fecal indicators in water and sewage (93). Difficulties in detecting VBNC campylobacters hinder our understanding of the disease ecology and may be an important factor in identifying associations between the risk of disease and environmental sources (107).

#### 6.5 Environmental conditions and survivability

*Campylobacter* survivability declines as temperature and light increase, causing oxidative stress (108). In contrast, the risk of campylobacteriosis in human populations increases during warmer months with longer daylight hours. One explanation for the dichotomy is that *C. jejuni's* ability to survive in water improves as turbidity, oxygen and nutrient levels vary seasonally (91-93, 99). Under conditions of high oxygen tension campylobacters have lower survivability, as determined by the expression of 'stress

genes' (92). Warmer waters tend to maintain lower aquatic oxygen levels, thereby enhancing survival.

A combination of land use factors, farming strategies and summer weather patterns may serve to elevate bacterial loads, and offset the detrimental effect of temperature. A study in the U.S. coastal region of Georgia that encompassed a mixeduse watershed with known agricultural run-off showed that increased concentration of campylobacters in aquatic systems during warmer months was associated with increased precipitation and turbidity (99). The hypothesis was that elevated pathogen levels contributed directly to high prevalence of human campylobacteriosis in the county of study (17 per 100,000 persons versus 6.8/100,000 for the remainder of the state). While this seems logical, the environmental load of bacteria was highest during the summer months when both ambient and aquatic temperatures were at their annual peak. This complex relationship between ecological factors and bacterial adaptation make it difficult to identify individual environmental contributions to disease burden.

#### 7.0 Transmission

#### 7.1 Common routes

*Campylobacter* primarily undergoes fecal-oral transmission. The infective dose has been documented between 500-10,000 organisms (2, 47, 54, 62, 69). The likelihood of colonization increases with dose and the estimated number of organisms necessary for diarrheal illness can range from 53-20,000,000 (109). Direct person-to-person transmission is rare. However, a recent case-control study identified 'exposure to household members with diarrheal disease' as a risk factor [OR 3.5 (95% CI: 1.6-

8.0)] for campylobacteriosis (110). In untreated patients with normal immune function the organism can be excreted for up to 3 months (range 2 weeks to 3 months) (54, 111). Although it is hypothesized that campylobacters have a low level of infectivity after passage through humans (76), further investigation is required to determine if direct transmission is more common than suspected.

Conlan et al. assert that the key to understanding transmission of *Campylobacter* lies in unraveling the complex process of colonization in poultry (70). While recent molecular evidence suggests that vertical transmission occurs in broiler flocks (112), horizontal transmission from on-farm sources is the most likely mechanism of colonization (70). Current research aims to find ways to decrease transmission and colonization in poultry and other farm animals and thereby decrease the level of contamination in human food sources, drinking water and the environment.

#### 7.2 Flies and rodents as vectors

The ubiquitous nature of campylobacters, coupled with the low infective dose in humans, contribute to the theory that flies and rodents are important mechanical vectors in the transmission cycle (113-115). Flies have also been implicated as part of the chain of transmission and infection associated with warmer months (113, 116). Guerin et al. modeled temperature as a function of fly activity and found an increased prevalence in poultry flocks during conditions when flies are active and abundant in Iceland (117). It is theorized that poultry may become colonized after ingestion of either *Campylobacter*-positive flies, their excrement or regurgitated gut contents (117). In another study, *C. coli* were isolated from flies during environmental sampling on pig farms (61). In 2004, a

New Zealand study of urban and farm sources, found a 9% prevalence of *C. jejuni* in flies (114). In a Danish case-control study, broiler houses without screening had a *Campylobacte*r positive flock prevalence of 52.4% while those with screens had a prevalence of 15.4% (118). This suggests that the physical barrier to flies may prevent colonization of poultry. The importance of flies and rodents in the disease cycle has yet to be substantiated and is under current investigation.

### 8.0 Immunity

## 8.1 Acquired Immunity

The human immune response to campylobacters, an inflammatory gastroenteritis, is paramount to understanding its complex epidemiology (48). Currently, a number of *Campylobacter* specific antigens have been identified, with flagellin (a flagellar protein subunit) being immunodominant (79). Infection does not guarantee clinical disease, and a better understanding of how host factors affect variation in individual susceptibility and clinical signs would improve our ability to identify important risk factors (79).

The humoral and cell-mediated immune systems have been implicated in host immune response (79, 81, 119). Infection confers short term immunity of unknown duration by stimulating antibodies within five to seven days of infection (69, 79). Peak antibody response occurs within 2-4 weeks, declines over several months and can be detected in serum and mucosal secretions (56). Higher antibody responses have been associated with milder clinical signs (120), less excretion of the organism, and an immune host may render *Campylobacter* nonpathogenic (63). Although asymptomatic

excretion has been commonly documented in immune individuals the mechanism remains unknown (54, 121).

Evidence for partial immunity is seen in the disproportionate number of *Campylobacter* cases among travelers versus indigenous population from developing nations (63). Exposure to indigenous strains can protect an individual within a given region. Partial immunity is thought to be the primary reason why children in developing nations excrete the organism for a shorter duration than those in developed countries (63, 79). Children in developing countries are exposed to many *Campylobacter* species at an early age, whereas in developed nations exposure may be strain specific (122). This difference is mainly attributable to lifestyle and behavioral factors. In all children, for the first six months of life, immunoglobulin (IgA, IgM and IgG) levels remain low despite exposure. This is due to both maternal antibodies and poor serologic response by young children and contributes to the elevated risk in this age group (123). However, breast feeding may be protective and has been shown to decrease incidence of symptomatic infection in children (56, 123). As age increases beyond six months, all baseline levels of IgA and IgM (lesser extent IgG) increase in response to infection (63, 79). These exposure and immune status differences help to explain why young children in developed regions have a higher incidence of clinical disease when compared to those in underdeveloped regions.

The risk of acquiring the disease is likely to be affected by the number of immune individuals in the population (herd immunity) (119). Acquired immunity to specific strains is one hypothesis for why *Campylobacter* rates in some regions have been declining

(124). As the frequency of infection increases, there is a resulting decrease in disease due to increased prevalence of acquired immunity in the population.

Immune response differences have been identified between the general population and workers on farms and in abattoirs (120). For example, workers with direct exposure to the organism demonstrate a higher level of conferred immunity, despite having a higher overall risk of disease (125). One food-borne outbreak study found a lower risk of infection (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.39-1.52) in animal workers versus non-animal workers (124). In a study of surveillance data in Scotland, Miller et al. found that older age groups had lower incidence of disease and were less likely to be infected by common serotypes (126). This supports the hypothesis that exposure over time leads to increased immunity. Currently, efforts are being made to document how animal subgroups (le. farmers and animal workers versus others) (124). The goals are to characterize antibody titers of high exposure groups to help clarify how the immune system response correlates to the risk of disease.

### 8.2 Immune compromise

People with genetic or acquired defects in humoral or cell-mediated immunity are at higher risk for developing campylobacteriosis (79). More severe clinical manifestations of the disease are associated with immune deficiency disorders such as AIDS, hypogammaglobulinemia and agammaglobulinemia (73, 79). In AIDS patients, incidence rates of infection are up to 40 times that of immune competent individuals (69, 79). Individuals with chronic intestinal illness (Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD), celiac

disease), rheumatism and asthma are also at higher risk for *Campylobacter* infection (127). It is important to note that individuals who suffer from these conditions have increased susceptibility to a host of other pathogens and it often remains unclear which disease process occurred first.

Higher infection rates have also been associated with immune compromise resulting from increased use of antibiotics and from use of antacids (128). Antacids decrease the ability of the stomach, a first line of defense, to kill bacteria. Many drugs alter normal host defense mechanisms, and *Campylobacter* infections associated with prior antibiotic use may be a result of selective advantage (129). In essence, drug resistant *Campylobacter* outcompete normal flora, leading to colonization and clinical disease. The immunological effect of drugs such as antacids and antibiotics on disease acquisition is currently a hot topic of research.

## 8.3 Vaccination in humans and animals

Due to the strain specific nature of immunity and complexity of antigens, an effective human vaccine has not yet been developed (79, 121, 130). However, promising vaccine formulations are currently being tested, specifically through military avenues such as the Navy Medical Research Institute in Bethesda, Maryland (121). Vaccine development in humans is supported by clinical trials that demonstrate acquired immunity and resistance to colonization following initial infection (130). In contrast, safety issues such as incomplete knowledge of *Campylobacter* pathogenesis and the complication of Guillaine Barre-syndrome continue to hamper vaccine efforts (130).

*Campylobacter* rarely causes clinical disease in domestic animals, yet vaccination of animal species has been considered as an indirect means of human disease prevention by decreasing the bacterial reservoirs (131). The theory for reducing shedding in nonclinical animals is based on the assumption that vaccines may confer a nonspecific boost to the immune system that results in overall reduction in pathogen load (131). Poultry are the largest known sources of infection and are the primary animal species in which vaccination might have a positive impact on public health. Some researchers hypothesize that vaccination would be the most effective strategy for prevention and control of human disease caused by poultry (56). Promising strategies, such as CmeC subunit vaccines for subcutaneous injection in chickens are currently under investigation (132). However, as is the case with humans, the genetic variability and instability of campylobacters hinder the formulation of an effective and economical vaccine in poultry (133). To date, cost effective vaccines are not available and have not yet been universally approved or implemented in animals.

### 9.0 Diagnosis, isolation and identification

Campylobacters can be identified in fresh stool samples, particularly during the acute stage of illness. Gram stain analysis, the most common method, is sensitive (66-94%) and specific (>95%) (134). Other identification methods include phase contrast and dark field microscopy. Following primary isolation, colonies should test oxidase positive and be visually identified by their grey coloration and irregular, flat appearance (134). Commercial culture systems are also available to isolate *Campylobacter* species from blood samples, but this detection method is much less commonly performed.

Selective culture media and passive filtration methods have been developed over the past thirty years as a means of transporting and isolating *Campylobacter* (135). Clinical samples are grown and isolated using selective antibiotics whereas environmental samples often require pre-enrichment procedures to increase bacterial numbers (48). Thermophilic species are usually incubated at 42° C, and isolation of a broader range of species can be achieved at 37° C (135). Ideal atmospheric conditions include 5% oxygen, 10% carbon dioxide and 85% nitrogen (134). Ninety seven percent of fecal samples from acute infections can produce positive isolates within 48 hours of incubation on appropriate culture medium, under microaerophilic conditions, thereby providing a turn-around time for identification of 2-4 days (135, 136).

Preparation of campylobacters prior to molecular typing is an important component of successful identification and typically requires culturing in enriched broth or agar. Commonly used Preston broth enrichment procedures eliminate the need for plating to identify the bacteria, and result in rapid detection (3-4 days). A study by Denis et al. found no significant difference in PCR identification methods for *Campylobacter* species extracted after 24 hours in Preston broth when compared with colony collection after 72 hours on agar plates (62). Other selective media are routinely used for isolation of clinically important campylobacters. Most are commercially available, charcoal based, blood-free or blood-containing, and include antibiotics to inhibit unwanted intestinal flora (134).

### **10.0 Treatment and Prognosis**

Human campylobacteriosis is typically self limiting; the vast majority of individuals clear the infection without chemotherapy (48, 79). Oral replacement of fluids and electrolytes are the primary treatment and antibiotic therapy in the early stages of infection has been shown to shorten the duration of illness (69). Patients do not typically seek medical attention until they have had clinical signs for 4-6 days, at which point the illness is often improving (69). Up to 20% of patients experience mild relapse several days after remission of signs and immune compromised patients may be permanently unable to clear the organism (48). The drug of choice for treatment includes a 5-7 day course of erythromycin (111). Emerging resistance to macrolides has prompted the use of fluoroquinolones such as Ciprofloxacin, tetracyclines and chloramphenicol as alternative antibiotics (73). Antimicrobial treatment, in general, is only indicated in severe, recurrent or systemic cases or in immunosuppressed individuals (79, 111).

#### **11.0 Complications**

### 11.1 Guillain Barre-syndrome (GBS)

Guillain Barre-syndrome (GBS) is characterized by an acute peripheral neuropathy, histologically similar to autoimmune neuritis (137). While two thirds of GBS patients have had some form of infection within the previous six weeks, approximately 25% of patients were infected with *Campylobacter jejuni*, the most frequently identified pathogen (137-139). *Campylobacter* related GBS is labeled as a disease of true "molecular mimicry" with host immune response implicated as the underlying cause (48, 79, 139). *Campylobacter* patients typically have the axonal form of GBS which has been linked to antibody production resulting from cross reactivity to ganglioside structures within the lipo-oligopolysacharide of the bacterial cell wall (137, 139, 140). The antibody response ultimately leads to nerve damage in the host. Genetic strain differences and host factors are thought to contribute to the auto immune response, yet exact mechanisms that elicit complications following *Campylobacter* enteritis remain unknown (140).

Guillain Barre-syndrome cases are usually sporadic. The disease is 1.5 times more likely in males, and has an overall estimated incidence between 0.6-4.0 cases per 100,000 annually (137, 139). Mortality rates in industrialized countries range between 2 and 3% (79) with 11 to 76 annual deaths estimated in the United States (141). Worldwide, between 4-15% of GBS patients die and 20% suffer lifelong disabilities (139). *Campylobacter* patients are likely to have a more severe form of the disease and a delayed recovery than GBS acquired for other reasons (137).

The likelihood of developing GBS after infection with *Campylobacter* was recently explored using a cohort of over 29,000 laboratory confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis from Swedish surveillance data (138). The study found GBS at a rate of 30.4 per 100,000 (95% CI: 13.9; 57.8), one hundred times higher than the expected rate in the population as a whole. The study noted that no cases were found in children, whereas people over the age of 59 had the highest rates (248 cases per 100,000 persons). Other studies of patients with campylobacteriosis in developed nations cite less than 1 case in 1,000 and less than 2 in 10,000 will develop GBS (139,

140, 142). The total annual estimated cost for patients with GBS resulting from campylobacteriosis is between 57.5 and 420.5 million USD (141).

## 11.2 Miller-Fisher's Syndrome (MFS)

Miller-Fisher's syndrome (MFS), also associated with *C. jejuni* infection, is a form of GBS that includes facial and lower cranial nerve involvement and manifests from cross reactivity between epitopes on axons or Schwann cells and *C. jejuni* lipooligosacharides (137). In approximately 20% of MFS cases *Campylobacter* infections are diagnosed three weeks prior to the onset of disease (140). The discriminatory reason for *Campylobacter* infection to manifest as either GBS or MFS is unknown.

## 11.3 Other important potential sequelae

Other secondary manifestations of *Campylobacter* infection include Reactive Arthritis (RA) and Reiter's syndrome (a disease which causes inflammation of the urethra or conjunctiva) (79). Reactive arthritis is characterized by acute and/or chronic, sterile joint inflammation and musculoskeletal symptoms (143). It is hypothesized that host HLA-B27 interacts with persistent campylobacters, resulting in clinical disease four weeks following intestinal infection (79, 143). Reactive arthritis is rare in children, affects males and females equally and is most prevalent in young adults (143). Duration of symptoms is approximately 6 months yet, over half of affected patients report symptoms for greater than one year and long term prognosis remains a mystery (143).

Incidence of RA is between 1-5% of confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis, with an annual risk of 4.3 per 100,000 persons in developed countries (143). A Swedish study found the risk of RA within one year of *Campylobacter* infection to be higher (RR 6.3, 95% CI 3.5-10.4) than the baseline risk in the general population (142). A casecontrol study involving 457 cases and 687 controls found that in women, use of gastric proton pump inhibitors was independently associated with reactive arthritis, which occurred in 5% of cases and 2% of controls (127). None of the participants in the study reported Guillain-Barre, Miller-Fisher or Reiter's syndrome. Whether or not host susceptibility is a factor in chronic sequelae remains unknown and chronic disease or relapse occurs in 5% of *Campylobacter* reactive arthritis patients (127).

Campylobacteriosis has also been associated with Crohn's disease, inflammatory bowel disease and hemolytic-uremic syndrome (79). A Swedish registrybased study identified an elevated risk in *Campylobacter* patients (RR 2.8, 95% CI 2.0-3.8) for ulcerative colitis within one year of infection (142). The same study demonstrated a 0.02% risk for bacteremia in all campylobacteriosis cases (142). A potential link between *Campylobacter* enteritis and the development of myocarditis and pericardits has been proposed in multiple case reports but has yet to be substantiated (144). Infrequent instances of renal and urinary complications, peritonitis and splenic rupture have also been reported (73). Although campylobacters are rarely isolated outside the gastrointestinal tract, blood or oral cavity, the bacteria have been detected in brain, vertebral and intraorbital abscesses (145). The origin and mechanism of these infections are unknown.

## 12.0 Antimicrobial resistance

Resistance to macrolides and fluorquinolones (FQ), the antimicrobial treatments of choice for patients with campylobacteriosis, has been on the rise in both humans and

animals since the 1990's (146). The rise has sparked global research interest in the epidemiology, and potential health consequences of this problem (111, 147). Patients with FQ or erythromycin resistant strains of *Campylobacter* have higher hospitalization rates, longer duration of illness and more severe diarrhea (111, 147). Overall, treatment of human campylobacteriosis with commonly used antibiotics has become less effective due to the high prevalence of resistant strains (148).

In many countries, a clear connection has been identified between resistant human strains and the use of antibiotics in animal production (149). The licensed use of FQ in veterinary medicine and the poultry industry is implicated as a major contributor to increased resistance patterns (49, 111). Prudent use of antibiotics within the human and animal medical and production industries is needed in order to curtail the selective pressure that leads to the development of resistant campylobacters. Investigation into the transmission mechanisms for antibiotic resistant genes is also warranted to further our understanding of the temporal and spatial resistance dynamics (150).

### 12.1 Mechanisms of Resistance

The mechanisms by which campylobacters acquire antibiotic (AB) resistance stem from selective pressures that cause the bacteria to evolve and mutate in response to environmental insults. Such pressures initiate genetic mutations, while plasmids, bacteriophages and transposons allow for intercellular mobility of activated resistance genes (49). Fluoroquinolone resistance mechanisms are mediated by spontaneous point mutations, while target modification and active efflux mechanisms are activated in macrolides (148). Tetracycline resistance is conferred by conformational changes that

cause cell binding sites to release the tetracycline molecule (148). Multidrug efflux pumps play an important role in the physiology of antibiotic resistance and current investigations may help to elucidate control strategies at the cellular level (151).

#### 12.2 Prevalence in humans

In Europe in the late 1980's, human *Campylobacter* infections were first noted to be resistant to FQ. Between 1989 and 2009, England and Wales had an increase in *Campylobacter* isolates that were resistant to ampicillin, ciprofloxicin, tetracycline and erythromycin(128). Studies in the U.S. showed a rise in FQ resistance from 13% to 19% between 1997 and 2001 while erythromycin resistance stayed stable at 2% (146). A French study showed resistance to nalidixic acid (26.3%) and reported that resistance to tetracycline, ampicillin and erythromycin was prevalent but occurred at lower levels in 2004 (152). In Austria, approximately 40% of human isolates were resistant to ciprofloxacin, paralleling a rise in resistance in poultry from 38.4% to 57.7% between 2004 and 2007 (153). Despite the high prevalence of *Campylobacter* infection in Australia and New Zealand, little information exists with regard to antibiotic sensitivity in these countries.

#### 12.3 Prevalence in animals

Antibiotic use for growth promotion of food animals, in conjunction with the increase of intensive farming systems has lead to the development of highly resistant bacterial strains, worldwide (152). In the United States, it is estimated that 1-2% of broiler chickens slaughtered annually have received fluoroquinolones (146). A temporal study of beef cattle administered chlortetracycline and oxytetracycline in feed in Alberta

Canada showed significant increases in prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in *C. coli*, *C. fetus* and *C. jejuni* to tetracycline and doxycycline over the six month study period (150). In New Zealand, erythromycin resistant, offal, or organ meats in pigs showed campylobacters were associated with the preventive use of Tylosin (147). In Denmark, a Tylosin ban resulted in decreased macrolide resistance in *C. coli* from pigs (66.5% to 20% between 1998 and 2005) (154). A 2007 study showed that the economic effects on the poultry and pig industries were minimal with the discontinuation of growth promoters in European countries (154).

A study by Englen et al. characterized resistance patterns in dairy cattle that purported to represent 85.5% of the U.S. dairy population, (96 operations in 21 states) (155). The results showed that 94 out of 96 farms had at least one positive fecal sample that included an antibiotic resistant strain of *Campylobacter spp*. In Australia, 31% of *C. jejuni* and 22% of *C. coli* isolates from poultry were resistant to erythromycin. The difference in resistance rates were associated with antibiotic practices between farms (147). A UK study showed that *Campylobacter* isolates from all raw red meats exhibited resistance to antibiotics, including quinolones (156). The same study found multidrug resistant *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* in samples of beef (16.2%, 0%), lamb (6.3%, 19.2%), and pork (22.2%, 21.9%), respectively. In 1999, 10% of retail chicken meat in the U.S. was found to be contaminated with FQ resistant campylobacters (146).

Research is currently needed to quantify the effect of withdrawing antimicrobial drugs from the food animal production system (148). Campylobacters are zoonotic, and while most human infections are self-limiting, treatment of the disease in young, old and

immune suppressed patients may be compromised with the acquisition of AB resistant strains from animals and animal food products. The increasing prevalence of antibiotic resistance strains of campylobacters may warrant international control programs to limit the use of antibiotics in animal husbandry systems, specifically as growth promoters in the poultry industry (111).

## **13.0 Genetic Characteristics and Molecular Identification Methods**

The genome sequence for *C. jejuni* has now been completely characterized, an advancement that may pave the way to novel prevention and control strategies in the future (121). However, the *Campylobacter* genome is characteristically unstable and undergoes frequent recombination and rearrangement (59, 157). Four major hurdles hamper the identification of *Campylobacter* sources and routes of transmission. These include the (i) lack of a clear cut discriminatory method, (ii) lack of a universal molecular typing standard, (iii) plasticity of the genome, and (iv) sporadic disease distribution. According to a Finnish research group, "Discriminatory typing methods for use in the study of molecular epidemiology and population genetics of *Campylobacter* isolates are crucial to better understand the epidemiology and ecology of the organism."(158)

The sporadic spatial and temporal distribution of this disease present a challenge for molecualr investigation of transmission routes (159). Communication and collaboration among researchers, along with standardization of molecular methods on an international level, would be of great benefit in understanding the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis (48, 136).

## 13.1 Phenotypic vs. genotypic typing methods

Campylobacters can be identified, with varying reliability, by a variety of techniques based on genetic and biochemical properties of the organism (48). There are two major groups of typing methods used to distinguish campylobacters–phenotypic and genotypic. Phenotypic methods are generally less discriminatory and include serotyping, biotyping, phage typing, protein electrophoresis and fatty acid profiling (59, 159). Biotyping is the least discriminatory method overall (59). Although less discriminatory, these techniques are useful due to *Campylobacter's* capacity for recombination and weak clonal structure. Serotyping (Heat stable Penner scheme and heat labile Lior scheme) is the most commonly used phenotypic method. Penner serotyping is useful in coarse comparisons for large numbers of isolates where the source distribution is of primary interest (59, 157). These techniques require technical expertise, are time consuming and encounter a high number of untypeable strains, thus limiting their widespread use (160).

Genetic content of the organism can be examined directly for changes via genotypic methods such as pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), all of which can cover the entire genome. Pulsed field gel electrophoresis is the most discriminatory whereas riboprinting has medium discriminatory power but is definitive in its ability to make direct comparisons of profiles (59, 161). To identify specific loci, multi locus sequence typing (MLST) techniques are currently being tested (159). Genotyping methods have the major advantage of being available worldwide (160).

#### **13.2 Combined method strategies**

A variety of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) detection combinations can identify thermophilic campylobacters at the species level (48). Amplified fragment length polymorphism is based on PCR and electrophoresis and is rapid, highly discriminatory and universally applicable (162). Pulsed field gel electrophoresis and riboprinting combined enable accurate determination of polymorphisms in the entire genome (59). Another method of verifying similarity between isolates is through the combined use of Penner serotyping and PFGE (157, 163-165). Furthermore, Penner and *fla*-RFLP were found to be useful in identifying waterborne outbreak strains as isolates could first be grouped into large clusters that could then be genetically matched using PFGE (157). A disadvantage with *fla* techniques is that they lack technical standardization between laboratories, despite high reliability within laboratories (160).

#### **13.3 Problems and solutions**

The genetic plasticity of *Campyobacter* species continues to hinder efforts to accurately link strains with disease (70). High antigenic diversity, including over fifty antigenic serotypes have been identified in *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* isolates (77). *Campylobacter jejuni* has a high rate of recombination and subsequently, a highly variable phylogenetic tree. As a result, identifiable gene frequencies among common source isolates differ significantly (136, 166). In Switzerland, authors were unable to identify a dominant clone among different sources within the country (167). In the UK, human disease strains characterized and confirmed by Penner serotyping, Preston phage typing and biotyping were found to be phenotypically diverse (136). In addition,

information on long term patterns have not yet been accrued for PFGE (168). The utility of epidemiological and molecular data as a means of confirming sources of infection have not been incontrovertibly successful (169), and while modern typing methods have the potential to fill in these gaps, much work in this area is still needed (166).

Recently, standardized protocols have been put into use by PulseNet, a U.S. surveillance system for foodborne pathogens (134). The hope is that improved availability of rapid, standardized techniques will unify the genotyping process. Standardization and harmonization of typing methods has also been initiated among European laboratories (CAMPYNET) for the purpose of creating comparable typing results over time (59). This is important because a singular genotyping method cannot reliably and consistently distinguish between two *Campylobacter* (67, 167). Proper matching and strain characterizations of molecular epidemiological data would provide a more comprehensive picture of the disease dynamics (58).

# 14.0 Epidemiology of Campylobacteriosis

#### 14.1.0 Incidence and prevalence

## 14.1.1 United States and developed nations

The general category of enteric diseases are estimated to cause 1.7-2.5 million deaths worldwide per year with 400 million cases attributable to *Campyobacter* (121). Campylobacteriosis is a leading cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States and many other developed countries (4, 47, 49, 50, 99, 170). The epidemiology of this organism is complex and remains poorly defined, in part because it is ubiquitous in the environment and distributed throughout the food chain (4, 59, 94, 170). Differences in

surveillance systems, reported incidence rates and primary risk factors for campylobacteriosis vary between countries (79). Difficulties in assessing the disease burden may also be a function of underreporting and surveillance methods implemented in individual countries (170).

The annual estimate of *Campylobacter* cases in the U.S. is 2.4 million (approximately 1% of the population) (171), and despite active surveillance systems such as the Foodborne Disease Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) implemented in 1996, the majority of *Campylobacter* infections go undiagnosed (1, 171). In the U.S., reported incidence of infection was 23.5/100,000 population in 1996, and decreased by 27% from 1996 to 2001(51). The risk of infection fell further to 12.7 (5,712 cases total) in 2006 (172) and stabilized at approximately 13/100,000 in 2007 (173, 174). In 1997, the highest annual incidence of *C. jejuni* infection to date was reported at 69 per 100,000 in the state of Hawaii (129). The exact reason for the overall decline in cases observed since 1996 remains unclear, however, underreporting is thought to be a factor. The decline is also hypothesized to be related to improved disinfection and slaughter procedures within the poultry industry (3).

In 1999, 55,000 cases were reported in the UK but the true case counts were estimated at over 400,000 (4, 58) accounting for 27% of all food-borne disease in that region (47). Surveillance data show that infectious gastrointestinal diseases affect one in five people annually in England and Wales (169, 175). Approximately 90% of reported *Campylobacter* cases are due to *C. jejuni* (176), and only 1.7 of every 1,000 cases are confirmed by laboratory diagnosis (169). Over 23 years of surveillance,

(ending in 2011) showed an overall increase in campylobacteriosis in these two countries, with a prevalence in 2009 of 105 per 100,000 (128).

*Campylobacter* is the most frequent cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in Denmark as well, with a fourfold rise in incidence between 1991 and 2001(11, 177). It is estimated that 1% of the population in Western Europe is infected annually (47, 178) with risks for European countries ranging from 60-90/100,000 (89). In 2005, 6,200 laboratory-confirmed cases of *Campylobacter* were reported in the Netherlands, an incidence rate of 1.5-3.7 per 1,000 person years (127, 179).

In New Zealand, *Campylobacter* is the most common notifiable disease (49) with 334 cases per 100,000 reported in 2002 (98). The incidence increased to approximately 400/100,000 in 2006 and comprised 73% of the country's annual economic cost of infectious intestinal disease (180). Experts from the World Health Organization agree that the increased incidence cannot be explained by changes in reporting or medical and laboratory practices (170). In 2006 a concurrent rise in incidence of *Campylobacter* infection and hospitalization rates was seen in New Zealand, suggesting a 'real' as opposed to surveillance related increase (36). For example, the number of hospitalized cases between 1996 and 2003 tripled for campylobacteriosis whereas increases were not reported in other enteric diseases such as *Salmonella* (36).

In Canada, there were 30.2 cases per 100,000 people in 2004 (50). A recent study using statistical models in the province of Ontario estimated that for each reported case of gastroenteritis there are several hundred cases that go unreported (181). A second study estimated that there were 23-49 cases of campylobacteriosis for every

reported, laboratory-confirmed case annually (182). In Japan, a steady rise in campylobacteriosis risk throughout the 1980's and 1990's is attributed to the implementation of improved surveillance (183) and in Australia, incidence of campylobacteriosis is calculated to be12 times that of the U.S.(184). These studies highlight the effect of underreporting on the estimated incidence of human campylobacteriosis.

## 14.1.2 Developing nations

The lack of public health infrastructure and national surveillance greatly hinders epidemiologic information in underdeveloped nations. Studies suggest that the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis differs between developed and developing nations (63, 185, 186). *Campylobacter* is hyperendemic in developing countries, in part due to poor sanitation, inadequately treated drinking water and close human-animal contact (53, 170). In nations such as Zimbabwe, Egypt, China, Nigeria, and the Central African Republics, exposure to fowl and other free-living animals around the home has been linked to disease (187). Contaminated meat products, human and animal fecal contamination of the environment and drinking water sources are other reported risk factors for infection (187).

Consumption of undercooked chicken and contaminated milk are important risk factors in industrialized and underdeveloped nations, (63). However, the disease patterns are thought to differ due to ethnicity, climate and populations dynamics combined with host and strain factors (63). Isolation rates for adults with diarrhea in developing nations ranged from 5-20% (90 per 100,000 people) (123, 187). Over 50%

of infected adults with *Campylobacter* enteritis report bloody diarrhea (1) whereas children under 5 years old exhibit milder clinical signs and are infected much more frequently (40-60,000 per 100,000) (53, 123).

In Latin America and Africa, *Campylobacter* is the most frequently isolated pathogen from stool samples in children under two years of age with diarrhea (63, 187, 188). Isolation rates in children under five years old range from 7.7-18% in Africa, to 10.5-13.8% in Latin America and 10-17.6% in Southeast Asia and China (187). In some developing countries clinical disease is commonly reported in two year olds and rarely seen in adults (69, 189, 190). In addition, *Campylobacter* is frequently recovered from stool samples of children in developing nations without clinical signs of disease (4-40% isolation rates found in various studies) (63, 77, 187).

The disparity between prevalance and clinical manifestation in children versus adults is due to immune status, animal exposure, poor sanitation and hygiene (123). In children from developing countries, serum antibodies to *Campylobacter* develop early in life and become protective (63, 69, 123). Transmission from natural sources (animal and water reservoirs) is implicated in early exposure, and repeated exposure is thought to confer a high level of immunity (68, 122).

Patients in developing nations are frequently coinfected with other enteric pathogens such as *Giardia lamblia* or rotavirus (187). Also, complications such as Guillaine-Barre syndrome (GBS) are rarely reported, despite high incidence rates (63). Linking bacterial gastroenteritis with complications requires adequate health care and follow-up and may go unreported in developing countries. The precise reasons for

disparities in reported *Campylobacter* incidence and prevalence between developed and developing nations require further research and documentation.

### 14.2 Burden of Disease

Despite the increase in incidence in *Campylobacter* infections over the past twenty years, inadequacy of surveillance systems for human, animal and foodborne sources, and variability in results of epidemiological studies hinder accurate estimation of the burden of disease (170, 179). Burden of disease is a summary measure of health effects, such as morbidity, mortality or calculable economic losses, that offer insight into the impact of disease on a population (191). Disease burden estimates help public health and policy makers compare health effects between different diseases, make risk management decisions and create guidelines for prevention.

In the United States, approximately 76 million cases of food-borne illness occur annually (192). Seventeen percent of all foodborne disease hospitalizations in the U.S. are due to *Campylobacter* (157) and worldwide hospitalization rates are the third highest, exceeding rotavirus and *Salmonella* infections (111). When underreporting factors were applied to U.S. data, annual incidence ranged from 300-470/100,000 people and between 7.6 and 18 people are thought to be infected for every reported case (191). Up to 8 billion dollars are spent in the U.S. annually due to campylobacteriosis when productivity and extraintestinal complications such as GBS are factored into analyses (141).

Mortality rates for *Campylobacter* at 30 days post infection are estimated, worldwide, at 4 in 1000 persons (170, 193). In Denmark between 1991 and 1999,

campylobacteriosis patients had a 1.9 times excess mortality (than the unexposed population) two years post infection (193). Deaths were associated with diseases of chronicity and immune compromise such as HIV. Ternhag et al. found standardized mortality ratio for domestically acquired cases in Sweden to be 2.9 (95% CI: 1.9-4.0) within the first month after infection as compared to 0.3 (95% CI: 0.04-0.8) for those infected abroad (194).

In Canada, *Campylobacter* accounts for over 50% of water and foodborne diarrhea cases combined (143). It is also the second highest reported cause of traveler's diarrhea worldwide, second only to enterotoxic *E. coli* (ETEC) (121). An annual estimated cost of 225 million U.S. dollars was attributed to campylobacteriosis in the UK in 1999 (71), the highest cost associated with a single pathogen (111). In a UK study performed in 2003, close to 3,500 cases resulted in the accrual of over 37,000 sick days and 1,400 hospitalized days (10% of cases were admitted to the hospital) (195). A study in the Netherlands equated the health burden of *Campylobacter* with diseases such as meningitis, sepsis, upper respiratory infections, ulcers and Down Syndrome (38).

In Australia, foodborne diseases, affect 5.4 million people annually, and are responsible for 15,000 hospitalizations and 80 deaths (196). Surveillance data, simulation and multiplier techniques used to quantify campylobacteriosis incidence in Australia showed that 90% of cases go unreported, with an annual estimated incidence of 1,184 per 100,000 persons (95% CI: 756-2670) (197).

The burden attributable to species other than *C. jejuni* remains unknown, and the financial and health-related effects of antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter* species has yet to be fully quantified (170). In developing nations, and many countries around the globe, the disease burden also is unknown, resulting in an enormous economic strain on both government and industry. A priority for decreasing this burden must include a combination of targeted surveillance and improved public education. The World Health Organization is currently developing a Foodborne Disease Burden Epidemiology Reference Group to unite disciplines on a global level, and shed light on the burden of disease for campylobacteriosis and other gastrointestinal illnesses (191).

#### 14.3 Sporadic versus common source infections

The majority of reported campylobacteriosis cases are classified as sporadic (isolated, scattered or occasional pattern of occurrence) and outbreaks arising from a single, definable source are infrequent (4, 50, 51, 159, 161, 169, 180). In 2005, approximately 250 of the almost 14,000 cases of campylobacteriosis in New Zealand were associated with outbreaks (180). In England and Wales *Campylobacter* comprised only 2% of reported outbreaks due to infectious intestinal disease between1992 and 1999 (195) and only 81 outbreaks were reported between 1989 and 1999 (58). Annually, there are rarely more than ten recorded outbreaks of campylobacteriosis in England and Wales (169). Large outbreaks, although very rare, are almost always associated with untreated water or milk (76, 190, 198). This is true in Finland, where 9 of 21 total waterborne outbreaks between 1998 and 2000 were caused by campylobacters (163).

Common source outbreaks arising from either direct contact or shared exposure within households has been shown to occur. In June 1996 and May 1998, 34% of documented cases in Japan were outbreak related (183). In England and Wales, surveillance data showed higher than expected reported cases of concurrent disease in either the home or community in 2003 (195). The study found that 506 (17%) of 3070 patients with *C. jejuni* reported other household members simultaneously had similar signs of illness, and 41 (8%) of these reported a sick individual in the household greater than one week from the confirmed case (195). Ten percent of cases reported knowing an individual outside of the household with similar symptoms. An Australian casecontrol study also linked exposure to household members with diarrheal disease as a risk factor [OR 3.5 (95% CI: 1.6-8.0)], supporting the hypothesis that point source outbreaks, though difficult to confirm, might be more common than previously suspected (110). Furthermore, some researchers believe that the increasing mobility of foods and populations may mask outbreak detection and lead to an overestimation of sporadic incidence (175).

Molecular studies in the UK and Denmark indicate that indistinguishable strains can be found in poultry, dogs, pigs, sheep, and cattle, supporting the theory that sporadic human infections may arise from multiple sources (159). Coinfection with more than one species has been documented in 5-10% of sporadic cases and up to 50% of outbreak related cases in the UK (124). Difficulty in recognizing outbreaks may result from the complex interactions between disease determinants that hinder our ability to properly identify risk factors (195).

## 14.3.1 Poultry

Exposure to contaminated poultry might occur sporadically, as point source due to work or group-related activities or individually in a home. The twenty to forty percent of campylobacteriosis cases associated with chicken consumption in the UK are considered sporadic (71). In 2008, 97% of sporadic disease was attributable to cattle and chicken after molecular sequencing and source identification in England (166). A case-control study performed in Hawaii showed that eating chicken prepared 'outside the home' and eating chicken from restaurants were separate risk factors for infection (129). The study showed that chicken prepared at home was inversely associated with disease.

Campylobacteriosis outbreaks due to chicken/poultry are hypothesized to be infrequent, as the pathogen is unable to multiply on food (199). This biological constraint differentiates *Campylobacter* from other food-borne pathogens (*Salmonella, E.coli*) known to cause outbreaks. Furthermore, common source contamination is likely to be masked by modern methods of food distribution (180). The time between exposure, clinical signs and identifying an outbreak is crucial to case follow-up, linking disease to source and confirming the strain (58, 200). As a result, source identification is challenging and *Campylobacter* outbreaks that occur in food establishments that serve or prepare chicken may remain unidentified (195).

## 14.3.2 Outbreak detection-successes and challenges

Large social gatherings such as parties and buffets have tight temporal and spatial continuity and can be effectively investigated using current epidemiological

methods. In recent years, improved surveillance and investigation standards have enhanced outbreak detection success. During a three week long outbreak in 2006, the combined use of Penner typing and MLST helped epidemiologists identify multiple infection strains and coinfection in three infected individuals among 48 people (201). The outbreak was associated with improperly cooked chicken liver pate and the exposure occurred in December when the restaurant hosted eleven Christmas parties that contained the contaminated dish. In another success story in Sweden, investigators used web-based questionnaires to link ten cases of diarrheal illness (only four stool samples positive for *Campylobacter*) to marinated chicken served at an anniversary buffet hosting 100 people in October 2007 (198). In Scotland, chicken liver pate was identified in November 2005, an outbreak that affected 68 of 165 people attending a dance (202).

In typical restaurant situations, individuals at risk for consumption of a contaminated food item are virtually undetectable–linking the individual to the pathogen equates to finding a 'needle in a haystack'. Point source campylobacteriosis arising from restaurant patronage may remain hidden due to the lengthy incubation period prior to clinical disease, low likelihood of reporting, wide range of disease severity and geographic diversity within the patron population. Mild cases of *Campylobacter* diarrhea emerging 5-7 days after consumption of contaminated restaurant food in healthy adults from diverse neighborhoods are unlikely to be traced. The long interval between illness and follow-up may also introduce significant recall bias and decrease the likelihood of

correct source identification (200). Shortening the reporting time by improving surveillance and laboratory confirmation may improve efforts in early identification.

### 14.3.3 Molecular evidence for sporadic and outbreak cases

Common source infections may occur more frequently than current research and statistics show, and molecular typing is the best and most current tool for strain detection. McTavish et al. identified 32 of 112 serotyped isolates of *Campylobacter* that had spatial patterns consistent with a common source of contamination in New Zealand (180). Molecular typing can help identify *Campylobacter* strains in temporal and spatial clusters suggestive of outbreaks (180). Investigating cases that are spread out over time and space is costly and logistically difficult. In well-defined outbreak situations, microbiological information is readily obtained and verified; the geographic and chronologic limitations generally make confirmation by typing feasible (159). In the case of *Campylobacter* infection, identifying common source contamination is more difficult, especially when prolonged common source infections occur over a wide geographic region (136).

The diversity of *Campylobacter* subtypes among human cases and reservoir sources is daunting (136, 161). Host specificity between *Campylobacter* strains and sources is poorly understood (124), and molecular typing performed during confirmed outbreaks often identifies multiple vehicles as sources of infection (159). During waterborne outbreaks, the timeline between sampling of water sources and matching them to human cases may be too long to reliably verify the source of infection (58, 163). Over time, the strains responsible for disease may be eliminated by the host or disperse

in the environment and be replaced by other environmental strains, thereby masking the original source and hindering our understanding of the disease epidemiology.

Part of the difficulty in confirming sources of *Campylobacter* infection may be due to the public health sector's reliance on survey information. Retrospective questionnaires targeting laboratory-confirmed cases are a primary method for linking risk factors with temporal and geographical information and molecular typing. Recall bias is a frequent confounding factor that is worsened by the lengthy incubation period. Studies have also found that genotypes may vary in different geographic regions, making source identification problematic (158). The reason for this variation remains unclear. Despite statistically significant identification of temporal and spatial clustering, retrospective source verification efforts encounter the challenge of obtaining reliable typing information over long time periods and distances (195).

## 14.4 An overview of campylobacteriosis risk factors

Defining risk factors is a crucial step in planning and implementing disease prevention strategies. Definitive risk factors remain unexplained for the vast majority of *Campylobacter* cases. Risk factors can be broken down into three basic categories: pathogen specific, host specific, and environmental risk factors. Pathogen specific factors are not well understood and therefore play an unclear role in *Campylobacter* epidemiology. The most important host specific risk factors include immune compromised individuals, such as the very young, the elderly and those with preexisting illnesses. Individuals with immune related diseases such as HIV, chronic intestinal diseases, asthma and rheumatism are at higher risk for disease than the general

population. It remains unknown if these diseases occur more frequently prior to or as a consequence of *Campylobacter* infection (127). In recent years, exposure to medications such as antibiotics and antacids have been implicated as risk factors (127, 129). These exposures weaken the host defense system prior to infection by either altering normal gut flora or diminishing the natural acid barrier in the stomach.

Environment-related risk factors are, by far, the most extensively researched for campylobacteriosis. The most commonly reported risk factors for infection, across studies in the United States and abroad, include consumption or contact with contaminated poultry, raw milk and inadequately treated drinking water and contact with farm animals and pets (51, 106, 125, 170, 177, 190). Poultry consumption causes an estimated 10-40% of cases of infection (171). Other important factors include foreign travel and consumption of undercooked poultry and red meat (161), eating at restaurants and poor kitchen hygiene (199) and consumption of raw fish and shellfish (190). An early study of sporadic, laboratory-confirmed cases in Colorado identified consumption of untreated water [(OR 3.33 (95% CI 1.03,12.29)], raw milk [(OR 3.30 (95% CI 1.04,10.45)], undercooked chicken [OR 2.77 (95% CI 1.01,12.7)], and cat ownership [(OR 3.05 (95% CI 1.33,7.0)] as primary risk factors (203). In a UK cohort study of sporadic cases by Evans et al. in 2003 significant risk factors for infection included eating chicken [OR 1.73 (95% CI 1.09,2.73)], salad vegetables [OR 1.6 (95% CI 1.03,2.50)], bottled water [OR 1.39 (95% CI 0.98,1.96)] and contact with cows or calves [OR 5.44 (95% CI 1.05,28.10)](72). Direct contact as a mode of *Campylobacter* transmission is thought to be rare, however, contact with a person who had diarrhea

prior to onset of disease was an independent risk factor (OR, 3.32 [95% CI 1.72-6.4]) in a recent study in France (199). The overall contribution of environmental contamination and nonfood routes of exposure remains unclear (176).

To understand campylobacteriosis epidemiology and pinpoint the sources of disease, several questions must be addressed. First, the correct combination of relevant socioeconomic and environmental contributors to disease must be identified. Secondly, the seasonal component of risk, often linked to human activities, behaviors and contact with environmental sources and reservoirs must be investigated. Third, geographic differences in the relationship between natural and anthropogenic reservoirs of disease must be clearly defined, and require further investigation.

# 14.4.1 The importance of poultry in human Campylobacter infection

Poultry consumption has been associated with up to fifty percent of all cases of campylobacteriosis and therefore will be addressed in detail (76, 190, 193). A case-control study in Australia estimated that annually, over 50,000 cases in those ages five and older could be attributed directly to chicken consumption [OR 4.7 (95% CI:2.6-8.4)] (196). In England and Wales, chicken was implicated in nine of forty-six outbreaks between 1996 and 1999 (169). Of 169 reported outbreaks in Japan between 1993 and 1998, 39 were traced to chicken meat or dishes containing chicken (183). In an ecological study in Michigan, counties with high densities of poultry were associated with higher risk of disease (120). Poultry is thought to be a major source of infection due to the high prevalence of the bacterium in poultry meat (80, 112, 179) and chicken products are considered the most frequently contaminated type of food (179).

## 14.4.2 Prevalence in poultry flocks and contamination of retail meat

Rapid spread of *Campylobacter* in poultry flocks and retail meat contamination is well documented (124, 159, 179, 190). The average prevalence in broiler flocks from Denmark was estimated by a national monitoring program to be 42% (11). In Sweden, *Campylobacter* was isolated outside broiler houses in 42% of farms sampled, with lower incidence in flocks from broiler houses with rigorous hygiene barriers (204). Workman et al. found 94.2% of sampled chickens and 58.4% of chicken food products were contaminated (205). Chicks that tested negative were less than three weeks old, suggesting that intensive broiler farming leads to environmental contamination and subsequently, rapid intestinal colonization after hatching (94, 205, 206). A study using PCR in France detected *Campylobacter* in 79.2% of 24 poultry houses and 17.5% of supermarket chicken samples (62). In New Zealand, *C. jejuni* was found in 76.9% of poultry samples tested (84) and poultry meat samples from Poland and other eastern European countries were found to have 34.7% prevalence of *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* (67).

*Campylobacter* is a commensal organism found in the mucosal crypts of the caeca and small intestine in poultry (56, 70, 207). Arsenault et al. detected 35% *Campylobacter* prevalence in chicken caecal samples and 46% in turkeys (208). Researchers have found the organism in blood as well as in deep tissue of young chicks including the spleen and liver (56). Cross contamination between poultry products at slaughter houses is a widespread occurrence (207) and has been verified by genotyping in two-thirds of *Campylobacter* strains tested (175). Studies using MLST in the Netherlands grouped 70% of human *Campylobacter* strains with a subset lineage

of poultry isolates (179). A Finnish study showed 46% genetic overlap between chicken and human strains, and also found turkey flock colonization to be 3.2 times higher nearby the manure heap and 4.2 times higher in flocks drinking unchlorinated water (209).

Risk factors for flock colonization include poor hygiene and maintenance of facilities, elevated insect burden, inadequate disinfection and inadequate time periods between flock repopulation (206). *Campylobacter* strains persist in the environment between flock rotations (159) and flies have been implicated in the flock contamination as well. In 2004, Hald et al. found that 8.2% of 96 flies captured outside of a broiler house cultured positive for *C. jejuni* and hundreds of flies enter the broiler house through the ventilation system (210). In a follow up study, *Campylobacter* positive flocks had a 52.4% prevalence of infection without screened housing , which was significantly higher than 15.4% with screens (P<0.001) (118). The authors of these studies hypothesize that a proportional reduction in human incidence due to chicken could be expected if the chicken burden at the house level was decreased.

In 1999, dioxin contamination of chicken feed components in Belgium led to a real-life study to document the potential for withdrawing poultry products from the marketplace on the incidence of human (211). Authors modeled the incidence of campylobacteriosis in the Belgian population following a mandatory withdrawal of chicken from the market and found that *Campylobacter* infections attributable to poultry declined by 40%. Mathematical modeling of human campylobacteriosis and prevalence in chickens also showed that infection associated with chicken consumption could be 30
times lower with reduction on the chicken carcass or similar reduction in flock prevalence (109).

# 14.4.3 Evidence against the importance of poultry as a source of human infection

chickens may be colonized with multiple strains of genetically diverse campylobacters making definitive molecular associations between humans and chickens difficult (56). In Scotland, MLST was used to type and quantify campylobacters in retail chickens and human stool samples from 2001 and 2006 (124). Results showed that despite significant regional declines in human campylobacteriosis, carcass pathogen load had not changed. The research also showed higher genetic diversity in the human samples suggesting (i) a possible, yet controversial, difference in pathogenicity between strains and (ii) that the decline in disease rate was not due to pathogen concentration in the chicken (124).

Other research shows that only 10% of human infections are explained by eating or handling poultry (161, 168). In England and Wales, poultry production was not well correlated with human infection over a 23 year study period (128). Poultry consumption in the U.S. is estimated to be four times that of Iceland, yet annual incidence of campylobacteriosis (per 100,000) is consistently higher in Iceland (112). In a study focusing on young Swedish children with campylobacteriosis, no association was found between infection and consumption of chicken (189). It is also unclear if *C. jejuni* strains associated with poultry are the same as those that cause disease in humans (80). In one three year study, annual variation in the incidence of infection could not be explained by chicken contamination levels (168). In Sweden, despite the declining

prevalence of campylobacters in broilers (10% decline following control measures) human infections have risen steadily since 1991(212). A typing study of human and poultry isolates in Poland found diverse PFGE patterns with only 2 of 75 human isolates matching those taken from meat (67). The role of carcass bacterial count in the incidence of infection has yet to be quantified.

Pope et al. tested poultry and human samples using RFLP in Dunedin, New Zealand and found that the *fla*A virulence type recognized in human infections was found in only 5% of poultry isolates (84). Humans were commonly exposed to less virulent chicken *fla*A types yet human infections resulted primarily from the more virulent *fla*A types, suggesting disease sources other than chicken. In a study of virulence factors in 2007, *C. jejuni* isolates from humans were more resistant to bile salts (P=0.006) and had more pronounced production of CDT (P=0.041) than those from poultry (80). The same study showed that none of the PFGE patterns between poultry and humans were identical, the closest clinical clusters reaching only 80% similarity. Despite the dissimilarities, the authors conclude that all poultry isolates should be capable of human infection due to invasiveness and virulence factors. As yet researchers have been unable to consistently quantify the level of disease that is linked directly to poultry.

# 14.4.4 Campylobacter as a food-borne pathogen

The rise in the incidence of *Campylobacter* in developed nations may be due, in part, to changes in dietary habits, an increase in fast food consumption, and large-scale food processing practices (213). An extensive case-control study found that the total

combined foodborne attributable risk for campylobacteriosis in Australia was 31.4% (95% CI: 10.4-46.8%) (196). Over 65% of the population attributable risk could be explained by eating chicken, salad vegetables and bottled water in a retrospective cohort study of sporadic *Campylobacter* cases in the UK (72). *Campylobacters* have been isolated in high numbers in chicken livers therefore, not surprisingly, eating pate has been associated with increased risk of infection (71, 201). *Campylobacter* has been detected in seafood, including oysters, clams, mussels, scallops and blue crab (214). The bacteria is capable of inhabiting marine environments transitorily and contamination may occur by way of water fowl, sewage effluent and farm runoff (214). Outbreaks have also identified foods such as lettuce, lasagna and barbecued chicken as vehicles linked to cross contamination with raw or undercooked poultry (175, 215). Detection rates on vegetables are typically low (less than 3%) and while rare, outbreaks due to vegetable consumption are usually linked to cross contamination during food preparation (214).

Foodborne campylobacteriosis can be caused by simultaneous ingestion of several strains of the bacteria (169, 175). Between 1996 and 1999, more than one strain of *C. jejuni* were implicated in infection in 9 of 46 outbreaks in England and Wales (169). A number of potential food vehicles, along with several possible routes for cross-contamination, were identified in these investigations. In a study by Nielsen et al. in 2005, 1,285 *Campylobacter* isolates were compared using Penner serotyping, during a one year period. The researchres identified overlap between isolates from food sources (66%), chicken (59%) and cattle (83%) (161). The chicken and turkey samples had a

*Campylobacter* prevalence of 38.7% and 27.5% respectively and 35% of retail poultry products were contaminated (161). Upon PFGE confirmation of 212 samples, 44 isolates from human infections were identical to food sources and 28 matched cattle isolates. The occurrence of multiple strains in human infection and identical strains between animals and humans supports the idea that a wide variety of sources serve as contaminants.

# 14.4.4.1 The role of human behavior

Improper food handling and hygiene are estimated to cause 40-60% of all foodborne illness (216). One study identified poor hygiene as an important risk factor (OR, 2.1[95% CI, 1.33-3.37]) for *Campylobacter* in France (199). In a 1988 British survey, less than one third of individuals fully understood the need to handle raw meats separately from other foods (190). Cooking practices such as barbequing meat also account for an increased risk of infection (193). In one outbreak, using a brush to apply sauce to barbequed chicken was implicated as a vehicle for transmission (217). In a Colorado case-control study one third of the cases were considered to be preventable by modification of personal behaviors (203). Observational studies have shown that up to 100% of people do not properly wash their hands and the majority do not properly clean cutlery and cutting boards between use with meat, poultry and ready-to eat foods (216).

In a contrary case-control study (1,316 laboratory-confirmed cases) questionnaire responses showed no association between risk of infection and handling or cooking raw chicken in the home (51). Improvement in cooking practices and hygiene

in the kitchen are thought to be the primary reason for the recent decline in incidence in some regions of the world (124). A majority of risk factors may be preventable through the improvement of personal hygiene (203, 217) and improved education may reduce the reduce the risk of campylobacteriois due to improper food handling and cross contamination (216).

# 14.4.4.2 Cross contamination and undercooked food

The slaughter and dressing process for meats and offal frequently results in carcass contamination with campylobacters (62, 190) and sets the stage for cross contamination due to improper food handling practices (156, 214-216). Contamination at the slaughterhouse is considered to be almost impossible to avoid due to mechanical evisceration, washing and water chilling procedures (62). In a study by Luber and Bartelt, fresh retail chicken breast fillets had an 87% prevalence of surface *Campylobacter* contamination and 20% prevalence of the pathogen in the deep tissue, indicating that cross contamination and undercooked meat may both play a role in transmission of disease (218). The study also found that poultry with skin had higher pathogen loads than that of skinless fillets. The nature of poultry skin is such that it prevents desiccation of the bacteria, even during typical air chilling procedures at the slaughter plant (214).

A foodborne outbreak investigation and case-control study were undertaken in Connecticut in 1997 nearly one week after clinical signs of campylobacteriosis were reported at a senior center (219). Samples taken from the premises revealed a high likelihood of cross contamination between raw meats and other prepared foods (in this

case the culprits were sweet potatoes, coleslaw and coconut pudding). Four people were hospitalized with laboratory-confirmed *Campylobacter* in the stool and one died. The case is a good example of how cross contamination of unsuspected food sources can result in an outbreak in a group eating scenario.

The most important risk factor in a case-control study in France was undercooked beef (OR 2.26 [95% CI, 1.2-4.24]) (199). A prevalence study of retail meats obtained from 59 stores in Washington D.C. found 91% of the stores carried contaminated chicken (192). The study found 70.7% of chicken, 14% of turkey, 1.7% of pork and 0.5% of beef samples were positive for *Campylobacter spp*. with two of the chicken samples positive for three different species of *Campylobacter* (192). In a similar UK study, contamination with *Campylobacter* was detected in 7.2% of all raw meats sampled and 12.6% in lamb (156). The cause of internal meat contamination remains unclear, and overall, poultry meat becomes more heavily contaminated than red meat during the process of evisceration (205).

#### 14.4.3 Restaurants

A FoodNet study in 2004, showed that the largest population attributable risk for campylobacteriosis was due to restaurant consumption of poultry and meats (51). Authors of a case-control study in Quebec, Canada found an odds ratio of 1.96 (95% CI 1.24-3.11) after consuming poultry in a restaurant, fast food or buffet (220). Another case-control study in Australia found that restaurant prepared meats (ham, red meat, roast beef and chicken) and 'greater than two weekly fast food meals' were associated with increased risk of infection (110). The same study found eating at 'burger chains'

was protective [OR 0.6 (95% CI: 0.4-0.9)] and the authors hypothesize that national franchises follow more stringent practices based on national regulations, thereby decreasing the risk of foodborne disease. Logically, the standard of food preparation and cleanliness upheld by individual restaurants directly reflects the potential for *Campylobacter* transmission.

# 14.4.4 Unpasteurized milk

Unpasteurized milk is a recognized risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection and has been associated with outbreaks in the UK and United States (195, 221-223). Two out of forty six outbreaks between 1996 and 1999 implicated unpasteurized milk as the vehicle for *Campylobacter* infection in England and Wales (169). In 1981 three U.S. outbreaks, affecting 50, 100, and nearly 200 people, respectively, were linked to consumption of raw milk (222). In one outbreak, 79% of those who consumed raw milk reported drinking less than one glass of milk (222).

Fecal contamination of cow and goat milk, as well as *Campylobacter* mastitis, has been implicated in several disease outbreaks (88, 190, 222). Human infection has been traced to the excretion of campylobacters into milk as a result of asymptomatic mastitis (88). The bacteria can be isolated from milk and fecal samples of healthy dairy cows (214). While *Campylobacter* is unable to grow in milk, the infective dose is very low (221). One study reported that less than 500 organisms ingested in milk can result in illness (222). *Campylobacter jejuni* can survive for weeks at 4<sup>o</sup>C, therefore pasteurization is the only fully protective method of eliminating the organism from milk

(222). The reported health benefits of raw milk and dairy products, and their subsequent increase in popularity, may increase the impact of this risk factor in the future.

# 14.4.4.5 Organic Foods

Organic meat consumption is a recently documented risk factor for campylobacteriosis (195). While exposure to organic meats remains low in the general population, health concerns stem from higher percentages of *C. jejuni* positive organic vs. conventional poultry flocks (195). The use of livestock manure as fertilizer is of particular concern in organic production systems. Enteric pathogens such as *Campylobacter, Salmonella, Yersinia and E. coli* O157 are known to contaminate readyto-eat vegetables, and the perception that organic produce does not require cleaning prior to consumption is a major concern (224). Currently, researchers are unable to predict whether organic management of soils will increase or decrease pathogen load (224). Public awareness around pesticide residues, animal welfare issues and environmental degradation has lead to increased demand for organic crops and outdoor/free-range livestock systems (224). The health and safety of these products is likely to emerge as a field of importance in the epidemiology of *Campylobacter*.

#### 14.5 Socioeconomic risk factors for campylobacteriosis

A recent Canadian study found an increased risk of disease in those of higher socioeconomic status and hypothesized that the relationship was due to increased foreign travel, restaurant dining and consumption of raw seafood (225). Gillespie et al. found "white collar" workers (professionals) to have marginally higher risk than "blue collar" workers in England and Wales [RR 1.06 (95% CI: 1.01-1.11)] with the highest incidence of

*Campylobacter* infection [RR 1.73 (95% CI: 1.64-1.81)] in the working class (housewives, chefs, sales assistants, receptionists, and postal workers) (122). Farm-related and occupational exposures are implicated in the higher incidence of disease among working age groups (20-60 years of age) in rural areas (120).

Social and cultural influences that are associated with disease risk can be difficult to extract and quantify, and interactions among socioeconomic determinants remain poorly understood. One problem resides in the measurement and reporting biases inherent in socioeconomic data, making consistent and reliable use of these factors an important emerging goal for public health officials (226). These combined difficulties result in gaps in the knowledge of how socioeconomic status affects the risk of campylobacteriosis.

#### 14.5.1 Race and ethnicity

A case-control study in England and Wales revealed a significant ethnic hierarchy in the risk of campylobacteriosis, with highest incidence found in the Pakistani population, followed by White, Indian, Bangladeshi, Black and Chinese (122). The same study found no significant difference by age and gender in the Indian and Black communities, yet confirmed that young children in all ethnic groups were at higher risk than older people. In another study, Asian patients were more likely to be infected by *C. coli* than Europeans (71). In New Zealand it was found that across ethnic groups, notification of disease and rates of hospitalizations differed (Maori and Pacific people versus all others). The implication is that people of certain ethnicity, or of lower socioeconomic status have less access to health care, leading to lower disease

notification (36). The importance of race and ethnicity on risk for campylobacteriosis remains unclear.

# 14.5.2 Age and Gender

*Campylobacter* incidence has a bimodal distribution with peaks in age groups 0-4 and young adults (179, 190, 227) and age-specific risk factors exist (110, 122). FoodNet calculated incidence of disease for 2004 in infants under one year of age was 28.4/100,000 (the highest risk age group) as compared to the national average of 12/100,000 (228). In Sweden, incidence for 0-4 year olds in 2000 was 44.8/100,000 with the national average of 27.5/100,000 (189). *Campylobacter* was found most frequently in children less than 2 years of age, and adults over the age of 20 in the Navajo and Hopi tribes of the southwestern U.S. (185) Higher incidence and isolation rates of campylobacters in young children have also been reported in studies from Denmark, Quebec, Barbados and Spain (186, 193, 220, 227).

Risk and protective factors for young children may differ from other age groups due to immune status, dietary, behavioral and developmental differences (126, 228). Breast feeding is a protective factor in children under one year of age (63, 228, 229). Odds ratios for breast feeding in two studies were 0.31 (95% CI, 0-1.69) (229) and 0.1 (95% CI,0.1-0.6) (228). Breast feeding confers immunity to the child and the elevated risk for campylobacteriosis seen among children up to five years of age may be due to naïve exposure to the pathogen.

Increased risk in those ages 1-4 and 75-79 in high-density poultry counties of Michigan is thought to be due to direct contact with both poultry and environmental

sources (120). The highest incidence in males age 0-19 years old was reported in rural, heavily agricultural occupations of Manitoba province in Canada (225). Other risk factors for children include drinking well water (OR 4.4, [95% CI, 1.4-14]) and riding in a shopping cart next to meat or poultry (OR 4.0, [95% CI, 1.2-13]) (228), pet contact, day care attendance and exposure to the kitchen environment (229). An Australian study determined that restaurant prepared meat consumption and swimming were risk factors associated with age groups over five years only (110). Incidence in those over the age of 50 is on the rise in England and Wales, and thought to be a result an increase in the aging population, possibly associated with the World War II baby boomer generation (128).

A case-control study that incorporated FoodNet data and included 33% of all identified cases of *Campylobacter* in the United States in 1998-1999, revealed that the incidence of disease in all age groups was higher among males versus females (51, 230). Laboratory-confirmed cases in Colorado 1991-1992 showed higher rates in males (all ages) (P<.001) and rates in male infants (under one year) were twice that of females (50.9 versus 23.5 per 100,000) (231). The difference is supported by other studies in developed nations, that found the incidence in males to be higher than females, especially in teenagers (3, 122, 128).

Hormonal changes in humans may affect *Campylobacter* growth and pathogenicity and may be associated with higher incidence in males from birth until age 17 [RR 1.54 (95% CI: 1.43-1.55)] and in females 20-36 years of age [RR 1.21 (95% CI: 1.14-1.29)] (122). Behavioral and exposure issues may also play a role in the incidence

difference between genders. A South Australia survey of children with gastroenteritis found that only 38% of boys washed their hands compared to 45% of girls (965 children surveyed, age 4-6) (232). This may hold true in underdeveloped countries as well. Studies from Nigeria found male children were twice as likely as females to be infected (233). Males may be less likely to seek medical assistance, may engage in different kitchen and food-handling practices than females (51), and may have greater exposure to the outside environment (122). This explanation does not account for elevated rates in male infants and the reason for this gender difference remains unclear.

# 14.4.6 Rural versus urban

Rural regions and farm environments are more likely to provide direct and indirect exposure opportunities such as farm animals, unpasteurized milk and contaminated surface waters, than urban areas (120, 212, 228, 234). In spatial analyses performed in Manitoba, Canada, the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection was significantly higher in rural and agricultural areas and highest in close proximity to high densities of animals (225). In Michigan, counties with a high-density of poultry farms also had higher risk of infection compared with low-density counties [RR 1.31 (95% CI: 1.21-1.42)] (120). Rural areas with high ruminant, swine and poultry densities were also significantly associated with a higher incidence of campylobacteriosis in Sweden (212). In a molecular comparison of *C. jejuni* subtypes taken from human and environmental samples, infections in rural settings were linked to animal contact (235). A study on Hopi and Navajo reservations showed that farm owners were more likely to develop the disease, (185) and ownership of domestic chickens was a risk factor [OR 12.4 (95% CI:

2.6-59.3)] in Australia (196). These studies suggest that occupational and environmental exposure plays an important role in the risk of disease in rural regions.

Although higher exposure in rural regions is associated with a higher overall incidence of disease, baseline immunity also may differ between regions (79). Notifications and hospitalizations for campylobacteriosis are significantly lower in rural versus urban areas (36, 37). In the Netherlands, incidence in rural regions was half that in urban areas (38) and chronic antigenic stimuli from the rural or farm environment is one hypothesis for lower risk.

In a New Zealand study, adults in urban areas and children in rural areas had higher rates of disease signifying an age-based disparity in the patterns of notification (36). In Manitoba, the incidence for the 0-4 year age group was seven times higher in rural regions than in the City of Winnipeg (225). In Wisconsin, sero-positivity for *C. jejuni* was higher with age and farm residence [OR 2.8, 95% CI 1.9-4.1] (37). Although exposure to campylobacters may be higher for farm vs. non-farm residences, the incidence of clinical disease does not necessarily follow this pattern, supporting the idea that differences in baseline immunity exist between populations living in urban vs. rural regions.

# 14.4.7 Travel-Associated Diarrhea

Travel-related *Campylobacter* infections are estimated to account for 5-10% of cases in the United States and 10-15% in Great Britain, Denmark, and South Asia (3, 187). Diarrhea and other clinical signs of campylobacteriosis are typically more severe in travelers and more frequently associated with antibiotic resistance (68, 77, 123, 187).

In a FoodNet case-control study, 13% of laboratory-confirmed cases (n=1316) reported travel within the week prior to illness (51). Destinations included Europe (31%), Mexico (21%), Asia (20%), Central and South America (10%) and Canada (6%). Over the last ten years, U.S. troops in Thailand consistently reported campylobacteriosis as the leading cause of diarrhea (63). Worldwide, campylobacteriosis is estimated to occur annually in 27-38% of travelers to developing nations who develop gastroenteritis (63).

The top three sources for European travel-related cases identified by the European Center for Disease Prevention and Control were Spain (24.9%), Turkey (21.1%) and Bulgaria (17.4%)(60). In Sweden, travel-associated campylobacteriosis is estimated to account for two-thirds of all reported infections (189) and in Norway, they account for about half (236). Ekdahl et al. found that there were over 28,000 travel-related cases in Sweden between 1997 and 2003, with the highest risk in those who traveled to India (237). Large regional differences were seen in prevalence of travel-related cases throughout East versus West Africa (502 vs. 76 per 100,000, respectively). In a study of European travel destinations from Sweden, the risk of infection was 100/100,000 in travelers to Portugal and Turkey and 1/100,000 in travelers to Finland (238). Risk factors for tourists are thought to be due to increased exposure to restaurant food and differences in immunity to foreign pathogen strains (238).

It is difficult to pinpoint the sources of travel-associated illness, even when temporally and geographically distinct strains of *Campylobacter* have been identified (159). A molecular study in Denmark showed 31% of travel-related cases were from

food sources, in contrast to 61% in domestically acquired subtypes (161). The same study showed a greater frequency of *C. coli* in travel-related cases. Higher diversity was also seen in travel-related strains, with 42% having a unique molecular subtype as opposed to only 12% in domestic cases. Acquisition of travel-related campylobacteriosis does not always require long distance travel or crossing known political or international boundaries. In a UK study in 2000, 16% of patients who were positive for *Campylobacter* reported travel to rural and coastal regions within the UK (58). More research is needed to better understand the role of immunity and pathogen strain type in travel-associated cases.

#### 14.4.8 Pets

Close contact with pets has been associated with increased likelihood of campylobacteriosis, especially in households with children (195, 203, 239). Dogs are risk factors for *Campylobacter*, *Arcobacter* and *Helicobacter* infections in humans (240), and a 10% co-infection rate with *Helicobacter* and *Campylobacter* has been identified in dogs and cats. Workman et al. found human isolates that were indistinguishable from canine strains, suggesting that dogs are significant reservoirs of disease (205). This is important because in nations such as the U.S. and Australia, almost 65% of households own a pet (232). Direct contact with animals at petting zoos may also play a role in disease transmission. Family and educational trips to petting zoos and farms have become popular outings in developed nations (213). On such outings, novel exposure to the pathogen and lack of acquired immunity increase susceptibility to disease.

Young animals (lambs, calves and puppies) are susceptible to colonization and shedding and are more likely to show clinical manifestations of the disease, thereby serving as a source of infection to humans (190, 210, 241). In Denmark , 29% of puppies carried *Campylobacter* spp. (76% *C. jejuni*, 5% *C. coli* and 19% *C. upsaliensis*) and 5% of kittens carried *C. upsaliensis* (66). A Swiss study showed that the highest prevalence was found in animals less than one year of age (dogs 67.6%, cats 52.4%) (65). The authors of a case-control in Australia showed that owners of domestic dogs less than six months of age were at increased risk of infection, OR 2.1 (95% Cl:1.1-4.2) (196). A longitudinal study followed young domestic dogs (3-8 months old) to two years of age and found that prevalence increased from 60% to 100% (239). The species distribution in the study included *C. upsaliensis* (75%), *C. jejuni* (19.4%), *C. lari* (2.1%) and *C. coli* (0.7%).

In North-west England prevalence in canine fecal samples was 50% (from boarding kennels) and 73% (rescue kennels) (242). Of 130 canine and 51 feline samples, 46.9% and 37.3% respectively, were positive for *Campylobacter spp*. A U.S. study found prevalence to vary between 15-31% in four, separate populations of dogs (243). A cross-sectional study in healthy pets in Switzerland found a prevalence of 41.2% in dogs and 41.9% in cats (65). The study also showed that the only significant risk factor for *C. jejuni* carriage in dogs was 'regular contact with birds and/or poultry' (65).

A case-control study in Colorado found cases living in a household with a cat had 3.21 (95% CI:1.25-8.3) times the risk of infection that those without a cat (203). Outdoor

cats have higher carriage rates for C.*upsaliensis/C. helveticus* than strictly indoor cats (65) and a prevalence of *C. jejuni* in stray cats (16.8%) was found in 2008 in Italy (244). In that study, the prevalence of infection among cats over one year of age, and living near a harbor (47.4%) was higher than those residing in an urban environment (10.6%).

Excretion of pathogenic strains in pets may contribute to the overall disease burden, (242) yet the clinical status of the pet is not a strong indicator of presence or absence of campylobacters (239, 241, 245). One study found n significant difference in carriage rates between dogs with and without diarrhea and recorded higher prevalence in stray dogs and younger dogs (over 70% of positive dogs were under one year of age) (205). Authors of a Norwegian study found 18% of non-diarrheal and 16% of diarrheal samples from cats were positive for *Campylobacter spp.*, while 23% of non-diarrheal and 27% of diarrheal samples were positive in dogs (241).

Despite well-documented cases of direct contact as a cause of campylobacteriosis from pets, indirect transmission routes are considered to be more important and the frequency of zoonotic transmission remains difficult to quantify (190, 243). A study of 965 rural South Australia children (age 4-6 years) found that ownership of dogs and cats was protective [OR 0.71, 95% CI: 0.55-0.92] against gastroenteritis (232). While this study did not specify etiological agents, the authors hypothesize that low-level, chronic exposure to pathogens may induce acquired immunity.

#### 15.0 Environmental epidemiology of campylobacteriosis

## 15.1 Domestic and wild animal disease reservoirs

Campylobacters known to cause human disease are widespread in animal and environmental sources (88, 167, 246). A primary mode of dispersal into the environment is through animal feces (4, 49, 64, 88, 247). The pathogen is excreted by a warmblooded host, contaminates soil and aquatic systems and becomes a source of transmission to humans (100, 107). Known reservoirs include poultry, wild birds, dogs, cats, sheep, pigs, cows, and other exotic pets, thus an extensive potential for fecal contamination exists in both wild and domestic environments (135, 163, 205). Regions with high densities of cattle, pigs and chickens can have campylobacteriosis rates among humans that are 2-3 times higher than those in non-farming areas (225). An important difficulty in determining whether human disease arises from animals or the environment is the inability to accurately measure the contribution of indirect transmission from animals through soil and water.

Animal feces are a primary source of environmental contamination due to high carriage rates and shedding (162, 176, 214, 248, 249). Asymptomatic carriage of *C. jejuni* by dairy cattle is sufficient for maintenance of infection in the surrounding environment (64, 88, 114). In New Zealand, where agriculture is the primary industry, (164) over 45 million sheep and 10 million cattle providing a large *Campylobacter* reservoir, and year round grazing practices make fecal pollution an important source of transmission (250, 251). One New Zealand study identified *C. jejuni* positive fecal samples in dairy cattle (54%) rodents (11%) and flies (9%) supporting the hypothesis

that cattle, wildlife and their surrounding environment may be important reservoirs for disease (114).

# 15.1.1 Carriage and shedding in domestic farm animals

Farm level variation in the prevalence of campylobacters is due in part to differences in environmental and hygienic conditions (61). Factors such as diet, transport, stress, hormone levels, management practices, and parturition, combined with climatic and seasonal influences, cause levels of fecal shedding to vary in domestic animal populations (224). Shedding in sheep may be related to the quality and digestibility of grazing land as well as the location and type of pasture (252). Campylobacters can be isolated in sheep feces in the UK up to four days after excretion, during which time on-farm water sources, other animals and humans may be contaminated or infected (252). Jones et al. detected *Campylobacter* shedding rates in sheep to be lowest in November and December when fed hay and silage versus when grazing pasture during spring and summer seasons (252). Lambs negative for *Campylobacter* at birth may begin shedding just 3 days post partum (88, 252). The highest rates of shedding in sheep occur during lambing, weaning and movement to new pasture suggesting that stress induces shedding (252). The relative contribution of animal and environmental factors to the rate of fecal shedding and its impact on *Campylobacter* infection in humans remains unclear.

Scavenging of fecal pats, bedding and slurries by wild birds, rodents and insects has been implicated in the spread of *Campylobacter* on farms and in water sources (88). Sinton and colleagues found that 90% of *C. jejuni* in bovine fecal pats dies after

6.2 days and that bacterial counts decreased faster with desiccation on New Zealand pasture (251). While *C. jejuni* is unable to grow in fecal pats and only fresh pats are likely to be a significant reservoir, live detection of viable organisms was possible over two months in winter and one month of the summer during the study period.

A study in Barbados identified *C. coli* as the most common species isolated from pigs (90.5% of pigs sampled were positive for *Campylobacter spp.*)(205) Another study showed that while piglets were negative for *C. coli* at birth, the prevalence rose to 56.6% during the nursery period and two-thirds of all pigs sampled were shedding *C. coli* by the time they arrived in the fattening unit (61). Eleven of 1,474 samples taken around the pig farms were positive for *C. coli*, Including one water trough, one rodent and two flies.

Despite high carriage rates in domestic farm animals, studies suggest that only small proportions of a herd will shed at any given time, and the factors that affect fecal shedding are not well understood (88). Cattle can shed *Campylobacter spp*. over three months and longer in some cases, and shedding in young calves was comparable to that of broilers (64, 88). A Norwegian study found carriage rates to be higher in calves (46%) than in adults (29%) (162) and in the UK levels of *Campylobacter* in manure were higher when young farm animals (calves, lambs, piglets) were present (247). Direct transmission between wild birds and cattle is also suspected, and another UK study showed a higher probability of isolating *C. jejuni* from cattle feces in areas where bird feces were positive (176). This illustrates the interconnectedness between environmental reservoirs and animal-related factors for shedding and transmission.

#### 15.1.2 Molecular evidence for animal reservoirs

Molecular typing has linked *Campylobacter* strains found in poultry, dogs, pigs, sheep, and cattle to sporadic human infections (159, 166, 246). Isolation rates using direct plating methods at slaughter for cattle and lambs in the UK were 26.7% and 47.8% respectively (88). Similar clonal complexes have been identified in isolates from farms and human stool samples (246). Wilson et al. measured the genetic differentiation between Campylobacter sources and estimated that chicken (56.5%), cattle (30%) and sheep (4.3%) were associated with the highest proportions of human infection (166). Johnsen et al. showed greater than 90% similarity using AFLP between human and bovine intestinal isolates in South-western Norway (162). Using molecular typing methods from samples taken throughout Denmark (59), researchers matched isolates between humans, cattle and poultry, and found agreement among six different genotypic and phenotypic markers. Kwan et al. collected samples from wildlife, cattle and environmental sources for MLST characterization in a rural dairy farming region of England (248). The most common *C. jejuni* genotypes identified (comprising over 60%) of the data) contained clonal complexes (ST-21, 45 and 61) that are frequently associated with infection in humans.

Multiple species of *Campylobacter* can be carried by animal reservoirs (64, 162, 169, 205) and up to 13% of feedlot cattle fecal samples contain more than one species (64). Studies from Scotland and Germany suggest that the dominant strains in environmental reservoirs can change over time (61, 124). Similarly, a three year PFGE study in Norway showed that predominant genotypes differed each year between

chicken and human isolates and that some genotypes found in humans were not found in chickens and vice versa (168). This indicates that other sources of the disease are likely to circulate in the environment, especially during seasonal peaks. Systematic surveillance has not been sufficiently undertaken to determine how temporal trends in infections vary within livestock populations (36).

#### 15.1.3 Wild Birds

Much speculation yet limited research has been devoted to understanding the impact of wild and migratory bird species on human incidence of campylobacteriosis. Between 2 and 50% prevalence has been reported in a variety of wild birds, yet their potential as a source of infection to humans and domestic animals remains unknown (253). Among wild birds known to visit grazing pastures, *C. jejuni* has been detected in crows, geese, pigeons, ducks and cranes (88). *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates have been identified in Antarctic penguins with molecular complexes similar to those isolated from humans and poultry in the U.S. (254) High *Campylobacter* carriage rates have been found in migratory birds in Barbados as well (205).

The majority of research concerning wild bird species and campylobacters is focused in the UK and New Zealand. Hughes et al. identified unique and genetically diverse campylobacters in magpies (*Pica pica*) and oystercatchers (*Haematopus ostralegus*) in Northern England (253). The authors also found that *C. jejuni* isolates in wild birds were unique from those in livestock. Kwan et al. identified wild bird MLST isolates that were highly prevalent in poultry sources (248). A UK molecular study found a range of *C. jejuni* genotypes in wild birds and Starlings that were genetically

associated with poultry and environmental sources (246). Starlings are common in the UK and free range chicken farms are an accessible habitat. In 2009, Colles et al. characterized shedding rates in wild European Starlings (n=967 fecal samples) at 30.6%, 0.6% and 6.3% respectively for *C. jejuni, C. coli* and *C. lari* (255). The majority of clonal complexes identified were host specific and differed from those historically isolated in humans and poultry. A direct link between these species and human infection was not established in the study.

In New Zealand, sparrows had a fecal *C. jejuni* prevalence of 40% in one farming area and 38% in an urban environment (114). In 2009, molecular complexes from avian fecal samples cultured from playgrounds in New Zealand city parks were similar to those found in UK starlings and indistinguishable from human cases in New Zealand (256). This suggests that children may acquire campylobacteriosis from fecal contamination of playgrounds and parks by wild birds. However, *Campylobacter* strains vary geographically among avian species, making it difficult to clearly link wild bird strains to human disease (257). The study of wild bird migratory routes and carriage rates of *Campylobacter spp.* is in its infancy, and the affect of this enormous mobile reservoir on the risk of infection, worldwide, in humans, livestock and poultry needs to be quantified.

#### 15.2 Water as a source of infection

Campylobacters have commonly been identified in lakes, rivers, and other surface waters, yet the contribution of water as a source of infection has not been determined (164, 190, 214, 258). Contamination of water can be due to runoff from rain

or sewage system leaks (163). While consumption of untreated or inadequately treated drinking water has been responsible for rare disease outbreaks, this source is not commonly documented on an international scale (190). On occasion, outbreaks are traced directly to water sources by molecular comparisons between water and human samples (163, 248). Yet contrary molecular findings also exist (166) and inferences from typing studies must be made with caution as sources of contamination may vary regionally.

In the Eastern Townships of Quebec, one study showed that greater than 50% of reported cases of campylobacteriosis were seasonally and regionally linked to environmental sources such as drinking water (220). In Walkerton Ontario a waterborne outbreak occurred as a result of drinking water contamination from nearby farm runoff (157). When cattle samples were typed from surrounding farms, only two strains were traced to disease. The majority of environmental isolates differed from outbreak strains. It is not known if temporal variation, genetic plasticity, sample diversity and quantity or typing technique hindered the search for a genetic link between outbreak and source in this case.

In August 2006, in a small Japanese village, 71 cases of campylobacteriosis were traced to tap water contamination resulting from a week-long failure of the chlorination system (259). In Florida, an outbreak occurred from a chlorinated open-top municipal water system resulting in 865 cases of gastrointestinal illness, with 11 of 20 total fecal samples positive for *Campylobacter* (260). In this outbreak only one day of

chlorination failure occurred, suggesting a high likelihood for fecal contamination by wild birds.

In a Finnish outbreak, molecular complexes (ST-677) were the same in humans, natural water sources and wild birds (158). In Sweden, laboratory-confirmed campylobacteriosis in children was associated with drinking well water from home (OR, 5.3[95% CI, 1.9-14.8]) and exposure to river or lake water (OR, 5.8 [95% CI, 1.1-30]) (189). Risk of infection from water sources varied seasonally (cases associated with contaminated water were more frequent during summer). Continuous sources of contamination may be a substantial factor during the summer (95) and since *Campylobacter* does not replicate outside a mammalian host, isolation from water indicates recent contamination (250). Definitive associations between human cases and natural waters remain difficult to obtain in part due to varying environmental conditions (seasonal patterns, wild bird populations, temperature, farm run-off, etc.) (100).

In regions where river systems interface with farming, consumption of untreated water and outdoor recreation may contribute to higher risks of infection. In New Zealand, where campylobacteriosis rates are the highest in the world, agricultural runoff is frequently implicated in water contamination. Molecular studies using MLST have identified isolates associated with both river water and chicken meat (180) and Polymerase Chain Reaction estimated *C. jejuni* prevalence to be over 50% in river water samples (98). Furthermore, in rural areas, many residents drink untreated water and engage in water-related recreational activities (164).

Detecting *Campylobacter* in drinking water sources can be difficult due to the prolonged time between infection, clinical signs, physician visit, culture and notification of health authorities (163). These factors may preclude isolation of the bacteria from water samples that are transiently contaminated. The quantity of water tested is also an important factor for successful detection. Sampling for *E.coli* requires only 100 ml of water, yet between 1,000 and 8,000 milliliters may be necessary for the detection of campylobacters in some outbreak situations (163). The plasticity of the *Campylobacter* genome and difficulty in obtaining representative samples from large or moving bodies of water compound the problem (164).

## 15.2.1 Sewage and Water treatment

Exposure to raw sewage and sewage contamination of drinking water are risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection (58, 100). Enteric pathogens are documented in drinking water systems, groundwater from wells, surface waters and river systems following heavy rainfall and after systemic breakdowns or maintenance breaches in sewage systems (220, 258). In Brazil, *C. Coli* has been isolated in up to 25% of sewage samples (68). To effectively trace waterborne outbreaks to sewage sources, samples must be taken in replicates, include several possible contamination sites and include large volumes of water over long periods of time (163). Culture-based detection methods can be labor intensive and time consuming, and identification of the pathogen can prove difficult when prevalence is low and the pathogen is in the viable but nonculturable state (258). As a result, cases caused by exposure to sewage may be

grouped as "water-related" and accurate knowledge of the contribution to disease risk remains unknown.

# 15.2.2 Agricultural land use and surface water contamination

Farming and land use practices are major determinants of *Campylobacter* contamination in the environment (224, 249) and campylobacters can reliably be detected in drinking and recreational waters that contain known agricultural run-off and sewage (224, 261, 262). High levels of enteric pathogens have been recorded with concurrent increases in manure and precipitation on fields (224). Eighty five percent of cattle chronically shed campylobacters in feedlot production systems (64). Extensive livestock systems and manure application to soils also pose an increased risk of pathogen runoff in surface water (214, 224, 250, 258). *Campylobacter coli* has been isolated from river water in 26.5% of samples in Chile (68) and studies in the UK indicate that *Campylobacter* prevalence in surface waters can range between 40-57% (96, 100).

In a study of water samples taken from standing and running water sources in a dairy farming area of England, *Campylobacter spp.* were isolated in over 40% of water samples (100). The same study found *Campylobacter spp.* were twice as likely (P=0.04) to be isolated from clay versus non-clay soils. While direct transmission between farm animals and humans may occur, it is more likely that a common source of infection exists on either land or water (162).

# 15.2.3 The link between land and water use and recreational activity exposure to campylobacters

Surface water may be imbibed during recreational activities such as camping, swimming, or hiking (261, 263). In a rural UK area known for dairy production and recreational activities, PCR characterization demonstrated *C. jejuni* in 36% of cattle feces and 15% of all water samples (176). *Campylobacter coli* was found in 17% of water and 21% of sheep samples and *C. lari* was detected in 7% of birds tested and 5% of water samples. When fecal matter from domestic animals contaminates surface waters, especially during times of elevated rainfall, there is an increase in the human risk of recreational and occupational exposure (252).

Tracing surface water sources to suspected cases of disease isproblematic. Eyles et al. found greater genetic diversity in water samples than human clinical isolates, suggesting a wide variety of potential environmental sources (164). The same study, using a combination of Penner and PFGE typing methods, was unable to identify exposure to *C. jejuni* contaminated surface waters as a source of human infection. The effect and contribution of agricultural land use practices and surface waters on incidence of campylobacteriosis remains unclear and a current research challenge lies in quantifying direct links between agriculture, land use and the associated risk to humans (247).

# **15.3 Climatic Factors**

# 15.3.1 Seasonality of campylobacteriosis

Temperate climate zones tend to have higher rates of campylobacteriosis and increases occur in a distinct spring-summer peak (9, 88, 264-266). In an international study, the seasonal peak occurred during the spring, with milder winters associated with earlier peak infection rates (267). In two time series analyses, (one performed in Scotland, the other in England and Wales) seasonal trends in campylobacteriosis were identified nationally and regionally (96, 265). Regional differences are hypothesized to be due to changes in transmission routes as well as urban verses rural residential status (9, 265). The causes behind seasonal variations in risk have yet to be elucidated.

# 15.3.1.1 Behavioral factors and seasonality

In temperate countries, seasonal increases in sunlight hours and warmer temperatures have a direct effect on human outdoor activities that increase exposure to *Campylobacter* sources (9). Known risk factors such as consumption of barbequed meats and untreated water, contact with farm animals (268, 269), and swimming in contaminated fresh water sources (261, 263) have been linked with seasonal risk. Seasonally driven increases in reported cases of campylobacteriosis may be due to changes in environmental sources of contamination or increased contact between humans and the environment (9). However, studies have not consistently demonstrated that seasonal variations in environmental source pathogen load correspond reliably with human infection (99, 261).

Distinct seasonal patterns in travel-related campylobacteriosis have also been recorded. Those who travelled in temperate regions had peak infection rates during the summer whereas minimal seasonal differences were detected in those who travelled to tropical regions such as Sub-Saharan Africa, Central and South America and the Indian Subcontinent (237).

Studies demonstrating a clear lack of seasonality should also be mentioned. The distribution of cases on the Caribbean island of Barbados was found to be even throughout the year (186). No correlation could be found between seasonality and human and water isolates in the Taieri River region of New Zealand (164). A study of *Campylobacter* prevalence on retail meats in Washington D.C. supermarkets found no seasonal difference in microbial contamination levels (192). A cross-sectional study in healthy dogs and cats in Switzerland found no seasonal difference in prevalence of campylobacters in stool (65). Similarly, Johnsen et al. found no seasonal difference in intestinal carriage rates for *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* in cattle and calves in South-western Norway suggesting that bovine reservoirs are a stable part of the transmission cycle (162).

#### 15.3.1.2 Animal and environment-related seasonal factors

Seasonal prevalence of campylobacters vary in sewage, the environment and animal feces (88, 94). In the UK significant seasonal variations in the distribution of human infections were correlated with the prevalence of *C. jejuni* in fresh feces of dairy cattle (266). Vereen et al. found the highest bacterial counts in natural waters during the summer in Georgia (99), whereas studies in England and Washington state found *Campylobacter* counts increased during the winter (261, 262). Researchers hypothesize that climatic factors are directly related to peaks in animal and environmental prevalence (88). However, it is unclear whether animals are being seasonally re-infected or subject to natural, biological, or managerial related fluctuations in *Campylobacter spp.* over time.

In the Taeiri River basin of New Zealand, summer is characterized by higher livestock density, increased rainfall and flooding, and pathogen levels are magnified as fecal material is transferred from land to surface waters (250). In Michigan, high-density poultry regions had an incidence rate 1.47 times higher than low-density counties during the winter season (120). Seasonal peaks in Wales showed that human infections were correlated with increased isolation rates from fresh retail chicken during early and late June (269). In Denmark, similar seasonal changes in prevalence were reported and both studies support the hypothesis that an environmental source is responsible for the nearly simultaneous increase in rates in both poultry and human populations (270). However, complex interactions between climate factors such as sunlight, temperature and humidity make it difficult to assess the direct impact of each (11). Furthermore, land use, environmental and farm animal reservoir ecology (including diet, grazing and housing strategies, hormonal changes, calving and water sources) are important factors in seasonal infection rates in livestock, yet the transmission, individual impact of reservoir hosts and routes of infection remain elusive and complex. While molecular typing has been undertaken to distinguish isolates from various potential sources on a

seasonal basis further research is warranted to clarify exactly how, and from where the organism is transmitted (271).

# 15.3.2 Temperature

The influence of ambient temperature on disease incidence varies between studies and countries. Tam et al. found that a  $1^{\circ}$ C rise in temperature in England corresponded with a 5 % increase in reported cases, up to  $14^{\circ}$ C (268). In Sweden, mean annual temperature was associated with increased risk of campylobactersis (RR 1.05 [95% CI:1.03-1.07]) (212). In Denmark, high temperatures four weeks prior to infection were good predictors (R<sup>2</sup>=68%) of human incidence (11). In contrast, in a study encompassing Europe, Canada, Australia and New Zealand, only temperature increases occurring 10-14 weeks prior to elevations in human infection were statistically significant (P=.05) (267). In an Australian study, temperatures in subtropical Brisbane were positively correlated with campylobacteriosis cases whereas in Adelaide, a temperate city, temperature was inversely correlated (272).

Temperature has a strong influence on survival of *Campylobacter* in fecal pats and in the environment (251), as well as carriage and contamination rates in poultry, wild birds, insects and rodents (11, 70, 251). The effect of temperature on *Campylobacter* prevalence in broilers may play a role in human rates of disease (270). Flies also play an important temperature-dependent role in transmission of disease (113, 117). For example, Guerin et al. modeled the association between minimum temperatures at which flies become active and flock prevalence during the summer season in Iceland (117). Results indicated that at temperatures unsuitable for fly activity,

risk of flock colonization was low, whereas sustained high temperatures have a higher proportion of positive flocks. The correlation between temperature and prevalence might also be associated with the presence of other insects and migratory birds whose effects on transmission have yet to be identified (117, 272).

# **15.3.3 Precipitation**

Environmental contamination, survival and transmission of *Campylobacter* resulting from rain and slurry runoff may increase the human incidence of disease (117, 176, 273). A statistical study found that over 50% of waterborne disease outbreaks in the U.S. between 1948 and 1994 were preceded by unusually heavy rainfall events (274) and historically, excessive rainfall has been associated with waterborne disease outbreaks worldwide (273, 275). The direct consequences of such events can be complex and difficult to quantify.

Campylobacters are sensitive to desiccation, therefore conditions of high rainfall and humidity are thought to improve survival of the bacteria in the environment (11). Rainfall can improve survival in fecal pats while simultaneously increasing leaching of bacteria (251). A study in Nigeria indicated that isolation rates were higher during the rainy season (233). Similarly, researchers speculate that hot, dry summer temperatures in the Helsinki area between 1996 and 1998 resulted in a lower incidence of disease than those during years of higher rainfall (168).

The prevalence of *Campylobacter* in environmental samples can be significantly lower following rainfall events, though the finding may be due to dilution (176). In 2004, investigators showed that precipitation explained only 6% of the variation in human

incidence in Denmark, and neither precipitation or humidity were explanatory with regards to prevalence in broilers (11). No association could be found between human incidence of disease and rainfall, humidity or temperature in two studies from Barbados (186, 205). Differences in the epidemiology of *Campylobacter* in nations located in tropical latitudes may be the reason for lack of association (186). More studies are needed in both temperate and tropical environments to understand how precipitation effects *Campylobacter* survival, transmission and human incidence of disease.

## 16.0 Time series modeling of campylobacteriosis

Studies show that variation in disease risk may be due to the temporal effects of temperature, rainfall, or humidity on the survival and reproduction of campylobacters in either the environment or on foods sources (11-13). Time series models, including multivariable methods that incorporate environmental variables, have been applied to surveillance data over the past twenty years as a means of accurately forecasting disease risk (12, 14, 15, 20, 21, 276, 277). Modeling the timing and shape of the seasonal peak may provide a better understanding of the drivers and constraints of temporal patterns, thereby aiding in the identification of potential sources of *Campylobacter* infection (8).

Temporal molecular studies from the UK show that important *Campylobacter* strains may persist over several years (136). French et al. performed MLST typing of fecal and environmental samples for *C. jejuni* within a narrow spatiotemporal window, providing an accurate characterization of the population structure and potential sources of infection (249). Karenlampi et al. examined the temporal and geographic distribution

of isolates by PFGE in Finland from July to September 1999, and found a 46% overlap among chicken and human strains (209). When comparisons between samples accounted for time and space, only 31% of the strains matched. The authors suggest that the timing and location of environmental sources affect infection rates for humans and chicken during the seasonal peak.

A time series study in Germany showed significant cross-correlations between human incidence, monthly temperature and rainfall (17). In the study, peak prevalence of human campylobacteriosis preceded a peak in broiler flocks, suggesting that the influence of environmental exposure was an important contribution to disease risk. Inclusion of temporal and/or spatial parameters into disease models may help to pinpoint sources and reservoirs of this genetically diverse pathogen. Comparing seasonal trends among regions with different environmental characteristics may help identify different risk factors and transmission routes, making time series modeling of great benefit to epidemiologists (14-17). Risk forecasting could also provide public health officials with an early indication of potential changes in disease incidence and act as an epidemic alert system (14, 19, 20).

### 17.0 Spatial analysis and Geographic Information Systems

According to Green and colleagues, "*Campylobacter* may be occurring in different places for different reasons" (225). This premise provides a foundation for the emerging field of geographic epidemiology. Geographic Information Systems (GIS) have become an invaluable tool for elucidating the epidemiology of disease and improving disease management (278). Spatial analyses help to optimize our

understanding of the dynamics of local and global disease transmission and are now common in academic research and health departments (279).

# 17.1 Spatial analysis as a tool for public health

Technological advances have placed spatial and temporal simulation models at the forefront of policy and decision making and are helping to bridge the gap between theoretical modeling and applied surveillance and prediction (279-281). As databases become more complete and accessible, the tools of GIS such as geo-referencing of farm and animal populations, and other spatial scan statistical methods have become increasingly used in surveillance systems (282). Advanced statistical methods are also being honed for the express purpose of accurate identification of zoonotic disease risks, including campylobacteriosis.

Predictive spatial models that incorporate environmental variables are a current focus of regional control strategies (279). Modeling tools can be used to understand disease patterns in wild and domestic animal populations, environmental exposures, vector-borne diseases, and for economic assessment of disease burden. For example, during the 2001 foot and mouth disease epidemic in the United Kingdom, over 70 full-time GIS staff were assembled to generate risk maps and analyze the disease spread potential of farms (280). Models were constructed rapidly enough to be effective for strategic policy making to curtail the epidemic. In a U.S. spatial study in 2010 strong relationships that were identified between air pollution and mortality were used to improve air guality standards and regulations. This trend, linking the scientific
knowledge base with public policy is likely to continue as GIS systems and databases become more tractable and integrated.

# 17.2 Spatial distribution of campylobacteriosis and campylobacters

In the United States, campylobacteriosis incidence rates have been shown to vary between states (differences between 6 and 32 per 100,000 persons), and true regional differences in risk may exist (3). Swedish investigators examined travel-related incidence throughout European countries over a seven year period (1997-2003) and found a distinct north-south gradient across southern countries (Spain, Portugal, Romania, Turkey) (238). Results showed higher incidence in southern versus Nordic regions. Differences in geographic patterns of campylobacteriosis have also been observed when data were analyzed at different spatial levels (ie. county versus municipality in Sweden) (212).

A recent focus of campylobacteriosis research aims to understand how environmental and demographic factors are associated with disease risk in different geographic regions. Spatial scan statistics and smoothing techniques have identified significant geographic variability in *Campylobacter* incidence in Manitoba, Canada (225). In Denmark, spatial analyses on over 11 years of registry-based data showed that odds ratios were highest for children (age 0-14) in rural areas (OR=1.65), people living in farmhouses (1.24) and low population density areas (1.28) (177). The researchers found that campylobacteriosis varies significantly with respect to municipality, housing type, drinking water supply and population density, supporting the need to further investigate sporadic sources of infection, as well as different risk factors in different areas.

Survival of *Campylobacter* in the environment also varies geographically (250). A study by Garrett et al. showed similarities between human *Campylobacter* infection isolates and ruminant feces in rural settings (235). Another spatial study used MLST to test 172 samples from water, wild and domestic animal feces and soil taken over ten weeks on a 100 km<sup>2</sup> area of cattle farmland in the UK (249). Results identified samples from cattle and rabbit as genetically similar, suggesting that the transmission cycle is specific to pastures in the study area. Isolates identified from wildlife and water had molecular complexes unique to the study area yet not associated with human disease. Importantly, the primary clonal complex (ST-61) detected in cattle samples had been previously linked to human infection.

# **17.3 Limitations**

One problem in assessing the spatial distribution of campylobacteriosis cases is the possibility that case reporting differs due to differences in access to health care and efforts to confirm the diagnosis across regions (225). Secondly, spatial scan statistics and smoothing methods can create bias from the "edge effect", whereby models can be inaccurate at the borders of a study area due to the number of neighbors involved in calculations (225). Problems in analytical accuracy can also occur when there are errors in case data or it is assigned improper location identifiers (58). Spatial analyses are often subject to the modifiable areal unit problem (statistical bias resulting from arbitrary

or artificial boundaries), ecological fallacy, and problems with small numbers. These factors must be addressed to insure accurate identification of geographic risk patterns.

# 17.4 Trends in spatial analysis

The trend in GIS is towards increasingly sophisticated methodologies such as spatio-temporal models, GPS, real-time, remote sensing and other multi-level modeling approaches. These techniques allow for the extraction of meaningful relationships with greater precision. Bayesian geo-statistical approaches are also gaining ground in predictive disease mapping and modeling (283) and principal component analysis can be used to understand the relatedness between characteristics and disease risk factors in neighborhoods and other close knit regions (281).

According to Jerrett et al. "The largest challenge to the expanded use of GIS and allied methods for health surveillance is related to data availability, consistency and cost." He further states that, "while knowledge and the technology are available to utilize spatial analysis in Public Health, the institutional structures for data collection , management and dissemination are lagging." (281) Epidemiologists are still in the early stages of understanding the spatial constraints of *Campylobacter* survival and transmission in the environment and the effect on human incidence.

#### **18.0 Control and prevention of campylobacteriosis**

#### **18.1 Poultry industry**

The majority of food-borne infections associated with poultry in developed nations are caused by *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* (224). While control efforts have successfully decreased rates of salmonellosis, human *Campylobacter* infections have

steadily risen over the past 20 years (224). In the 1990's many countries undertook quality assurance measures that included strategies for decreasing risk of contamination on retail meat products, reducing pathogen load on the farm, increasing hygiene practices during processing and slaughter and increased consumer education (192). However, despite the widespread acceptance of poultry as a primary reservoir and potential transmission source for *Campylobacter,* little has changed in the broiler industry to reduce contamination and colonization of flocks (84).

On-farm and slaughterhouse hygiene improvement is cited as a primary means of control and prevention in the poultry industry (166). Biosecurity measures, including proper design and location of farms and staff education are a main concern (284). Poultry are likely to be infected by bird fecal matter as well as environmental sources surrounding the farm such as water, other animals, and wild birds (112, 124, 206, 208). Fly control on poultry farms (screening, light traps, sticky fly traps, destroying maggot habitats) has been recommended to decrease flock prevalence at the farm level (117, 118). Good management practices such as controlling the moisture content of poultry bedding and treating poultry litter with aluminum sulfate or sodium bisulfate can also significantly minimize bacterial counts (131). *Campylobacter jejuni* has also been found to survive overnight on slaughterhouse processing equipment surfaces even after cleaning and disinfection (285). Methods to reduce or prevent colonization in birds and disinfect birds post processing continue to be priorities in controlling disease (190).

Pioneering molecular efforts for control of *Campylobacter* aim to reduce bacterial levels in the gut through the use of antimicrobial alternatives and by increasing host

resistance (151). The identification and use of anti-C*ampylobacter* bacteriocins (antimicrobial peptides) are a promising new strategy for reducing *C. jejuni* colonization in poultry (286). While a cost effective vaccine for reduction of *Campylobacter* in poultry is yet to be developed, the potential is currently under exploration and thought to be a promising strategy in reducing overall bacterial load (56, 131, 132).

#### 18.2 Farm-level

Exposure to contaminated meat, poultry and food animals constitute major sources of human disease, suggesting that improved biosecurity and on-farm hygiene could reduce disease incidence dramatically (166, 196). Farm-level interventions such as improving isolation measures during rearing is one approach currently recommended (207). Implementation of on-farm sampling and testing of sheep and cattle is also recommended where feasible (88, 252). Reducing gastrointestinal tract colonization in bovines has been considered, yet practical measures to achieve this goal have not been devised (64). Another strategy is to isolate or cull high shedding animals in feedlot situations, although this approach is economically prohibitive (64, 88).

Controlling on-farm waste products may reduce the prevalence of *Campylobacter* and other pathogens such as *E. coli*, *Salmonella* and *Listeria* (131, 247). This strategy may also help to control colonization in livestock, as infection with one bacteria has been shown to predispose the animal to coinfection with other potentially pathogenic organisms (247).

# **18.3 Slaughterhouse**

Slaughterhouse procedures such as scalding and chilling are often insufficient in removing campylobacters (207). Minimizing cross contamination at the level of the slaughter house by using counterflow water systems during processing and improving washing procedures for equipment has also been suggested (214, 285). Other methods of prevention include super-chlorination of water, carcass decontamination and carcass drying (207). Efforts should also be applied to the pig industry, as pigs harbor very high levels of *C. coli* prior to slaughter and slaughter hygiene is important to avoid carcass contamination (61). The role of specific sources of cross contamination at the level of the slaughterhouse (transport crates, equipment, different flocks) has yet to be quantified (207, 285). In summary, reducing pathogens from the farm environment, feed and water systems and improving sanitation during slaughter and transport are considered key intervention strategies (131).

#### 18.4 Public health

The objectives of national programs such as the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Points (HACCP) are to ensure that all aspects of production, processing and distribution contribute to the microbiological safety of the product (167, 214). Risk reduction points created by the HACCP include six major categories defined in detail by Leifert et al. in 2008 (224). These include animal husbandry practices for reduced fecal shedding, outdoor livestock management, manure storage and processing, soil management, irrigation and crop handling and harvest methods.

Addressing food hygiene and preparation issues are widely acknowledged as effective strategies in the control and prevention of campylobacteriosis. Behavioral strategies for decreasing contamination include both consumer and retail level education programs that focus on proper food handling and preparation (167, 214). Adequate cleaning of utensils and hands are considered to be some of the most important hygiene strategies (216). Prolonged exposure (up to 10 seconds) to hot running tap water has been shown to reduce *C. jejuni* by destruction and physical removal of cells (216). The effectiveness of cooking is time dependent as well, and pan frying inactivates *Campylobacter* after five minutes at 70-80°C (201). Realistically, simple behavioral modifications such as proper cooking, avoiding consumption of raw milk, untreated water and seafood will inevitably reduce incidence of disease (167, 214).

# 18.5 Surveillance

Improving and standardizing national and international surveillance strategies and prioritizing rigorous investigation of *Campylobacter* infections would also improve our understanding of the disease epidemiology. In England and Wales, *Salmonella* and *E. coli* cases have much higher investigatory follow-up than does *Campylobacter*, which scored lowest for follow-up out of 20 food-borne causes of disease (169). Auld et al. recommend the use of 'alert systems' capable of identifying and predicting the impact of heavy rainfall and severe weather events (273). Meteorological surveillance could serve as a complementary method to reporting to warn the general population, public health sector and water quality personnel about the potential for environmental contamination due to weather events.

#### 18.6 Other avenues of prevention and control

Improved farm and slaughterhouse level management practices and behavioral changes may not completely control *Campylobacters* (224). Genetically selecting animals that are resistant to colonization is another proposed strategy (131). Molecular matching between human, animal and environmental sources may also provide a cornerstone for better understanding and control of this disease (164, 287). In addition, safe and cost-effective human and/or animal *Campylobacter* vaccines would be an enormous contribution. Prevention and control of campylobacteriosis requires interdisciplinary approaches that include human and animal medical fields, farm workers, and public health officials (213). A priority for decreasing the economic and health-related burden must include a combination of targeted surveillance and improved public education.

# 19.0 Summary, conclusions and future directions

#### 19.1 Summary

After over thirty years of research into *Campylobacter* spp. and human infection, much of the epidemiology remains unclear. Multiple factors contribute to its complexity. The bacteria are ubiquitous in the environment, and have many advantageous biological mechanisms for survival, transmission and colonization. A combination of intensive animal farming practices, land use factors and weather patterns serve to elevate and disperse the bacteria. In addition, the slaughter and distribution of animal products, specifically poultry, provide mobile, wide ranging sources of infection and contamination. The challenge lies in distinguishing whether infection arises from

consumption of animal products, direct contact with animals, or contact with shared environments and surrounding water sources.

The multifaceted relationship between ecological factors and bacterial adaptation make it difficult to identify individual environmental contributions to disease burden. Currently there is a need to identify how sources become contaminated, what factors influence environmental loading, the role of reservoir hosts and the modes of transmission from the environment to humans. In addition, the genetic plasticity of campylobacters and the occurrence of multiple strains, or coinfections make definitive identification a challenge. Difficulty in detection and comparison of isolates and their sources is amplified by a lack of standardization of molecular typing methods used by scientists and laboratories worldwide.

Human cases of campylobacteriosis are often sporadic, and the lengthy incubation period prior to clinical disease decreases the possibility of identifying a definitive source. Point source campylobacteriosis cases may remain hidden due to low likelihood of reporting–the majority of cases are self-limiting and reporting is often based on the severity of disease. Difficulties in assessing the disease burden may be a function of underreporting, combined with differences in surveillance methods between states, regions and countries.

Geographic and socioeconomic factors play an important role in the risk of disease, as do occupational and environmental exposures, notably in rural regions. Spatial associations between human campylobacteriosis, environmental and demographic determinants have not yet been systematically and predictably

established. Furthermore, exposure and infection do not guarantee clinical disease, and a better understanding of how host factors affect variation in individual susceptibility and clinical signs would improve our ability to identify important risk factors.

The effect of wild bird migratory routes and carriage rates of *Campylobacter spp.* on the risk of infection, worldwide, in humans, livestock and poultry is poorly understood and requires investigation. Furthermore, the increasing popularity of raw (unpasteurized) dairy products and organic foods are a "wild card" in the epidemiology of human disease, as the health and safety of these products has not yet been determined.

#### 19.2 Conclusions and future directions

While great strides have been made in understanding this complex organism, quantifying the contributions of seasonal, geographic and socioeconomic drivers to the risk of disease will further elucidate its epidemiology. There is a growing need to improve surveillance technology such that it becomes standardized and accessible between clinical, environmental and epidemiological data sources for research and Public Health purposes. Consistent typing of pathogenic *Campylobacter* strains over long periods of time are needed to provide genetic matches between disease cases, sources of infection and reservoirs. Combined improvements in surveillance and molecular typing will expand our knowledge at the intersection of *Campylobacter* ecology and human infection. Continued investigation into the transmission mechanisms for antibiotic resistant genes is also warranted and prudent use of antibiotics within the human and animal medical and production industries is needed in

order to curtail the development of resistant strains. Research should also concentrate on intervention strategies that improve biosecurity in food production and limit sources of environmental contamination that contribute to human disease.

# Chapter 2

Comparison of three time series models for predicting campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, Minnesota and Oregon

This chapter is a manuscript that has been published in the journal Epidemiology and Infection (*Epidemiol. Infect.* (2010), 138, 898-906).The manuscript authors include: J. Weisent<sup>1</sup> W. Seaver<sup>2</sup> A. Odoi<sup>1</sup> B. Rohrbach<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Comparative Medicine, The University of Tennessee, College of Veterinary Medicine, 205A River Drive, Knoxville, TN 37996

<sup>2</sup> Department of Statistics, Operations and Management Science, The University of Tennessee, 225 Stokely Management Center, 916 Volunteer Blvd., Knoxville TN 37996

My contribution to the paper includes conception of the research idea and review of the literature, data preparation and analysis, interpretation of results, drafting and editing the manuscript.

# **1.0 SUMMARY**

Three time series models (regression, decomposition, and Box-Jenkins Autoregressive Integrated Moving Averages) were applied to national surveillance data for campylobacteriosis with the goal of disease forecasting in three U.S. states. Data sets spanned 1998 to 2007 for Minnesota and Oregon, 1999 to 2007 for Georgia. Year 2008 was used to validate model results. Mean absolute percent error, mean square error and coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) were the main evaluation fit statistics. Results showed that decomposition best captured the temporal patterns in disease risk. Training dataset R<sup>2</sup> values were 72.2, 76.3 and 89.9% and validation year R<sup>2</sup> values were 66.2, 52.6 and 79.9% respectively for Georgia, Oregon and Minnesota. All three techniques could be utilized to predict monthly risk of infection for *Campylobacter* sp. However, the decomposition model provided the fastest, most accurate, user-friendly method. Use of this model can assist public health personnel in predicting epidemics and developing disease intervention strategies.

# 2.0 INTRODUCTION

*Campylobacter* sp. bacteria are motile, spiral shaped, gram negative organisms found ubiguitously in the environment (47, 178). They have been identified as a leading cause of human gastroenteritis in developed nations, surpassing pathogens such as Salmonella sp. and E. coli (1, 2). An estimated one percent of the U.S. population (2,400,000 persons) are infected annually resulting in 13,000 hospitalizations and 124 deaths (3). Campylobacter sp. can be found in the gastrointestinal tracts of a wide variety of domestic and wild animals and birds (4-6). As a result, establishment of causative associations between human infection and contaminated food or water, animal contact and other environmental sources is a formidable task. Geographic region, climate patterns, drinking and recreational water, land use and human behaviour comprise some of the complex set of determinants which have been shown to affect the rate of gastrointestinal disease (8-10, 17, 265, 288, 289). The incidence of campylobacteriosis varies seasonally and geographically, and tends to be highest in summer months, specifically in temperate climate zones (1, 264, 268, 288). While the seasonality of the disease has been well documented worldwide, extensive studies have not been performed to predict the future risk of disease in different geographic regions in the United States. Comparing seasonal patterns among regions with different environmental characteristics may help identify transmission routes making reliable time series forecasting of great benefit to epidemiologists and public health officials (14-17).

A variety of modelling approaches have been applied to surveillance data over the past twenty years in an attempt to accurately predict patterns of infectious diseases (12, 14, 15, 20, 21, 276, 277, 288-293). Statistical time series modelling is appropriate since *Campylobacter* sp. disease surveillance data can be aggregated into equally spaced time intervals, exhibits autocorrelation, trend and seasonality (20, 294). The potential for emerging infectious disease patterns to change in response to anthropogenic climate and land use changes warrants the continual improvement and updating of current forecasting systems. Technological advances in forecasting software and program capability beget systematic review of methods and their applicability in the realm of public health. Recent interest in automated, real time detection techniques have met with varying levels of success (292). Our study incorporates a univariate methodological approach to forecast monthly disease risk using campylobacteriosis incidence from three U.S. states.

Finding the most accurate time series disease risk model at the state level holds numerous practical implications. Systematic analyses of multiple modelling techniques aims to create an optimal model to be used by public health officials with a state specific, accurate and user-friendly method for predicting disease risk. The best model could potentially be implemented by trained public health professionals. Risk forecasting could provide public health officials with an early indication of irregularity in disease incidence and act as an epidemic alert system (14, 19-22). Model application could subsequently result in more efficient and cost-effective control strategies (23).

The purpose of this study is to evaluate three time series models using data from three U.S. states, Georgia, Oregon and Minnesota, to forecast the monthly risk of campylobacteriosis one year in advance. We also aim to determine if current software is capable of accurately simplifying time series methods for practical use in the public health arena.

# 3.0 METHODS

# 3.1 Data Source and Study Area Description

The data utilized for this project were obtained from FoodNet, an active surveillance system implemented in 1996 by The Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (295). To meet the operational case definition of campylobacteriosis, samples of either stool or blood must be laboratory-confirmed as positive for *Campylobacter* sp.

Data from Georgia, Oregon and Minnesota were chosen for completeness and climatic diversity. Both direct and indirect disease transmission may be affected by weather conditions, therefore, it is important to predict disease risk for geographically diverse regions (288). Oregon experiences temperate climatic conditions characterized by nine months of consistent cloud cover and rain (296). Regional variation in annual precipitation (50 to 500 cm) occurs. During the summer months, July through September, there are approximately fifty days of clear sky with average daily temperatures between 30 and 38°C. Georgia is characterized by a humid subtropical climate and receives approximately 114 cm of annual rain in the middle of the state and 180 cm in the northeast mountains (297). Summers are hot and humid with an average

daily temperature of 32°C. Minnesota climate is the most extreme, with average daily temperatures ranging in January between -14 and -11°C, and between 19 and 23°C in July (298). Average precipitation is 48 cm in Minnesota's northwest region and 86 cm in the southeast. We hypothesize that climatic differences between states may affect the characteristics of the campylobacteriosis risk curve over the course of the year. Subsequently, this may influence statistical forecasting methods, as well as prevention and control strategies.

#### 3.2 Data Preparation

FoodNet surveillance data was aggregated into counts by month for each state over the study period resulting in 108 data points in Georgia and 120 data points in Oregon and Minnesota, equally spaced over time. The series lengths are statistically appropriate for the three time series methods (299). To ensure the regional integrity of the risk estimates, cases identified as travel-related were eliminated from the dataset. The years 1998 (1999 for Georgia) to 2007 were used to model each time series and the year 2008 was held out of the data set for model validation. Data manipulation was performed in SAS version 9.2 (300). Risks were determined using annual population estimates as denominators obtained from the U.S. Census Bureau (301). The risk estimates were presented as number of cases per 100000 persons. The statistical analyses were performed in NCSS-2007 (302). The forecasting methods used were time series regression, decomposition, and Box-Jenkins Autoregressive Integrated Moving Averages (ARIMA). Fit statistics and holdout R<sup>2</sup> values were calculated manually. Separate model forecasts were assessed for each state.

# 3.3 Pattern Analysis and Outlier Identification

Pattern analysis was performed on monthly risk data using autocorrelation (ACF) and partial autocorrelation plots (PACF). Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA was performed on monthly medians to verify seasonality (P<0.05). A simplistic strategy of identifying outliers as data points three standard deviations from the mean for time series data are invalid since this ignores the autoregressive or moving average patterns in the data. Instead, the time series outliers were identified by fitting a basic ARIMA model to the data series. The resulting residuals are saved and standardized by the root mean square error for the ARIMA (1,0,0)(0,1,1). These standardized residuals are then control charted. Observations outside three standard deviations from the mean of zero are then flagged as outliers in the time series (303).

Outbreak information on individual cases is incomplete in this data set. All cases were aggregated by month regardless of outbreak status. Outliers identified by control charting were individually checked for potential outbreak status. No association between outlier months and reported outbreak cases could be found.

# 3.4 Time Series Modelling Techniques

The models were quantitatively evaluated based on their predictive ability using mean square error (MSE), MAPE (mean absolute percentage error),  $R^2$  on the training data, and a holdout  $R^2$  based on 2008 data for all three modeling techniques. Outside of time series analysis, most people associate  $R^2$  only with multiple regression. However, there is a pseudo  $R^2$  that can be computed for any time series model as follows:

$$R^{2}_{pseudo} = 1.0 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \overline{y})^{2}}$$
(1)

This pseudo  $R^2$  is simply the sum of the residuals squared divided by the total sum of squares in the model. For a holdout  $R^2$ , the calculation is basically the same as in equation (1), except that the model from the training sample is applied to the holdout, the sample size is only over the holdout, and  $\overline{y}$  is the mean for the holdout time period. In essence, all models can be evaluated in the same way. Henceforth, all further comparisons will be addressed simply as  $R^2$ .

# 3.4.1 Time Series Regression

Ordinary least squares multiple regression models were evaluated using additive (untransformed) and multiplicative (logarithm transformation) risks. Predictors included trend, month, year and trend by month interactions. Variables were retained if they improved predictive value (R<sup>2</sup>), produced globally significant (P<0.05) models with significant regression coefficients, and lacked collinearity (variance inflation index less than five). The basic time series regression model used was additive and shown in equation (2):

$$Y_t = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_{trend} + \sum_{i=2}^{p=12} \beta_i d_i + \varepsilon_t$$
(2)

This model assumes linear trend and seasonality but no interaction between the two.

Residual time series plots were examined for all models and checked for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk's goodness of fit for normality. In addition, one wants to find white noise (no pattern) in the residuals after fitting a time series model. Therefore, the Portmanteau test was used to assess white noise, with degrees of freedom adjusted according to the number of predictor variables (299). This test assures that the pattern has been fully extracted from the series and that the residuals are randomly scattered.

# 3.4.2 Automatic Decomposition

A decomposition macro available in NCSS and other software was applied (302). The series was decomposed into trend, seasonal, cyclic and error components. The decomposition model that worked best on this data was multiplicative as shown in equation (3):

$$Y_t = T_t \cdot S_t \cdot C_t \cdot E_t \tag{3}$$

Residual analysis for white noise and normality was performed as described for time series regression.

# 3.4.3 Box-Jenkins Autoregressive Integrated Moving Averages (ARIMA)

The ARIMA modelling was based on the techniques described by Box and Jenkins in 1976 and further explained by DeLurgio (299, 304). The ACF and PACF plots were used to identify starting orders. Exhaustive combinations of autoregressive (AR), moving average (MA) and differencing parameters were fitted up to the third order. Orders above three were not attempted due to the high likelihood of model overspecification. First order seasonal differencing resulted in the best models for all three states and compensates for nonstationarity in the mean (304). The best models were selected after various fit statistics were evaluated. The best ARIMA model was ARIMA(1,0,0)(0,1,1), which is captured using backshift operators in equation (4):

$$(1 - \varphi_1 B)(1 - B^{12})Y_t = (1 - \theta_1 B^{12})$$
(4)

Significant (P<0.05) coefficients were retained with correlations less than 0.8 between parameter estimates. Residual analysis, as to normality and white noise, was performed as described for time series regression.

### 4.0 RESULTS

#### 4.1 Pattern Analysis

Monthly risks ranged from 0.236-1.191 per 100,000 persons (mean=0.593) in Georgia, 0.635-2.895 (mean=1.443) in Oregon and 0.333-4.655 (mean=1.435) in Minnesota. All three series demonstrate seasonality (Figure 2.1a, b, c) (Note: All figures can be found in Appendix B). The vacillating seasonal pattern in the ACF plots dominates and potentially masks AR and MA components. The ACF and PACF plots for Georgia are shown in Figure 2.2.a and 2.2.b. The exponential decay in of the seasonality in the ACF along with the singular PACF first order spike is indicative of AR (1). Further looks at regular and seasonal differencing hinted at a possible MA (1) for the seasonal component. The patterns were not clean, implying other model possibilities or potential outliers or both.

# 4.2 Outlier Identification

Outliers were not identified in Georgia using the ARIMA control process techniques, therefore, no further preprocessing or smoothing methods were applied to the Georgia time series. For the Oregon series, June 1998 was flagged as an outlier in both the raw and residual control chart analysis. The mean risk in June was 2.11 per 100,000 persons. For the June observations a running median of 5 consecutive June values was chosen to preserve the seasonal effect. The original outlier value of 2.864 per 100,000 persons was replaced with 2.017. The models performed consistently worse with smoothed data. As a result, all Oregon forecasting was applied to the original unsmoothed data.

Control charting of the Minnesota series indicated that June 1998 was out of range for both control charting techniques. The data point was above 3 standard deviations from center. To correct the outlier, a running median of 5 for consecutive June data was chosen for smoothing. The replacement median risk value of 2.372 (original value=4.65, June mean=2.420) was used in all further analyses.

#### 4.3 Time Series Model Results and Comparisons

The results for the best models identified for each technique are summarized in Table 2.1(Note: All tables can be found in Appendix A). All ARIMA and regression models were significant (P<0.05) both globally and for individual model coefficients. Decomposition models do not rely on overall model significance testing to assess fit.

# 4.3.1. Regression

The best regression model for all three states was additive and contained statistically significant (P<0.05) trend and monthly estimates. The  $R^2$  value in Georgia was 69.3%, in Oregon 71.0% and 83.5% in Minnesota. In all three states, normality of the residuals was achieved but not white noise.

#### 4.3.2. Automatic Decomposition

The decomposition risk predictions for campylobacteriosis resulted in the highest fit statistics of the three methods. The R<sup>2</sup> value for Georgia was 72.7%, for Oregon 76.3% and for Minnesota 89.9%. Normality in the residuals was achieved for all three series. None of these models attained perfect white noise. The Georgia model was adequate for white noise only for lags 1 and 2. The Oregon model was inadequate overall. The Minnesota residuals were adequate for white noise on lag periods 1, 4, and 7-11.

The actual and predicted risk values for the decomposition validation year (2008) are shown in Figure 2.3a, 2.3b and 2.3c. The validation dataset R<sup>2</sup> values for Georgia, Oregon and Minnesota were 66.2%, 52.6% and 79.9% respectively.

# 4.3.3 ARIMA

For all three states the most parsimonious model with highest  $R^2$  value (Georgia= 65.5%, Oregon= 72.4%, Minnesota= 84.1%) was the ARIMA (1,0,0)(0,1,1). Better  $R^2$  values were possible using AR and MA components higher than two. However, complex models tend to over fit, demonstrate multicollinearity and frequently do not pass the assumptions of

normality or achieve white noise. The majority of the models had markedly lower R<sup>2</sup> values than decomposition models, but the ARIMA models had a higher holdout R<sup>2</sup>, except for Minnesota.

The observed seasonal variation in campylobacteriosis identifies the months of June, July and August as the highest risk months of disease for all three states. However, the overall shape of the curve differs across series (Figure 2.4). The Minnesota's annual curvature has the sharpest, narrowest seasonal peak until 2004 at which time the shape coincides closely with Oregon. The seasonal peak in Georgia is more rounded and less severe.

#### 5.0 DISCUSSION

The automatic decomposition procedure resulted in a 4-7% improvement in R<sup>2</sup> over the best regression and ARIMA models. Comparing the three methods, decomposition was the fastest and least technical, achieved normality in the residuals yet was uniformly unsuccessful at achieving white noise. Lack of white noise implies that there is a pattern in the residuals not accounted for by the model. Residual patterns may increase model uncertainty. However, good predictive performance can be achieved without perfect attainment of white noise (291).

The use of ARIMA modelling for disease risk data is well documented (14, 19, 20, 23, 305). It was originally expected that ARIMA methods would be favoured based on previously published use with surveillance data, versatility and available prediction intervals (14). These data show that ARIMA models were closer to achieving white noise in the residuals and improved holdout sample fit statistics in Georgia and Oregon.

Compared with automatic decomposition, this method is technically challenging, requiring significant statistical background for appropriate and accurate implementation. Regression had the poorest model R<sup>2</sup> results. Advantages of regression include the ease of interpretation, computation of prediction intervals, robust and bootstrapping possibilities. Therefore, this technique should not be ruled out for risk forecasting of campylobacteriosis. For all three methods, MSE and MAPE were comparable and indicate accurate forecasting. However, fit statistics for decomposition were uniformly better than the other two methods across states. Furthermore, constant 95% prediction intervals can be manually calculated for decomposition to demonstrate a range in predicted risk values.

A specific strength of automatic decomposition is that it produced accurate monthly campylobacteriosis risk predictions for all three states. A unique characteristic of this technique is that it can be taught to public health officials with minimal statistical background. By combining accuracy with ease of use, improvements in epidemic preparation and timely intervention are attainable at state, regional and national levels (22).

The distinct seasonal pattern of campylobacteriosis may suggest climatic or environmental links to the risk of disease (264, 265, 268). Climate affects the survival and reproduction of *Campylobacter* sp. in the environment and on food sources and previous studies have shown that climatic factors influence disease incidence over time (11-13, 288). Hartnack et al. found significant cross correlations between human incidence, monthly temperature and rainfall (17). The study showed that peak

prevalence in human campylobacteriosis preceded that in German broiler flocks, further implicating environmental versus food borne components to disease risk. Seasonal risk variation may also be due to human behavioural factors such as picnics, barbeques and other outdoor activities (8, 294). Such behaviours may vary depending on the climatic and socioeconomic constraints of a geographic region. The timing of seasonal peaks in our study was comparable across states. This was in contrast to a recent study in Scotland which showed that the prominence of seasonal peak in incidence varied regionally (265). However, both studies demonstrated differences in the shape of the seasonal curve by region or state. Future studies are needed to elucidate the impact of these factors on disease risk by dividing states into unique climatic zones for time series analysis using environmental variables specific to different geographic regions.

Considerable variation was observed in validation data R<sup>2</sup> results across models and states. This may be a reflection of the model's predictive accuracy, shifts in disease patterns or reflect irregular values or outliers in the dataset. In Oregon and Minnesota, aberrant risk values were evident in the year 2006 seasonal peaks (Figure 2.4). These data were not flagged by control charting and were not smoothed prior to the analysis. The presence of outliers, change points or interventions can alter patterns and invalidate forecasts. We believe our results would have improved in these states had the year 2006 followed the typical seasonal curvature. Secondly, surveillance systems can underestimate actual disease risk, and reporting may vary between states. As a result, predictions based on surveillance data should be interpreted with caution.

Over the past twenty years active modern surveillance systems have been implemented in developed nations that offer more accurate statistical prediction capacity than was previously possible (22, 293). Risk data from surveillance systems can be modelled as a means of assessing associations between disease risk and epidemiological factors over time (17, 22). Detecting aberrant disease incidence can signal an impending epidemic (19). Currently, advanced software offers forecasting methods that are applicable for use by public health officials (14, 20, 292). These statistical computing techniques allow interdependence of observations in both time and space to be incorporated into epidemiological models. As a result the temporal structure of risk data may assist epidemiologists in modelling biological, environmental and behavioural factors of disease with greater accuracy than the classical one-dimensional regression framework (306). As demonstrated in this study, these techniques may provide health officials with practical, user friendly and accurate predictive warning systems based solely on previous risk data (20). The models can be implemented and validated monthly for the practical purpose of predicting the risk of campylobacteriosis. This information may be useful for public health professionals in early epidemic alert systems as well as add to our knowledge of seasonal disease patterns over time.

# **CHAPTER 3**

The importance of climatic factors and outliers in predicting regional monthly campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, USA

This chapter is a manuscript that will be submitted for publication in the International Journal of Biometeorology. The authors include: J. Weisent<sup>1\*</sup> W. Seaver<sup>2</sup> A. Odoi<sup>1</sup> B. Rohrbach<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Departments of Comparative Medicine and <sup>2</sup>Statistics, Operations and Management Science, The University of Tennessee, Knoxville TN

<sup>\*</sup>Author for correspondence: J. Weisent, Department of Biological and Diagnostic Services, The University of Tennessee, College of Veterinary Medicine, 205A River Drive, Knoxville, TN 37996, jweisent@utk.edu

My contribution to the paper includes conception of the research idea and review of the literature, data preparation and analysis, interpretation of results, drafting and editing the manuscript.

# **1.0 ABSTRACT**

Incidence of *Campylobacter* infection exhibits a strong seasonal component and regional variations in temperate regions. Forecasting the risk of infection regionally may provide clues to identify direct and indirect sources of transmission affected by temperature and precipitation in different geographic areas. The objectives of this study were to (i) assess temporal patterns and differences in campylobacteriosis risk among nine climatic divisions of Georgia, USA (ii) compare univariate forecasting models with those that incorporate exogenous climate variables and (iii) investigate alternatives to supposedly random walk series and non-random occurrences that could be outliers or interventions.

**Methods:** Temporal patterns of campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, USA were visually and statistically assessed. Univariate and multivariable forecasting models (which included temperature and precipitation) were used to predict the risk of campylobacteriosis and the coefficient of determination ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) was used for evaluating

training (1999 to 2007) and holdout (2008) samples. Statistical control charting and rolling holdout time periods were investigated to better understand the effect of outliers and improve results of divisional time series forecasts.

**Results:** Both state and division level campylobacteriosis risk exhibited seasonal patterns with peaks occurring between June and August, and there were significant regional associations between campylobacteriosis risk, precipitation and temperature. State and combination level forecasts were better than divisions, and forecast models that included climate variables were comparable to univariate methods. While rolling holdout techniques did not improve predictive ability, statistical control charting identified high risk time periods in each division that require further investigation. These findings are important in (i) determining how climatic factors affect environmental sources and reservoirs of *Campylobacter* spp. and (ii) identifying regional spikes in the risk of human *Campylobacter* infection and their underlying causes.

#### 2.0 INTRODUCTION

*Campylobacter* has been identified as a leading cause of human gastroenteritis in developed nations (1, 2) with an estimated one percent of the U.S. population infected annually (3). The bacteria are found throughout the natural environment, as well as in the gastrointestinal tracts of animals and birds (47, 178). Due to geographic diversity in land use, drinking and recreational water sources and human behaviour, establishing associations between campylobacteriosis risk and definitive environmental sources is difficult (8-10, 17, 265, 288).

The incidence of campylobacteriosis varies seasonally and geographically in temperate regions, and tends to be highest during summer months (1, 264, 268, 288). Variation in disease risk may be due to the effects of temperature and rainfall on the survival and reproduction of campylobacters in the environment or on foods sources (11-13). Disease forecasting may provide clues as to how direct and indirect sources of transmission are affected by climate variation in different geographic regions (288). Specifically, investigating associations between temperature and precipitation patterns with the incidence of human campylobacteriosis may help focus efforts to identify the sources of infection and transmission, improve the accuracy of local forecasting, and provide an early warning system to alert epidemiologists and public health officials of potential epidemics (14-17). Research has shown that the seasonal patterns in campylobacteriosis risk vary among geographically diverse regions, yet are consistent within regions over time (10, 307, 308). Investigators have modelled the effect of climate on campylobacteriosis in Europe, Canada, Australia and New Zealand (9, 10, 12, 272, 309). However, regional models that incorporate temperature and precipitation have not been investigated in the United States.

Infectious disease patterns may change or behave erratically in response to biological and anthropogenic factors. Such changes can result in outliers or interventions—non-random deviations from the typical time series pattern. Interventions can take the form of a pulse (outlier), step or ramp, decay, or signify a more complicated directional change in the series. In surveillance data, change points may indicate outbreaks, geographic variation in reporting, and policy or prevention procedural

changes. Outliers can greatly affect forecasting accuracy, and are particularly problematic for prediction when they occur near the end of a series or in the holdout (310). Control charting can be used to detect outliers, and previous interventions can be incorporated into models to understand and improve process performance, as well as improve specification in forecasting and epidemic alert systems (18, 303). In this case study, some suggestions are made to provide practical ways of dealing with outlier issues in surveillance data.

The objectives of this study were to (i) assess temporal patterns and variations in campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia's nine climatic divisions (ii) compare univariate time series forecasting models with those that incorporate exogenous climate variables (precipitation and temperature) and (iii) investigate alternatives to supposedly random walk series and non random occurrences that could be outliers or interventions. We hypothesize that regional variations in temperature and precipitation affect campylobacteriosis risk over time. Study findings provide early indications of irregularities in disease incidence and therefore guide disease control programs that are based on empirical forecast results (14, 20, 22, 23).

# 3.0 METHODS

#### 3.1 Study Area

The study was conducted in the state of Georgia which covers over 54,000 square miles and is characterized by a humid subtropical climate that varies greatly with topography (sea level to over 4,700 feet in elevation). Approximately 114 cm (40 inches) of rain fall in the central regions and 180 cm (75 inches) fall annually in the northeast

mountains (311). Summers are hot and humid with an average daily temperature close to 90°F (32°C) and winters tend to be mild, but are cooler in the mountains and piedmont than in the coastal and southernmost regions of the state.

Since the late 1950's the National Climatic Data Center (NCDC) has been recording and assessing temperature, precipitation and other climate indices based on geographic divisions across the United States (312). Georgia contains nine adjacent divisions (Figure 3.1.a, courtesy of the NCDC Climate Prediction Center). Division 3 had the lowest population (219,400) and Division 2, which includes Atlanta, the largest metropolitan area in the state, had the highest (3,875,000). The average population for the state of Georgia during the study years was approximately 8,828,600.

#### 3.2 Data Sources and Preparation

Campylobacteriosis case data for the state of Georgia were obtained from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet), a program implemented by The Center for Disease Control and Prevention in Atlanta, Georgia (313). A case was defined as a laboratory-confirmed stool or blood sample that tested positive for *Campylobacter*. Names of patients were deleted prior to release of data to investigators and cases identified as travel-related were removed from the dataset to ensure consistent regional risk estimates. The study was approved by The University of Tennessee Institutional Review Board.

Campylobacteriosis case data were aggregated using SAS version 9.2 into counts, by month per county, over the ten year study period (1999-2008), resulting in 120 equally spaced data points (300). *Campylobacter* case counts were then

aggregated at the division level (159 counties share exact boundaries with 9 divisions), and merged with annual NCDC division level climate data.

The measure of disease frequency used as the time series variable in this study was monthly campylobacteriosis risk. Risk was defined as the probability that an individual will develop campylobacteriosis during the study period (7). Divisional risks were created in SAS by combining county level U.S. Census Bureau annual population estimates as denominator data (301). The risk estimates were presented as the number of cases per 100,000 people, and a very small number (0.01) was uniformly added to the risk to account for a few zero values in the series.

#### 3.3 Pattern Analysis, Cross Correlations and Outlier Identification

The divisional time series were plotted to visualise trend, seasonal patterns and potential outliers. Autocorrelation (ACF) and partial autocorrelation plots (PACF) were analyzed for seasonal, autoregressive and moving average patterns. Cross correlations were calculated between campylobacteriosis risk and precipitation and temperature for each time series. Cross correlations are a measure of similarity between X and Y as a function of a time lag (t=month) applied to Y ( $Y_{t+k}$ , up to the k<sup>th</sup> order). Kruskal-Wallis one-way non-parametric analysis of variance was used to verify seasonality (P<0.05) in a univariate way, and to identify potential outliers based on monthly medians. Control charts were also used to locate individual outliers (303). Case information on potential outliers was checked for outbreak status. While there is always a potential for outliers to be outbreak-related, outbreak reporting for campylobacteriosis surveillance data was not reliably collected for the study period.

# 3.4 Time series analysis

A flow chart was used to organize the time series analysis in a logical sequence (Figure 3.2). Time series regression, decomposition, Box-Jenkins Autoregressive Integrated Moving Averages (ARIMA) and Winter's Exponential Smoothing were initially used to analyse all datasets in the Number Cruncher Statistical System (NCSS) (302). Models were quantitatively evaluated for predictive ability and goodness of fit using standardized pseudo R<sup>2</sup>, calculated as one minus the sum of the residuals squared divided by the total sum of squares:

$$R_{pseudo}^{2} = 1.0 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \overline{y})^{2}}$$

The focus was then narrowed to those models with the best fit.

An automated multiplicative model decomposed the series into trend ( $T_t$ ), season ( $S_t$ ), cyclic ( $C_t$ ) and error ( $E_t$ ) components in NCSS (302) as follows:

$$Y_t = T_t \cdot S_t \cdot C_t \cdot E_t$$

Ordinary least squares regression was used to evaluate the series parameters of trend, month and year for each division. The best fitting additive time series regression model included the intercept, linear trend, month (seasonal component) and error terms shown respectively below:

$$Y_{t} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} x_{trend} + \sum_{i=2}^{p=12} \beta_{i} d_{i} + \varepsilon_{t}$$

External variables (precipitation and temperature) were entered and compared. Two and three month moving averages for precipitation were investigated for the effect of accumulated rainfall on campylobacteriosis risk. The SAS forecasting system was then used to compare models. For example, ARIMA patterns or high end outliers (interventions) were checked for significance in the model residual. For regression models, variables were retained based on model significance and significance of regression coefficients (P<0.05), improvement of predictive value ( $R^2$ ) and lack of collinearity.

Division combination datasets were created by averaging division case counts, population data and climatic data to compare and improve upon forecasting results. The combinations included divisions 1-3, 4-6 and 7-9, and were based on proximity and topographical features (Appalachian mountain range, piedmont and lowland plains, coast and swamp) (Figure 3.1.b, courtesy of the U.S. Geological Society)(311, 314). Modeling and control charting were applied to these series as previously described.

Years spanning 1999 to 2007 were used to model each series and the year 2008 was held out of the data set for model validation, since it was the most recent, and important (310). Residual time series plots were checked for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk's goodness of fit test. The Portmanteau test was used to assess if patterns in the data had been fully extracted during the modeling process and resulted in "white noise", or random scatter, in the residuals (299).
### 3.5 Statistical control charting & holdout sample variation

Conservative ARIMA (0,0,0)(0,1,1) models were fit for all time series, as process control does not require precise, individual model specification (303). For these data, nonseasonal parameters were not significant. The raw residuals were divided by the root mean square error and scatterplots of the standardized residuals used to identify points that were greater than three standard deviations from zero, or "out of control" (303).

For divisions with known outliers in or near the holdout, or those with poor holdout performance, a moving holdout period that spanned the last 24 months of data (2007-2008) was constructed. Coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) values were calculated and averaged for five holdouts with 12 month horizons (holdout months 1-12, 4-15, 7-18, 10-21 & 13-24). The training period was evaluated up to the beginning of each of the five holdout periods and the average compared with the holdout results from 2008.

#### 4.0 RESULTS

#### 4.1 Temporal Patterns of Campylobacteriosis Risk

The time series for Georgia campylobacteriosis risk is scaled and displayed with temperature and precipitation and shows a slight downward trend (P<0.01) (Figure 3.3). Monthly risks ranged from 0.236-1.191 per 100,000 (mean=0.593) (Table 3.1). Division risks were scaled for display with precipitation (Figure 3.4 a-i), and ranged from 0 (in all divisions except Division 2) to 4.97 per 100,000 (Division 3) (Table 3.1). Divisions 3, 5, and 7-9 showed no significant trend whereas Division 2 and 4 had slight downward trends (P<0.01) and Division 1 trended slightly upward (P<0.05). Autocorrelation Function Plots (not shown) indicated a strong seasonal pattern with potential

autoregressive and moving average components. The patterns were not clean, implying that there could be outliers, unidentified patterns in the series, or both. Kruskal-Wallis results verified seasonality in all series except Division 3, where the median risk between months did not vary significantly (P>0.05).

A consistent seasonal peak between June and August, (highest risk in July for most series) was identified in all divisions, including Georgia. In some divisions, for some years, the peak began early. For example, in the year 2000, risks were higher in May than any other year. The seasonal peak extended into September, sporadically, across divisions and years. Division 3 seasonality did not vary significantly by month, yet the June through August peak is visually evident, although less pronounced, than the other divisions.

To illustrate an example of the unique relationship between campylobacteriosis risk and precipitation, we compared Divisions 1 & 9 (Figure 3.4a & i) from January 2005 to 2008. In 2005 when precipitation levels were "normal" (drought categories in quotes determined by U.S. Drought Monitor indices (315)), risk and precipitation mirror one another in shape and magnitude. In April 2006, Georgia entered a period of "abnormally dry" weather that increased to "moderate drought" by mid-June. By the end of August drought conditions were severe in a majority of the state, and stayed dry, with ranging severity, until the end of 2008. The time series patterns of 2005 may be reflective of normal rainfall. This was followed by risk and precipitation patterns that were muted and divergent, but still cohesive, during the beginning of the drought in 2006. A distinct increase in risk is evident in 2007 that continues throughout 2008 following two years of

persistent drought conditions. This general pattern is also identified in Divisions 2, 7 & 8 (Fig. 4b, g & h) and at the state level (Figure 3.3). There is no simple visual or statistical way to confirm the exact nature of the relationship between campylobacterioisis risk and precipitation based on monthly variations in risk. However, it is possible that the relationship follows a complex cyclic or parabolic curve or is regionally dependent and requires further investigation that is beyond the scope of this study.

#### 4.2 Cross Correlations & Outlier Identification

Cross correlations between risk and temperature were strongest at time zero, lags 1, 6 and 12 on all series (Table 3.1). Cross correlations for precipitation were weak and highly variable with the highest positive correlation for Georgia at time zero (0.31) and the highest negative correlation in Division 9 (-0.35, lag 6). The strong seasonality of campylobacteriosis risk contributed to the strength and timing of the cross correlations with temperature, and the weak correlations between risk and precipitation may be due to erratic regional patterns.

Outliers were not identified in the overall Georgia time series. Between one and two outliers were flagged in each division and combination series using Kruskal-Wallis monthly median analysis and/or control charts. All of the divisional series except Division 2 contained zero values, notably Division 3 (19/120, 15.8%), Division 6 (25/120, 20.8%), and Division 7 (18/120, 15%) (Table 3.1). However, these low-end values were not statistically significant outliers.

## 4.3 Forecasting Results and Comparisons

Time series regression models were significant (P<0.05) globally and for individual model coefficients. The best prediction results were obtained from the aggregated datasets (Georgia, then the combinations) followed by Divisions 2 & 6 (Table 3.2). Decomposition and time series regression forecasting results and holdouts were comparable (within  $R^2=10\%$ ) (Table 3.2), suggesting that one can forecast campylobacteriosis using a classical univariate modeling approach, or by incorporating external climate variables, with similar results. In Divisions 3, 4, 7 and combinations 1-3 and 4-6, models with external variables, inclusive of interventions showed marginal improvement over decomposition.

Temperature was significant (P<0.05) in univariate regression models with impact ranging from  $R^2$ =10% in Division 6, to 51% for the whole state (Table 3.2). Precipitation had a significant positive relationship with campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, the three combinations, and Divisions 2, 3, 6, & 9. The  $R^2$  contribution of precipitation was less than 10% when modeled alone, but improved model significance when included in multivariable models for Georgia, combination 1-3, and Divisions 2, 3, 6, & 9. The three month moving average for precipitation tested the cumulative (three month) effect of rainfall on campylobacteriosis risk and tended to decrease the predictive performance ( $R^2$ ) of the divisional models by 3-10%, but improved performance for Georgia by 3% and combination 4-6 by 5%.

While the Georgia model did well on the holdout for both decomposition and time series regression, holdout R<sup>2</sup> was low for most divisions (R<sup>2</sup><40%). Decomposition models had more issues attaining white noise than did time series regression (regression models all

achieved white noise in the residuals). Most models had residuals with normal distributions (P<0.05). However, in some cases (Table 3.2), the presence of a few outliers hampered the achievement of normality, which may distort the regression fit and inflate significance tests.

## 4.4 Statistical control charting and holdout variation results

Control charting for outlier detection served two important purposes: (i) outliers were able to be incorporated into forecasting models to improve prediction and (ii) "out of control" months could be further investigated for regional outbreak potential. Control charts indicated at least one outlier in all divisions except Division 9 and Combination 7-9. The flagged observations are as follows: State of Georgia (July 2003), Division 1 (July 2007), Division 2 (June 1999), Division 3 (June 2005), Division 4 (February 1999 & January 2007), Division 5 (May 2000), Division 6 (August 2001 & June 2003), Division 7 (August 2001 & August 2003), Division 8 (December 2002), Combination 1-3 (June 2005), Combination 4-6 (May 2000 & June 2003). All outliers were high-end (data point above 3 standard deviations from zero) and most (except those in Divisions 4 & 8) occurred during the seasonal spring-summer peak. The moving holdout variation only marginally improved forecasting for Division 4, and results for Divisions 1 & 9 were worse than those from the initial 2008 holdout sample (Figure 3.5). While moving holdout trials proved unsuccessful in improving results, incorporating control charting may be useful for outbreak detection as well as improving forecasting.

## 5.0 DISCUSSION

Although the seasonality of campylobacteriosis has been well documented worldwide, no studies have compared univariate vs. multivariable forecasting

approaches in the United States. Our study confirmed a distinct seasonal peak in campylobacteriosis risk between June and August. However, unique variation that was consistent over time was identified among the nine divisions. Risk may differ regionally as a result of differences in sources of infection and urban verses rural residential status of individuals (9, 265). Regional differences in weather conditions, temperature and precipitation impact the surrounding environment, as well as contamination and carriage rates in animal and water reservoirs. Studies suggest that environmental sources are responsible for the nearly simultaneous increase in rates in poultry and human populations (269, 270). Similarly, the seasonal distribution patterns of campylobacters found in sewage and animal feces have been correlated with human infections (88, 94, 247, 266). In a Georgia ecological study, the highest *Campylobacter* counts were found in natural waters during the summer (99) coinciding with high summer time disease risk in our study. The role of regional factors on disease reservoirs and risk has yet to be elucidated, and it is unclear whether animals and the environment are being seasonally contaminated, re-infected or subject to natural, biological, or management-related fluctuations in Campylobacter over time.

In our study, models that forecast campylobacteriosis risk using temperature and precipitation were comparable to models based solely on inherent patterns in the data. However, the time series regression models that included climatic factors improved model specification, as demonstrated by attainment of white noise in the residuals. We expected climatic factors to be important as previous studies have shown these variables to influence disease risk, as well as affect the survival and reproduction of

*Campylobacter* spp. in the environment and on food sources (11, 12, 268, 288). Seasonal increases in sunlight hours and warmer temperatures have a direct effect on human activities that increase exposure to *Campylobacter* sources (9). Known risk factors such as consumption of untreated water, contact with farm animals (268, 269), swimming, camping, barbecuing and other outdoor recreation (261, 263) have been linked with increased seasonal risk and may also be due to changes in environmental sources of contamination (9).

#### 5.1 Temperature

In univariate models, 10 to 50% of campylobacteriosis risk was attributable solely to temperature (at time zero). These results are consistent with previous research that links warmer temperatures with increases in campylobacteriosis risk (10, 12, 309). Tam and colleagues found that a  $1^{\circ}$ C rise in temperature corresponded with a 5% increase in reported cases, up to  $14^{\circ}$ C in England (268). In Sweden, mean annual temperature was associated with a slightly increased risk of campylobacteriosis (RR 1.05 [95% CI:1.03-1.07]) (212). Patrick et al. found that high temperatures four weeks prior to infection were good predictors (R<sup>2</sup>=68%) of human incidence in Denmark (11). The timing and the extent to which temperature affects campylobacteriosis risk vary considerably worldwide. In a study that included Europe, Canada, Australia and New Zealand, only temperature increases 10-14 weeks prior to elevations in human infection were statistically significant (P=.05) (267). In an Australian study, temperatures in subtropical Brisbane were positively correlated with campylobacteriosis whereas in Adelaide, a temperate city, temperature had an inverse correlation (272). In our multivariable

models, temperature at time zero, or at the six month lag, outperformed the one month lag and improved results, suggesting that regional differences play an important role in the effect of temperature on risk. Complex interactions between climate factors such as sunlight, temperature and humidity make it difficult to assess the direct impact between different regions (11). While there is no absolute standard to quantify, or pinpoint a time frame for the importance of temperature, we were able to do so, regionally, in Georgia for the study period.

Correlations observed between temperature and disease risk may be associated with the presence of migratory birds, insects and flies, that play an important temperature-dependent role in transmission of disease (113, 117, 272). Temperature has a strong influence on carriage and contamination rates in wild birds, insects and rodents, as well as survival of *Campylobacter* in the environment (11, 70, 251). We suspect that the importance of temperature on campylobacteriosis risk may be dependent on the influence of regional environmental disease reservoirs, be they natural (i.e. water, wild animals) or anthropogenic (i.e. agriculture, land use). Further investigation is warranted to determine if the seasonal patterns identified in our study, on a regional level, provide useful insight into transmission routes, as well as pathogen and host specific interactions (308). Local public health officials must become knowledgeable about respective regional environments in order to identify and investigate important variations in risk factors for campylobacteriosis.

## 5.2 Precipitation

Precipitation patterns for the divisions correspond visually with campylobacteriosis risk during isolated sets of months, despite wide, erratic variations over the study period (Figure 3.4 a-i). This suggests that precipitation may be an important baseline factor and that divergent patterns are due to unknown local factors and spikes in campylobacteriosis risk. Precipitation was not strongly predictive in our study (<10% R<sup>2</sup>). Similarly, authors of a study in 2004 found that precipitation explained only 6% of the variation in human incidence in Denmark (11). To further understand this relationship, other seasonal and regional factors and outliers that may distort or diminish the association between precipitation and campylobacteriosis risk should be investigated.

As indicated by our case study of years 2005-2009 (Division 1 & 9), climatic factors may combine to invoke a "threshold" at which the cumulative impact of summer induces an exponential biological or behavioral increase in the risk of campylobacteriosis, or causes outbreaks that are undetected by current surveillance. Our data showed an icrease in risk during drought. While rainfall has been shown to improve survival of the bacteria in the environment and in fecal pats, and increase leaching (11, 251), drought conditions may concentrate bacterial loads. In regions where summer is characterized by increased rainfall and flooding, pathogen levels are magnified as fecal material is transferred from land to surface waters (233, 250). A study in Germany found significant cross-correlations between human incidence, monthly temperature and rainfall, with peak prevalence in human campylobacteriosis

preceding the peak in broiler flocks (17). This suggests that environmental sources, as opposed to food/poultry were an important contribution to disease risk. For example, the northeast region of Georgia is well known for animal production, specifically intensive poultry farms. Therefore, understanding the regional cause of increased risk should include investigation of the animal production industry, its effects on the surrounding environment, and the populations at risk.

Results of the three month moving average for precipitation (improved predictions for Georgia as a whole vs. worsened divisional predictions) suggest that the predictive sense may be unique to each division. i.e., smoothing diluted the association between campylobacteriosis risk and precipitation at the division-level. The regional relationship between precipitation and campylobacteriosis risk may explain why studies that use data over large areas do not observe an association (10). Analogous to a magnifying lens, whereby "zooming out" (smoothing or aggregating data), conveys a broader sense of the relationship, "zooming in" captures the detail, as well as the anomalies. Public health officials should objectively and qualitatively assess time periods where campylobacteriosis risk diverges from typical regional precipitation patterns and investigate the potential causes. In doing so, decisions for control and prevention are based on empirical evidence.

#### 5.3 Statistical Control Charts and outliers

In our study, control charts served to focus attention on specific time periods of high campylobacteriosis risk. While it may be useful to identify erratic points in an aggregated dataset (state or combination level), the division level control charts narrow

the focus of investigation. For example, May 2000 and June 2003 were flagged in the combination 4-6 series, and further identified in Divisions 5 & 6 respectively. Traditional models often incorporate smoothing, robust methods or model interventions to meet assumptions, thereby sculpting a state of statistical control. According to Alwan and Roberts, improving our ability to distinguish between special causes and common causes (in this case, for example, outbreaks vs. known seasonality) justifies the effort to identify an "out of control process" (303). Alternatively, statistical control charting can be used as a guideline to assess expected vs. observed level of risk (18) and serve to augment predictive models when patterns are erratic.

In the poorest performing divisions with outliers (Divisions 1 & 4) and without outliers (Division 9) we were unable to identify the point of tension in the series whereby the analysis could be improved or refined with a moving holdout. Excessive variation, randomness or outliers in the 24 month holdout period, holdout or horizon lengths, or a combination of these may have contributed to the lack of improvement. While outliers near the end of a series or in a holdout can have severe effects on forecasting ability and accuracy (310), incorporating moving holdouts may be impractical in the realm of public health when model improvement is not a guarantee, and the process requires expertise and can be time consuming. We recommend that these methods be reserved for time series with forecasts that are significantly improved (>10% R<sup>2</sup>) as a result of accounting for such outliers.

### 6.0 Limitations

Considerable variation was observed in results among divisions and irregular patterns, randomness or outliers decreased forecasting accuracy (316). The presence of outliers, change points or interventions can alter patterns and invalidate forecasts and the effect of zero values in these series is unclear. Low or high disease counts and potential outbreaks should be verified and addressed using multiple techniques and sources of information when available. In addition, the use of external variables for forecasting increases model uncertainty. In these situations, a decision must be made as to what objectives are most important—accurate predictions or understanding biological and epidemiological patterns.

The divisional datasets illustrate potential real life dilemmas such as small number problems, unidentified outbreaks, variations and inconsistencies inherent in surveillance data. Surveillance systems tend to underestimate actual disease risk, and reporting may vary within states. As a result, predictions based on surveillance data should be interpreted with caution.

The models and divisions varied in the ability to achieve normality and/or white noise in the residuals. Lack of white noise may increase model uncertainty or indicate misspecification, as patterns in the residuals are not accounted for. However, models without perfect attainment of white noise can have valid results (291), and poor predictive performance was likely due to outliers as opposed to issues of model specification.

## 7.0 Conclusions

Regional climatic factors and statistical control charting improve models for predicting monthly campylobacteriosis risk, particularly when there are erratic, nonrandom patterns in the time series. Control charts can serve as an early warning system by detecting irregularities in campylobacteriosis risk at the division level. While forecasting on aggregated data (Georgia, or combinations of divisions) resulted in improved explanation of the variance in risk in decomposition models and multivariable time series regression, the patterns and climatic associations (temperature and precipitation) identified at the division level highlight how important information can be gleaned from finer levels of analysis. Public health officials can more readily address specific "out of control" risk estimates in a timely manner by focusing investigations on the causal factors that relate directly to their regions. Climate information can be rapidly and freely obtained, therefore assessing the baseline impact of temperature and precipitation, may be a useful "real time" alternative for those who do not have ready access to surveillance data. The descriptive information, temporally housed in empirical *Campylobacter* disease risk data may also improve our understanding of biological, environmental and behavioural drivers of disease. Furthermore, modeling and comparing campylobacteriosis patterns in regions with different environmental characteristics may help to identify regional differences in transmission routes, sources and reservoirs with greater accuracy.

# **CHAPTER 4**

Detection of high risk campylobacteriosis clusters at three geographic levels

This chapter is a manuscript that has been published in the journal Geospatial Health (Geospat Health; 6 (1), 2011,65-76). The authors include: J. Weisent<sup>1</sup> B. Rohrbach<sup>1</sup> J.R.Dunn<sup>2</sup> A. Odoi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Comparative and Experimental Medicine, The University of Tennessee, College of Veterinary Medicine, 205A River Drive, Knoxville TN 37996

<sup>2</sup>Tennessee Department of Health, Communicable and Environmental Disease Service, 1st Floor, Cordell Hull Bldg. 425 5th Ave. North, Nashville, TN 37243

My contribution to the paper includes conception of the research idea and review of the literature, data preparation and analysis, interpretation of results, drafting and editing the manuscript.

## 1.0 Abstract

**Background:** Campylobacteriosis is a leading cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States and many other developed countries. Understanding the spatial distribution of this disease and identifying high risk areas is vital to focus resources for prevention and control measures. In addition, determining the appropriate scale for geographic analysis of surveillance data is an area of concern to epidemiologists and public health officials. The purpose of the study was to (i) compare standardized risk estimates for campylobacteriosis in Tennessee over three distinct geographic scales (census tract, zip code and county subdivision), and (ii) identify and investigate high risk spatial clustering of campylobacteriosis at the three geographic scales to determine if clustering is scale dependent.

**Results:** Significant high risk clusters (p<0.05) were detected at all three spatial scales. There were overlaps in regions of high risk and clusters at all three geographic levels. At the census tract level, spatial analysis identified smaller clusters of finer resolution

and detected more clusters than the other two levels. However, data aggregation at zip code or county subdivision yielded similar findings.

**Conclusions:** The importance of this line of research is to create a framework whereby economically efficient disease control strategies become more attainable through improved geographic precision and risk detection. Accurate identification of disease clusters for campylobacteriosis can enable public health personnel to focus scarce resources towards prevention and control programs on the most at risk populations. Consistent results at multiple spatial levels highlight the robustness of the geospatial techniques utilized in this study. Furthermore, analyses at the zip code and county subdivision levels can be useful when address level information (finer resolution data) are not available. These procedures may also be used to help identify regionally specific risk factors for campylobacteriosis.

#### 2.0 Introduction

*Campylobacter* are motile, spiral shaped, gram negative bacteria found ubiquitously in the environment (47, 178). The organisms have been identified as a leading cause of human gastroenteritis in developed nations (1, 2). *Campylobacter* is estimated to cause illness in over 1,300,000 people in the United States annually resulting in approximately 13,000 hospitalizations (317). *Campylobacter* species are found in a wide variety of sources and can be isolated from foods, sewage and water. As a result, causative associations between sporadic human infections and environmental sources are difficult to ascertain (4). The risk of disease has been linked

to a complex set of determinants, including geographic region, climate patterns, human behavior, and recreational water and land use (8-10). While the incidence of campylobacteriosis varies seasonally and geographically, the reasons behind this variation are not clearly understood (264, 307). In the United States, Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) identifies marked geographic variations in the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection (24). Incidence also differs considerably between countries based on health care seeking behavior and laboratory culturing practices (184). In 2009, the U.S. incidence of *Campylobacter* infection was 13.0 per 100,000 population, with a rate in Tennessee of 8.2 cases per 100,000 population(24). Despite the lower overall incidence, Tennessee public health officials seek a better understanding of why and where this disease is occurring. Studies have been performed in Denmark, Norway and Canada to characterize spatial patterns of campylobacteriosis (8, 225, 318). For example, Green and colleagues (2006) detected the highest incidence in rural and agricultural regions with high densities of farm animals. The use of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and spatial statistics to identify high risk regions serves to support and expand current knowledge on the mechanisms of transmission and geographic risk factors for this disease. Furthermore, geospatial tools provide epidemiologists and public health officials with a starting point from which to assess potential geographic associations and risk factors.

A major goal in the application of spatial statistics is to make meaningful inferences from available geographic data (26, 27). For this reason, understanding the impact of spatial scale on the assessment of health outcomes is a topic of great

importance. A number of studies exist which utilize cluster detection and mapping techniques to identify high risk regions for infectious diseases (31-33). Recent studies have also compared techniques for ecological analyses and employed a variety of geographic scales for understanding health outcomes and disparities (29, 319, 320). However, few studies compare the differences in spatial patterns of disease at more than one level. Tian et al. (2010) explored the impact of geographic scale on breast cancer mortality among ethnic groups in Texas and found that the location of racial disparities changed depending on geographic level. This suggests that risk factors play different roles at different levels of aggregation. Odoi et al. (2003) compared giardiasis rates in Ontario Canada at two levels. Results showed spatial clustering of high rates at the smaller Census Sub-division scale, but not at the Census Division. Results of similar studies vary and there is no consensus on what geographic scale is most appropriate, precise or useful for surveillance data (28-30).

Despite inconsistency encountered in the literature, the choice of spatial scale may be crucial when investigating spatial patterns of disease. This choice is subject to the modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP) as well as the potential for ecological fallacy as described by Openshaw (321). The MAUP applies to potential problems in both spatial scaling and zoning whereby conclusions and inferences may differ depending on the spatial level of analysis and type of areal divisions. From a public health standpoint, the utility of surveillance data is oftentimes limited by the level to which it can be aggregated and analyzed. Consistent analytical results over multiple geographic scales serve to validate spatial statistical techniques as well as the reliability of the data used

for a given study area. To our knowledge, no studies to date have been conducted to explore the direct impact of geographic scale on results of spatial cluster investigation using aggregated campylobacteriosis data.

## **3.0 MATERIALS & METHODS**

#### 3.1 Study Area & Data Sources

The study area encompassed the entire U.S. state of Tennessee which has a land area 66,332.5 square kilometers and is the 36<sup>th</sup> largest out of 50 states. The estimated population in the year 2000 was 5,689,276 (approximately 63 people per square kilometer) (301). Campylobacteriosis surveillance data covering the period from September 1, 1991 to December 31, 2008 were provided by the Tennessee Department of Health. A case of campylobacteriosis was defined as culture-confirmed infection from a clinical specimen, typically stool or blood. Species and strain information were not reported. Participating laboratories are part of both a national and state-wide active surveillance system(24). This study received The University of Tennessee Institution Review Board approval, and all cases (n=4,723) were de-identified to maintain anonymity and confidentiality.

Cartographic boundary files were obtained at the census tract (n=1261), zip code (n=612) and county subdivision spatial levels (n=462) from the U.S. Census Bureau Tiger Files (2000)(322). These three spatial units are delineated as 'statistical geographic entities' by the U.S Census Bureau. Census tracts are the smallest units used in this study. They typically contain between 2,500 and 8,000 people and are

relatively homogeneous with respect to population characteristics and socioeconomic conditions. The 5 digit zip code areas are categories used by the U.S. Postal Service to group mailing addresses. Cartographic boundaries, specifically zip codes boundaries and numbers are subject to change over time. Unlike census tracts and county subdivisions, which are both subunits of counties, zip codes may cross county boundaries and occasionally cross state lines. For instance, Tennessee contains one small zip code (42223, area142.4 km<sup>2</sup>), located on the northern, central border which crosses the state boundary with Kentucky. All population denominator data, including the U.S. standard population used for risk standardization were obtained from the year 2000 U.S. Census.

## 3.2 Geocoding and Data Aggregation

The complete Tennessee dataset consisted of 4,723 campylobacteriosis cases. Initial data exploration for errors, repeat specimens, normality and outliers, as well as preparation and formatting for geocoding, was performed in SAS version 9.2 (300). A total of 130 (2.75%) of the cases were identified as travel-related, 40 (0.85%) which lacked address information, and 24 (0.51%) repeat specimens were excluded during the cleaning and geocoding process. To allow for age and sex standardization, an additional 4 cases with missing sex information and 135 with missing age information were excluded from future analysis. A total of 967 (20.5%) cases were excluded from the dataset. From a geographical standpoint, these included 128 (2.7%) cases that contained information only at county level, 164 (3.5%) cases with only zip code level

information, 228 cases (4.8%) containing only Post Office Box numbers and 244 cases (5.2%) with addresses that were not geocodable.

Geocoding was performed using both Googlemaps (323) and Yahoo Maps Geocoder through BatchGeo (324). An iterative process was undertaken to accurately match location data to the lowest level, or finest possible scale. This included manually matching address data to its exact latitude and longitude. The dataset utilized in the final analysis included 3,756 cases with 2,638 cases at rooftop accuracy and 1,118 cases at street level accuracy. An observation coded to the 'rooftop' is precisely matched to its address on the ground. The 'street level', also referred to as 'range interpolated' accuracy, matched the case to an interpolated point on the road where the address would be located if the exact street number were unavailable. Each point was represented as a latitude and longitude coordinate and mapped in ArcGIS (325). A point-in-polygon join was then used to merge the campylobacteriosis data to the census tract, zip code and county subdivision cartographic boundary files.

To assess for systematic differences in spatial distribution of cases retained in the dataset and those excluded, the observations in the unused portion of the dataset, with the exception of the 40 cases lacking location information, were mapped separately to the highest available accuracy level and visualized. No visual difference in spatial distribution was detected between the dataset used for analysis and the observations that were eliminated. By maintaining only the cases at the lowest, most accurate level of geocoding (rooftop and street), we sought to maximize the strength of the relationship between the three aggregate geographic levels and disease risk (326).

## 3.3 Standardization

Campylobacteriosis typically demonstrates a bimodal age distribution (peaks occurring in children under 5 years of age and young adults), and it occurs more frequently in males (1, 76). In addition, gender specific incidence has been shown to vary considerably among a wide variety of age groups (122). To account for these differences in risk, the population was grouped by sex and subdivided into six age categories: 0-4, 5-19, 20-39, 40-59, 60-74, 75 and older. Age and sex standardization was then performed at all three geographic levels using STATA version 9.0 (327) with adjusted risk estimates presented as number of cases per 100,000 population. The estimates were classified into five categories using Jenk's optimization method, a common statistical technique available within ArcMap (325) which creates cut points based on inherent patterns in the data.

#### **3.4 Spatial Analysis**

#### 3.4.1 Smoothing

Visualization of disease patterns can be distorted by spatial autocorrelation and excessively high variances often encountered in geographic areas with low disease counts and/or low background populations. To allow for better visualization, spatial empirical Bayesian (SEB) smoothing technique was implemented in GeoDa version 095i (328) using counts obtained by the standardization procedure. The SEB smoothing was used to adjust for spatial autocorrelation and mitigate the small numbers problem (329). The raw risk data were smoothed at each of the spatial levels, using first order Queen spatial weights. In keeping with Tobler's first law of geography (330), Queen

weighting gives greater influence to regions directly surrounding each areal unit of analysis. The SEB smoothing technique thereby maintains the integrity of the risk distribution without over-smoothing or creating a homogenous surface (26, 27).

#### 3.4.2 Cluster Detection

Cluster detection was performed using Kulldorff's spatial scan statistic, implemented in SaTScan version 8.2.1 (331). The Poisson probability model was fit and estimates adjusted for sex and age in the analysis. Statistical significance was assessed at p-value <0.05 and performed using 999 Monte Carlo iterations. Scanning parameters included circular clusters of high risk only, with no geographic overlap. There is a lack of comprehensive knowledge as to effect of the scanning window size on disease cluster results. For this study, the maximum scanning window size incorporated 3% of the total population at risk and was chosen *a priori* with consideration to the low infectivity of the bacteria, geographic area and units of study. Window sizes of 5% and 10% were run post hoc to explore how cluster results vary by window size at the three geographic levels.

## 4.0 RESULTS

#### 4.1 Risk estimates and smoothing

County subdivision campylobacteriosis raw risk estimates ranged from 0 (n=89) to 498 per 100,000 population (median=55.0). Zip code area estimates ranged from 0 (n=168) to 4,254 per 100,000 population (median=49.8). Census tract risk estimates were highly variable, ranging from 0 (n=241, median=53.8) to 13,122 per 100,000 persons, (raw risk maps not presented). Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed maps

(Figures 4.1-3) demonstrate similar regions of elevated risk for the three spatial levels with the finest detail captured at the census tract level. From a broad perspective, these areas include the east Tennessee valley surrounding Knoxville, Cookeville and the region south of metropolitan Nashville-Davidson, in the central portion of the state. These regions are most clearly visualized at the county subdivision level (Figure 4.1), due to a combination of large size polygons and tighter range in risk estimates. The highest risk class category for both zip code and census tract spatial levels (Figures 4.2 & 4.3) contained outliers after smoothing (as detected by box plots, not shown). These included one small urban zip code area (37902) located beside the Tennessee River within Knoxville city limits (Figure 4.2 c) and the two highest census tract level risks located in the regions of Center Point (smoothed risk 12,808.5 per 100,000) and Philadelphia (smoothed risk 6196.7 per 100,000) as indicated in dark purple (Figure 4.3 a-d).

#### 4.2 Cluster detection

According to cluster detection results, the high risk areas (p<0.05) surround Knoxville, Maynardville and Jefferson City, south of metropolitan Nashville-Davidson, Cookeville, Murfreesboro, Shelbyville, Franklin and Oak Ridge (Figure 4.4 a-c & Table 4.1). Regions east and west of the city of Knoxville were detected as clusters at all three spatial scales. Shelbyville, Kingsport and Lawrenceburg were identified as unique, singular, census tract clusters (Table 4.1) with very high relative risks (12.1, 5.8, 9.0 respectively). The Kingsport and Lawrenceburg areas were only identified as high risk clusters at the census tract level, with Kingsport being too small for visual identification on the state map. In comparison, Kingsport ranked 29<sup>th</sup> and Lawrenceburg ranked 19<sup>th</sup> highest out of the 1261 tracts from the census tract unsmoothed, standardized risk results. The other single tract cluster is represented by the city of Shelbyville (ranked 12<sup>th</sup> highest in risk). The Shelbyville area is included as part of a larger cluster identified in zip code and county subdivision analyses.

An overlay map of the clusters (Figure 4.5 a-c) shows that the high risk clusters occur at consistently similar locations around Cookeville, east Knoxville and south Murfreesboro at all three spatial levels (labels excluded to aid visualization). The Franklin area, seen at the top most, western cluster contains a comparable overlay at the zip code and census tract levels, but not county subdivision. Other differences can be visualized in the easternmost cluster (Cluster 3, Table 4.1). At the zip code level this cluster encompasses a larger region of high risk, north and west of Oak Ridge (Figure 4.5). Furthermore, county subdivision analysis uniquely detected the Philadelphia area (Cluster 5, Table 4.1).

#### 4.3 Alternate scanning window analysis

The larger scanning window sizes of 5% and 10% resulted in clusters covering similar regions, with some variation, at all three levels. As an example, consecutively larger cluster sizes (incorporation of greater number of areal units) were found at the county subdivision level as the window size was increased (Figure 4.6 a-c). Similar overall expansion of cluster size was found at the census tract and zip code levels (maps not shown). Regardless of the scan window size, the Lawrenceburg and Kingsport regions were not identified as clusters in the county subdivision analysis.

### 5.0 DISCUSSION

The results of both the smoothing and spatial scan analyses show the general regions surrounding Knoxville and Cookeville, and south of metropolitan Nashville-Davidson to be at high risk for campylobacteriosis in Tennessee, at all three spatial levels. Previous research suggests that the risk of acquiring campylobacteriosis may be higher in different areas due to the presence of different risk factors (8, 225, 318). For example, in metropolitan areas such as Knoxville, one might investigate centralized sources of contaminated poultry products. In rural areas exposure to domestic farm animals and local environmental sources might be of greater importance (33, 225). Addressing the impact of socioeconomic factors and quantifying potential health inequalities between advantaged and disadvantaged groups could be applied to high risk areas across the state. The specific reasons for the geographic differences found in this study are unknown and should be investigated further.

The fact that all three levels share comparable geographic clustering is a unique strength of this study. Other studies performing spatial analyses at more than one spatial scale demonstrate differences in patterns of health outcomes and associations across spatial scales (29, 321, 332). This may be a result of the MAUP, data errors and missing data, as well as variation in either the disease data or the population and ecological level data (26, 29, 30). While spatial variation in risk exists in some regions, these results highlight the overall similarity in spatial patterns detected between geographic levels using clustering and smoothing techniques simultaneously. Our study demonstrates that consistent results across spatial scales occur despite the inherent

limitations encountered in ecological analyses. While the results are specific to campylobacteriosis in Tennessee, these findings may lend credence to studies that utilize disease surveillance data at only one level (8, 225, 333).

The lower level (census tract) analysis produces the finest detail and is able to capture small, yet potentially important areas of high risk. This conclusion is supported by previous studies which found small area studies to be the most useful for measuring health disparities and reducing ecological bias (26, 332, 334). Where possible, analyses should be conducted at more than one level to assess the full spatial picture. This is particularly important for validating results from finer scale levels where positional inaccuracy can be more pronounced and lead to decreased precision (28). Furthermore, socioeconomic, demographic and environmental data are often unavailable at finer scales, and the process of geocoding can be costly and time consuming. When census tract analyses are either undesirable or not feasible, the zip code or county subdivision aggregations may provide sufficient information for cluster detection and prevention and control of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee.

In a recent comparison of cluster detection software methods, SaTScan was found to be a fast, user-friendly and well-developed for cluster detection (335). The spatial scan statistic allows the window to vary during the scan process. This methodology decreases the chance of pre-selection bias as clusters may be detected without prior knowledge of geographic extent (336). The fact that size, shape and number of clusters changed in our study when the scan window size was enlarged is a complication seen with use of this method. Understanding the implications of scanning

window size on clustering is beyond the scope of this paper. However, recent studies focus on result variability dependent on scan window size (333, 337). Further exploration into both the theoretical and practical implications of scan window choice would add to the growing body of knowledge on the spatial scan statistic. Consecutive analyses can lead to improved understanding of *Campylobacter* distribution over time and space (318). In our study, we interpret the SEB smoothed risk distribution in conjunction with cluster analysis at three levels to offer a more comprehensive visual and statistical approach to understanding campylobacteriosis disease patterns.

Cluster detection results suggest that environmental and/or socioeconomic factors contribute to disease transmission. A model-based approach may be applied to campylobacteriosis surveillance data as a means of assessing potential associations between disease risk and epidemiological factors (27, 225). Furthermore, mapping risk and cluster analysis results on all three levels with similar findings serves to statistically validate the location of high risk regions in Tennessee. Previous ecological studies have shown that associations between risk factors and disease may be dependent on the level of aggregation (33, 332). Modeling at more than one spatial level, therefore, serves to enhance current knowledge of disease patterns and provide a more accurate link between important disease predictors and a constantly changing environment. Temporal variations in campylobacteriosis risk may also be important in understanding transmission routes and changing distribution patterns (8, 318). In this study, time components were not examined, as partitioning the surveillance data into temporal units would result in insufficient data for meaningful analysis.

A number of factors may play a role in the accuracy and usefulness of this study. Many ill persons do not seek care, have a stool culture performed, or have the etiology identified. In addition, data reporting may vary and the impact of using census year 2000 as denominator data for cases spanning 17 years is not known. Underreporting is expected for campylobacteriosis as the disease is typically self limiting and very rarely fatal. These data include cases ascertained by active surveillance, and are thought to accurately represent the burden of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis (317). Approximately 20% of the case data for this study were eliminated due to missing information or data address inaccuracy and the effect of this loss is difficult to quantify. The spatial distribution of cases with missing data was similar to those whose data were complete, implying that the missing data were randomly distributed. Misclassification of cases may also occur and may be a result of data inaccuracies, human migration and changes in geographic boundaries (26, 28). Furthermore, a large number of cases arising from a common source may result in a regional elevation in disease risk that distorts the location of clustering. Improved identification and documentation of cases due to an outbreak would help to eliminate this potential source of bias as well as add to our knowledge of the characteristics of the population at risk. Recently, FoodNet began collecting data on cases being outbreak-associated. This information was not available for all years analyzed. These inherent limitations add uncertainty and potential bias to spatial analysis research.

Patterns of campylobacteriosis may change over time in response to changing human and animal demographics as well as shifts in climatic factors and land use. Sequential analyses are warranted to improve our understanding of the disease. Our research is intended to enhance current knowledge of the human campylobacteriosis distribution and risk, and to create a foundation upon which ecological associations, including socioeconomic and environmental factors, can be superimposed on clusters to identify risk factors. Technological advances in statistical and mapping software and the growing availability of surveillance data justify continual review of spatial methods, the levels at which these methods are applied, and their applicability to public health.

## 6.0 Conclusions

These data demonstrate an overlap in spatial clustering of campylobacteriosis across three geographic scales in Tennessee. Some variation in the size and shape of clusters was present. However, the overall disease patterns were similar, leading to improved confidence in comparisons between levels. This finding is especially important in situations where address data are unavailable, making finer scale analyses impossible. Identification and superimposition of regional-specific risk factors would help generate hypotheses for the spatial differences in campylobacteriosis risk identified in these analyses. Visual comparison of smoothed risk estimates and cluster detection at multiple spatial levels has the potential to help public health officials effectively identify geographic, socioeconomic and environmental factors which may play an important role in the occurrence of campylobacteriosis. Subsequently, this knowledge could be used to

create a framework whereby future disease control strategies become more geographically precise and economically efficient.

## **CHAPTER 5**

Socioeconomic determinants of geographic disparities in campylobacteriosis risk: a comparison of global and local modeling approaches

This chapter is a manuscript that has been published in the International Journal of Health Geographics (*Int. J. Health Geographics* (2012),11(1):45). The authors include: J. Weisent<sup>1</sup>, B. Rohrbach<sup>1</sup>, J.R.Dunn<sup>2</sup>, A. Odoi<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biological and Diagnostic Sciences, College of Veterinary Medicine, The University of Tennessee, 205A River Drive, Knoxville TN 37996

<sup>2</sup>Tennessee Department of Health, Communicable and Environmental Disease Service, 1st Floor, Cordell Hull Bldg. 425 5th Ave. North, Nashville, TN 37243

My contribution to the paper includes conception of the research idea and review of the literature, data preparation and analysis, interpretation of results, drafting and editing the manuscript.

## 1.0 Abstract

**Background:** Socioeconomic factors play a complex role in determining the risk of campylobacteriosis. Understanding the spatial interplay between these factors and disease risk can guide disease control programs. Historically, Poisson and negative binomial models have been used to investigate determinants of geographic disparities in risk. Spatial regression models, which allow modeling of spatial effects, have been used to improve these modeling efforts. Geographically weighted regression (GWR) takes this a step further by estimating local regression coefficients, thereby allowing estimations of associations that vary in space. These recent approaches increase our understanding of how geography influences the associations between determinants and disease. Therefore the objectives of this study were to: (i) identify socioeconomic determinants of the geographic disparities of campylobacteriosis risk (ii) investigate if regression coefficients for the associations between socioeconomic factors and campylobacteriosis risk demonstrate spatial variability and (iii) compare the

performance of four modeling approaches: negative binomial, spatial lag, global and local Poisson GWR.

**Methods:** Negative binomial, spatial lag, global and local Poisson GWR modeling techniques were used to investigate associations between socioeconomic factors and geographic disparities in campylobacteriosis risk. The best fitting models were identified and compared.

**Results:** Two competing four variable models (Models 1 & 2) were identified. Significant variables included race, unemployment rate, education attainment, urbanicity, and divorce rate. Local Poisson GWR had the best fit and showed evidence of spatially varying regression coefficients.

**Conclusions:** The international significance of this work is that it highlights the inadequacy of global regression strategies that estimate one parameter per independent variable, and therefore mask the true relationships between dependent and independent variables. Since local GWR estimate a regression coefficient for each location, it reveals the geographic differences in the associations. This implies that a factor may be an important determinant in some locations and not others. Incorporating this into health planning ensures that a needs-based, rather than a "one-size-fits-all", approach is used. Thus, adding local GWR to the epidemiologist's toolbox allows them to assess how the impacts of different determinants vary by geography. This knowledge is critical for resource allocation in disease control programs.

#### 2.0 Introduction

*Campylobacter* organisms are leading causes of human gastroenteritis in developed nations, affecting an estimated 13 million people in the United States annually (1, 2). Campylobacteriosis risk (defined as the probability that an individual will develop campylobacteriosis within a given time period (7)) is known to vary by geographic regions, climate patterns, human behaviors, and food and water sources (8-10). The Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) has reported substantial geographic variations in the risk of *Campylobacter* infections across the U.S.(24)(24,50) Currently, the reasons for these variations are unknown. Although the overall risk of disease in the U.S. population is 13 cases per 100,000, some areas in Tennessee have risks as high as 200 cases per 100,000 (25). Therefore, there is interest in identifying the determinants of the geographic disparities seen in disease risk so as to guide disease control efforts.

Understanding health disparities among racial, ethnic and across socioeconomic subgroups is a priority of public health personnel and policy makers (34, 35). In developed countries, the relationships between socioeconomic status (SES) and campylobacteriosis risk are complex and have been shown to vary geographically. For example, disease risks were found to be significantly lower in rural compared to urban areas in several studies (36-38). This is possibly due to continued exposure in rural areas, resulting in sustained immunity and hence lower disease incidence (79). However, in Manitoba, Canada the risk for young children was seven times higher in rural regions than in the City of Winnipeg (225). In a New Zealand study, urban adults

and rural children had higher rates of disease, signifying an age based disparity between these areas (36). The geographic differences in associations between SES factors and campylobacteriosis risk are a worldwide phenomenon, hence regression models need to account for the fact that regression coefficients, used to assess associations between risk factors and disease, might vary in space. Local modeling approaches enable investigators to more accurately estimate the true relationships between determinants and disease risk since they estimate regression coefficients for each location in the study area (39-41).

Geographically weighted regression (GWR) modeling techniques compute local regression coefficients thereby allowing the estimates of the associations between outcome and explanatory variables to vary spatially (42, 43). This flexible modeling strategy is necessary to improve our understanding of the determinants of geographic disparities of campylobacteriosis risk internationally. Recent interest in exploring geographic variation in the associations between socioeconomic factors and health outcomes has spurred studies in the US, UK and Taiwan. For example, local variations were detected in the occurrence of diseases such as obesity and breast cancer when modeled against socioeconomic factors (44-46). In these and other studies, global modeling approaches, that estimate one regression coefficient for each variable in the model, hide local variations in associations (40, 41). Since a local GWR model estimates a regression coefficient of an explanatory variable for each location in the study area (42), it allows health professionals to better assess how the effect of the explanatory variable changes by geographic location. Armed with this knowledge,
health planners can better identify the most important disease determinants for different regions and therefore better plan health programs, provision of services and resource allocation to meet the unique needs of different communities. Thus, this helps health professionals avoid using a one-size-fits-all approach but instead use empirical evidence provided by the local GWR models, to practice needs-based population health planning, enabling them to provide services based on the unique health needs of the different populations they serve. Thus the objectives of this study were to: (i) identify socioeconomic determinants of the geographic disparities of campylobacteriosis risk at the census tract level (ii) investigate whether regression coefficients for the associations between socioeconomic factors and campylobacteriosis risk demonstrate spatial variability and (iii) compare the performance of negative binomial, spatial lag and global and local Poisson GWR models.

#### 3.0 MATERIALS & METHODS 3. 1 Study Area and Data Sources

The study was conducted in the state of Tennessee which consists of 1,261 census tracts, with an estimated total population of 5.7 million in 2000 (301). Census tracts are 'statistical geographic entities' which typically contain between 2,500 and 8,000 people and are relatively homogeneous with respect to population characteristics and socioeconomic conditions (301).

Cartographic boundary files, population denominator data, including the U.S. standard population used for risk standardization, and socioeconomic variables were obtained, at the census tract level, from the year 2000 U.S. Census (301). Campylobacteriosis data were collected through the FoodNet active surveillance system (313) and obtained from the Tennessee Department of Health. These data covered the period from September 1, 1991 to December 31, 2008. Cases of campylobacteriosis were defined as cultureconfirmed *Campylobacter* infections from clinical specimens, the majority of which were stool samples. Culture results were reported at the genus level only. Names of patients were deleted from the database before it was released to investigators. The study was approved by Tennessee Department of Health and The University of Tennessee Institution Review Boards.

#### 3.2 Geocoding and Data Aggregation

The dataset consisted of a total of 4,723 confirmed campylobacteriosis cases reported during the study period. Initial data exploration, preparation and formatting for geocoding, was performed in SAS version 9.2 (300). Cases that could not be geocoded for various reasons (see Table 5.1) or that were due to infections acquired outside of the study area (travel-related) were excluded from the dataset.

An iterative geocoding process was performed to accurately match location data to the finest possible geographic scale using both Googlemaps (323) and Yahoo Maps Geocoder through BatchGeo (324). Dot maps of the final dataset were generated in ArcGIS (325) and included 3,756 cases: 2,638 (70%) rooftop accuracy and 1,118 (30%) street level accuracy. The geocoding was classified as 'rooftop' accuracy when there was a 100% match to the address. The 'street level', also known as 'range interpolated' accuracy, referred to instances when interpolation was used to identify address location along a street. This was done in cases where the exact street address number was

unavailable in the geocoding database. The campylobacteriosis data were then aggregated to the census tract level for subsequent analyses.

#### 3.3 Computation of Campylobactriosis Risk, Smoothing and Mapping.

The measure of disease frequency used as the dependent variable in this study was the campylobacteriosis risk. Campylobacteriosis risk was defined as the probability that an individual will develop campylobacteriosis within a given time period (7). For this study, campylobateriosis risk was computed as the number of campylobacteriosis cases reported in a census tract during the study period divided by the population of the census tract. However, due to the potential confounding effect of age and sex, campylobacterisos risk was age and sex standardized using STATA version 9.0 (327). This ensured that differences in geographic distribution of campylobacteriosis risks observed were not due to geographical differences in the distribution of age and/or sex of the population. Socioeconomic variables from the 2000 U.S. Census, at the census tract level, were then merged to the age and sex standardized risk estimates (301) and spatial empirical Bayes smoothing was performed in GeoDa version 095i (328). Jenk's optimization classification method was used to determine critical intervals for spatial display of maps in ArcView (325). The unsmoothed campylobacteriosis risk estimates and the socioeconomic variables of interest were then assessed for spatial autocorrelation at the census tract level using Global Moran's I in GeoDa (328).

#### 3.4 Regression Analysis

#### 3.4.1 Univariate Regression Analysis

Race and ethnicity variables investigated for potential association with geographic distribution of campylobacteriosis risk were the proportion of the population that were black, white, Asian, Chinese, Hispanic/Latino, and Native American/Alaskan. Employment related variables included the proportion of the population that were unemployed, and those whose occupations were in the farming, fishing, forestry or service industries. Variables related to marital status included the proportion of the population that was divorced, never married, separated, or widowed. Educational attainment factors included the proportion of the population with no high school diploma, and those with a bachelor's or graduate degree. Other socioeconomic variables of investigated were: the proportion of the population living in rural verses urban areas, those in the armed services, those who were disabled, living in poverty or those on public assistance.

Pairwise Spearman rank correlation coefficients were computed to identify highly correlated explanatory/independent variables. Using a cut-off Spearman rank correlation coefficient of 0.6, only one of a pair of highly correlated variables (i.e. with r≥0.6) was retained for further investigation. Univariate (or simple) ordinary Poisson models were fit to the data using the generalized linear model procedure, PROC GENMOD, in SAS (300). The dependent variable specified in the model was the number of campylobacteriosis cases reported in each census tract and the census tract population was specified as the offset variable. An assessment of overdispersion

revealed significant overdispersion of the univariate (simple) ordinary Poisson models implying that the ordinary Poisson models were inappropriate for the data. Therefore, negative binomial models were used for all subsequent multivariable modeling and final comparisons with other modeling approaches investigated in the study.

#### 3.4.2 Multivariable Regression Analyses

#### 3.4.2.1 Negative Binomial Models

As for the ordinary Poisson models, the dependent variables specified in the multivariable negative binomial models were the number of campylobacterisis cases reported in each census tract and the offset variable was the census tract population. The regression equation for the negative binomial model is:

#### $\ln(\lambda) = \beta_o + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots + \beta_n X_n$

Where  $\lambda$  is E(Y)/n, Y is the dependent variable, the  $\beta$ s are parameter estimates (regression coefficients) and the Xs are the socio-economic variables under investigation.

Initial multivariable negative binomial model building was performed using the forward stepwise selection procedure in SAS, using likelihood ratio tests to assess significance of variables in the model. Throughout the selection procedure, previously removed variables remained eligible for reentry into the model, provided they were statistically significant (p<0.05) and improved AIC by three or more points. Only one of a pair of highly correlated variables, such as black and white race, and rural or urban locale were entered into the model in order to avoid issues of collinearity.

McHenry's All Possible selection method in NCSS (302) in conjunction with the SAS model comparison macro, %genmodsummary (300) were used to identify the two most parsimonious multivariable models. Two-way interaction terms on the variables included in the main effects models were assessed for significance and model improvement. Residual diagnostics were performed by investigating for outliers (using standardized Pearson's residuals) and influential points (using Cook's Distance). Both the raw and standardized Pearson's residuals were also assessed for spatial autocorrelation using Global Moran's I (328).

#### 3.4.2.2 Spatial Lag Models

To account for spatial autocorrelation in the residuals (identified in the negative binomial models), a spatial lag model was fit to the data in GeoDa (328), specifying the log transformed campylobacterisis risk as the dependent variable. The equation for the spatial lag model is:

#### $Y = \rho WY + \beta_o + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots + \beta_n X_n$

Where Y is the dependent variable (log transformed campylobacteriosis risk),  $\rho$  is the spatial autoregressive coefficient of the spatial lag model, W is the spatial weight, WY is the spatial lag for the dependent variable, the  $\beta$ s are parameter estimates (regression coefficients) and the Xs are the socio-economic variables under investigation. A significant  $\rho$  of this model means presence of significant spatial autocorrelation of the dependent variable implying that a non-spatial model (such as the negative binomial model) is inappropriate for the data. The autoregressive coefficient is also an estimate of the degree of spatial autocorrelation present in the data. Using the queen definition of

neighborhood contiguity, a correlogram was constructed to identify the most optimal spatial weight. The queen spatial weights assessed were from 1<sup>st</sup> to 5<sup>th</sup> order, with each weight construction including lower orders. For instance, 2<sup>nd</sup> order queen weights included both 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> order neighbors and 3<sup>rd</sup> order weights included 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> order neighbors in the construction of the spatial weight. The 3<sup>rd</sup> order Queen weight resulted in the best model fit and eliminated residual spatial autocorrelation. Since the campylobacteriosis risk and the proportion of the population that were black required log transformation, a factor of 1.1 was added to all records of these variables to deal with zero values.

Model residuals were assessed for normality (using Jarque-Bera and White tests), homoskedasticity (using Breusch-Pagan test) and residual spatial autocorrelation (using Moran's I). Additionally, the statistical significance of the spatial autoregressive coefficient was assessed using the likelihood ratio test.

# 3.4.2.3 Global and Local Poisson Geographically Weighted (GWR) Models Global models estimate one coefficient per explanatory variable, averaged over all locations, whereas local Geographically Weighted Regression (GWR) models estimate as many coefficients as the number of locations (in this case, census tracts) in the dataset. The equation for the local GWR model is:

### $Y_{i}(u) = \beta_{0i}(u) + \beta_{1i}(u)X_{1i} + \beta_{2i}(u)X_{2i} + \dots + \beta_{ni}(u)X_{ni}$

Where the  $\beta_{ni}(\mathbf{u})$  are regression coefficients for the relationship between an explanatory variable and the dependent variable around a location  $\mathbf{u}$  and is therefore unique to that location while the Xs are the different explanatory/independent variables included in the model.

The local GWR model allows the investigator to compute a different regression coefficient for each location when assessing the relationship between the dependent and independent variable. Thus, assuming a causal relationship, it enables the investigator to assess how the impact of a specific risk factor on the outcome changes by location. The Poisson distribution within the GWR framework is currently the most appropriate available strategy for analyzing areal disease counts, especially when low numbers are involved (42, 43). As in the negative binomial models, the dependent variables for both the global and local Poisson GWR models were the number of cases of campylobacteriosis in a census tract and the offset variable was population of the census tract. Both models were fit in a specialized spatial statistical software called GWR (338).

For the local Poisson GWR, the adaptive kernel method was chosen to account for differences in the density of census tracts across the study area. Accommodating irregularly shaped census tracts is particularly important, as shapes, sizes and density varies widely between metropolitan and rural regions. The kernel varies the size of the analysis window so as to incorporate the same number of census tracts in each local estimate. In each local regression analysis a zero weight value is applied to all other census tracts not included in the analysis window. A manual iterative approach identified 300 nearest neighbors (census tracts) as the optimal model bandwidth based on AIC (43, 338)..

To demonstrate spatial variability in the association between campylobacteriosis risk and the explanatory variables, the estimated regression coefficients from the local

GWR were displayed as choropleth maps using Jenk's optimization classification scheme. Assessment of goodness–of-fit of the negative binomial, spatial lag, global and local Poisson GWR models was done using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC).

#### 4.0 RESULTS

#### 4.1 Spatial distribution of campylobacteriosis risk and socioeconomic factors

Age and sex adjusted campylobacteriosis risk estimates varied widely, ranging from 0 (n=241, median=53.8) to 13,122 per 100,000 population. The spatial empirical Bayes smoothed map of campylobacteriosis risk showed evidence of geographic disparities in risk across the study area (Figure 4.3, adopted from our previous study published in Geospatial Health;6(1):65-76, used with permission). Areas of high campylobacteriosis risk centered around the cities of Knoxville, Cookeville, south of metropolitan Nashville-Davidson and north of Chattanooga (25).

Summary statistics of the selected socioeconomic factors showed that the study area is predominantly inhabited by whites followed by black, Hispanic/Latino and Asian residents (Table 5.2). In one census tract up to 100% of the population was reported to be living in poverty and approximately 50% had no high school diploma. Spatial distributions of the socioeconomic factors under investigation showed evidence of spatial clustering based on the statistically significant (p=0.001) Moran's I statistics (Figure 5.1). Census tracts in and around Memphis had high proportions of black population (Figure 5.1a), whereas rural census tracts tended to have higher proportions of the population with no high school diploma (Figure 5.1b).

Significant positive correlations were found between the proportion of the population that were black and those that were never married (r=0.73; p<0.001) or that were separated (r=0.61; p<0.001) (Table 5.2). As expected, the proportion of the census tract population employed in the agricultural industry was highly correlated with the proportion of the population living in rural regions (r=0.78; p<0.001). Census tracts with a high proportion of those with a bachelor's degree tended to have lower proportions of those who were living in poverty (r=-0.61; p<0.001) and those with no high school diploma (r=-0.79; p<0.001).

# 4.2 Socioeconomic determinants of geographic distribution of campylobacteriosis risk.

The majority of the socioeconomic factors investigated for univariate (simple) associations with campylobacteriosis risk had highly significant (p<0.001) associations with campylobactriosis risk (Table 5.3). Due to the presence of significant overdispersion (implying that ordinary Poisson models were inappropriate for these data) and the fact that the negative binomial models fit the data better than the ordinary Poisson models (as evidenced by the lower AICs of the negative binomial models), only the results of the negative binomial models are presented. Presence of significant overdispersion implies that the ordinary Poisson models are inappropriate and therefore it was unnecessary to present the results thereof.

McHenry's All Possible variable selection, used to identify the most optimal parsimonious models, revealed an exponential drop and stabilization of the root mean square error with four variables in the model (Figure 5.2). This implies that the most

optimal and parsimonious models were those that had four explanatory variables. Thus, the final competing models included four explanatory variables. Models 1 & 2 had the best fit as evidenced by the fact that they had the lowest AICs. Therefore, these models were used to compare the 4 modeling approaches (negative binomial, spatial lag, global GWR and local GWR) investigated in this study. Both negative binomial models 1 and 2 showed that the risk of campylobacteriosis tended to be lower in census tracts that had higher proportions of blacks and unemployed populations (Table 5.5). However, campylobacteriosis risks were significantly higher in census tracts that had high proportions of the population with no high school diploma (Table 5.5). Additionally, in Model 1, census tracts with high proportions of the population living in urban areas tended to have higher risk of campylobacteriosis, whereas in Model 2, the risk of campylobacteriosis was lower in census tracts with high divorce rate.

Assessment of Pearson's standardized residuals from the negative binomial models showed evidence of residual positive spatial autocorrelation (Moran's I:0.083, p=0.001). This implies that, although the negative binomial model was better than the ordinary Poisson model, it still has residual spatial autocorrelation and thus did not totally eliminate spatial autocorrelation. The presence of significant spatial autocorrelation autocorrelation in the residuals requires use of an appropriate spatial model.

#### 4.3 Comparison of the Modeling Approaches

Based the AIC goodness-of-fit statistic for comparing models, the model with the lowest AIC statistic is the one with the best model fit. Using this criterion to compare the 4 modeling approaches used to fit model 1, the local Poisson GWR model had the best

fit (AIC=3344) followed by the global Poisson GWR (AIC=4854), spatial lag (AIC=4908) and lastly negative binomial model (AIC=5962). A similar pattern was observed for model 2 with local Poisson GWR again having the best fit (AIC=3244), followed again by global GWR (AIC=4860), then spatial lag (AIC=4914) and finally negative binomial (AIC=5960). The overall best fitting model is local GWR model 2 which had the lowest AIC of 3244.

It is important to stress that both local Poisson GWR models 1 and 2 showed evidence of non-stationarity of all the regression coefficients. This is evidenced by the fact that the interquartile ranges of the local regression coefficients were all larger than twice the standard errors of the regression coefficients of the global Poisson GWR model (Table 5.5). This implies that the regression coefficients of each of the variables included in the local GWR models were not constant but changed across the census tracts in the study area. The implication of this is that, the strength of the associations between campylobacteriosis risk and each of the explanatory variables vary depending on the spatial location. Thus, assuming a causal relationship, the effects of the determinants are not constant across the study area but are heavily dependent on the geographical location (338).

The spatial autoregressive coefficients ( $\rho$ ) of both the spatial lag model 1 ( $\rho$ =0.622; p<0.001) and spatial lag model 2 ( $\rho$ =0.655; p<0.001) were significantly greater than 0 confirming the fact that there was significant spatial clustering in the data. Statistical significance of the autoregressive coefficients also imply that the non-spatial models (i.e. the negative binomial models are inappropriate for these data). This

conclusion is further supported by the results of the assessment of the goodness-of-fit of the models which revealed that the negative binomial models had the worst fit.

The spatial patterns of the local GWR regression coefficients of the explanatory variables common to models 1 and 2 are shown in Figures 5.3 and 5.4, respectively, and the statistical evidence of their non-stationarity is shown on Table 5.5. On both local Poisson GWR models 1 and 2, campylobacteriosis risk tended to be higher in census tracts that had high proportions of individuals with no high school diploma and these census tracts were mainly located in southeast Tennessee. Areas where lack of high school diploma had the strongest positive association with campylobacteriosis, risk tended to have relatively high proportions of black population (18.4%). By contrast, areas where lack of high school education had the strongest negative association with campylobacterisis risk had relatively few blacks (only 8.4%). Moreover, areas where lack of high school diploma had the strongest positive association with campylobacteriosis risk tended to have a low (29%) proportion of the population living in rural areas (i.e. they were mainly urban areas). On the other hand, areas where lack of high school diploma had a negative association with campylobacteriosis risk tended to be more rural with as high as 61% of the population living in rural areas. Thus, assuming a causal relationship, it appears that low education has a more marked impact on increasing risk of campylobacteriosis in the urban than in the rural areas. It is also worth noting that that areas where lack of high school diploma had the strongest positive association (strong risk factor) tended to have relatively high mean income

(\$46,000) compared to those where it had the strongest negative association with campylobacteriosis risk where the mean income was \$40,300.

The strongest positive association between high unemployment rate and campylobacteriosis risk was observed in the western third of the state (Figures 5.3c & 5.4c). These areas tended to be in the rural having, on average, 62% of the population living in rural areas. On the other hand, areas where high unemployment rate had a negative association with campylobacteriosis risk tended to be urban with only 36.9% of the population living in rural areas.

In some urban centers, such as Memphis and Knoxville, and their surrounding areas, campylobacteriosis risk was high, whereas in other urban centers, such as Nashville, the risk was low. With regard to the geographic disparities in distribution of the association between campylobacteriosis risk and urbanicity, the areas with the strongest positive association (Figure 5.3d) between urbanicity and campylobacteriosis risk tended to have a relatively higher percentage of black (38.9%) compared to areas which had the strongest negative association between urbanicity and campylobacteriosis risk (Figure 5.3d) that had only 2.5% of black population.

Areas that had the strongest positive association between campylobacteriosis risk and divorce rate (Figure 5.4d) tended to be in the rural where, on average, 75.1% of the population lived in rural areas. By contrast, areas that had the strongest negative association between campylobacterisis risk and divorce rate tended to be urban where only an average of 34.4% of the population was rural.

#### 5.0 DISCUSSION

Although past studies have investigated associations between socioeconomic factors and campylobacteriosis risk and others have reported that campylobacteriosis risk varies geographically (25, 339), to our knowledge, no studies have used local GWR approaches to investigate the geographic variations of the association between campylobacteriosis risk and socioeconomic factors. Thus, the current study is, in part, intended to fill this knowledge gap. The modeling approaches used in this study (i.e. local GWR) are novel and provide powerful tools to epidemiological investigations and should therefore be applied to many diseases throughout the world. Although local GWR models offer insight into socioeconomic risk factors and their complex relationships with health outcomes not many studies have used them. We believe that these spatial variations in regression coefficients need to be investigated to ensure that appropriate disease control programs are used regardless of the disease of interest and the geographical areas concerned.

The global multivariable models in our study showed that census tracts with high proportions of the population that were black, unemployed and divorced tended to consistently have a lower risk of campylobacteriosis, whereas those with high proportions of the population living in urban areas, and with no high school diploma had a higher risk of campylobacteriosis. In contrast, local Poisson GWR models revealed a diverse range of regression coefficients for the associations between campylobacteriosis risk and the socioeconomic determinants across the study area. Thus, since the regression coefficients of the determinants ranged from negative to

positive over the study area, global models are inaccurate and unreliable. This complex spatial heterogeneity in the associations between socioeconomic factors and campylobacteriosis risk explains: (i) why local Poisson GWR models outperformed negative binomial, spatial lag and global Poisson GWR models and (ii) how global models mask the true nature of the relationships between determinants and campylobacteriosis risk. These findings imply that the strength of association between a determinant and disease changes by location and this needs to be factored in disease control programs since a factor may be a more important determinant of disease in some areas and not others.

Local Poisson GWR results identified spatial patterns for some of the spatially varying coefficients in this study. For instance, positive associations were observed between high campylobacteriosis risk and urbanicity in areas that tended to have low education attainment and high proportion of blacks. Similarly, areas which had positive association between high campylobacteriosis risk and high divorce and unemployment rates tended to be rural. These patterns support the hypothesis that the reasons for the differences in campylobacteriosis risk vary geographically across the study area. In fact, several studies have reported that variation in the risk of campylobacteriosis may be due to regional differences in the distribution of socioeconomic risk factors, as well as unknown or underlying regional characteristics (8, 225, 318, 339). For example, wealthy and highly educated populations might acquire campylobacteriosis through exposure to undercooked foods in restaurants or contaminated outdoor environments while vacationing, whereas populations living in poverty or with lower levels of education

attainment may be exposed through poor food handling at home. Regional variation in how underlying socioeconomic characteristics influence the parameter estimates of high risk areas warrant further investigation at a local level. Suffice it to say that the global models do not provide the true nature of the relationships which sometimes varies from negative association in some areas to positive associations in others. This has practical implications in disease control because a one-size-fits-all strategy (which would be used if results of global models are used) is not appropriate since local Poisson GWR reveals that certain determinants may be more important in some areas than others. Thus, health planning and service provision need to use a needs-based approach based on empirical data such as these.

The fact that areas where lack of high school diploma had the strongest positive association with disease risk tended to have relatively high mean income could be due to the income disparities between the urban and rural areas where the urban populations tend to earn slightly more than the very rural areas. On the other hand, the fact that areas where lack of high school diploma had a negative association with campylobacteriosis risk tended to be rural seems to suggest that low level of education may have a higher impact on risk of campylobacteriosis in urban than rural areas probably due to higher cost of living in the more urban centers that would potentially force low education and low income population to have much poorer living conditions in the cities than in the rural areas. Poorer living conditions would then inevitable increase the risk of campylobacter infections in these populations. The observed lower risk of campylobacteriosis in census tracts with high proportions of blacks and unemployed

population might be a reflection of under reporting rather than a lower disease burden in these communities.

The association between campylobacteriosis risk and the proportion of the census tract population living in urban areas showed the largest spatial variation, as evidenced by the coefficient range (-0.453 to 0.932) across the study area. Campylobacteriosis risk factors have been shown to differ between rural and urban environments due to different direct and indirect exposure opportunities (37). Typical rural exposures include poultry and farm animals, unpasteurized milk and contaminated surface waters (120, 212, 228, 234). Yet exposure to *Campylobacter* infection by poultry and farm animals is not limited to rural areas, as animal products are processed and distributed at varying distances from their source, and contamination may result from processing plants located in urban areas. This source of environmental contamination from the food industry is an underlying risk factor which should be investigated locally in rural and urban regions.

In our study, local Poisson GWR models had better statistical fit (lower AIC's) than the global models investigated. These findings are similar to those of several other studies that have compared the performance of local GWR and global regression methods in investigating associations between disease and risk factors (39, 40, 45, 340). For example, after modeling determinants of drug resistant tuberculosis, Liu et al. reported that the local GWR model had a much better fit (AIC=395) than the global regression model (AIC=471). Moreover, the GWR model had an increase of over 15% in explaining the variation in the outcome. Gilbert and Chakraborty and Cheng et al.

reported spatial variability in regression coefficients and found improvements of over 10% in R<sup>2</sup>, and decreases in AIC (over 70 units), respectively, for local compared to global models (40, 340). Although local GWR modeling is relatively new, their results convincingly indicate that local spatial characteristics can have a profound effect on regression coefficients and statistical significance of variables (341). Geographic disparities in risk should therefore be investigated at local levels to: (i) capture regional differences in the nature of the relationship between risk factors and disease outcome, (ii) avoid misleading inferences and conclusions from global models, and (iii) better inform disease control programs.

One of the primary goals of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services is to eliminate health disparities associated with socioeconomic status and geographic location (342). Accurate measurement and reporting of health disparities has important implications for decision-making and policy implementation at a local, national and international level (343). Quantifying the effects of socioeconomic factors should be prioritized and approached in an interdisciplinary and collaborative manner using methodologically sound techniques (34, 41). Therefore, advanced analytical techniques such as GWR, which incorporate geography into epidemiological studies in novel ways, need to be more widely accessible to researchers and epidemiologists globally.

The complexity of the relationship between geography and socioeconomic status creates a difficult task for public health professionals. Health disparities are likely to change empirically as societal conditions change over time and space (35). Populations move and become diverse, altering social and ethnic demographics and disease

patterns (34). Local GWR modeling strategies address these issues more efficiently by helping to identify differences in the strengths of association between determinants and health outcomes across areas (41). By adopting strategies that target known high risk socioeconomic groups, limited and precious resources can be more efficiently allocated and policy and planning can better target regional public health needs.

Although approximately 20% of the disease data in this study were eliminated due to missing information or inaccuracy of residential addresses, the spatial distribution of cases with missing data was similar to those whose data were complete. This suggests that the missing data were randomly distributed, and therefore not likely to have biased the results of our study. The impact of using U.S. Census year 2000 denominator data for cases spanning 17 years is not known, however, the 2000 census offered the best representation of both population and socioeconomic data available at the time of the study.

Suffice it to say that the local GWR methods used in this study are quite novel and would significantly add to the spatial epidemiologist's toolbox when investigating determinants of geographical disparities of health outcomes. Thus, although the specific results of this study may not be generalizable to other regions in the world, the methods used and results obtained are eye openers to spatial epidemiologists across the globe that deeper insights are obtained when local GWR models are used to investigate determinants of health since the magnitude of the impact of determinants vary by geographical location. This is important information that can be used by health planners and service providers to ensure that resources are better allocated to improve health

outcomes. There is no doubt that these tools need to be incorporated in routine investigations by epidemiologists and decision makers interested in addressing issues related to health disparities so as to improve health outcomes for all.

#### 6.0 Conclusion

The international significance of the findings from this work is that they highlight the fact that global regression strategies, frequently used to investigate determinants of geographic disparities in disease distribution, generally tend to mask the true nature of the relationship between the outcome and explanatory variables. Since local GWR models estimate a regression coefficient for each location in a study area, they are able to more powerfully reveal the geographic differences in the associations between the explanatory variables and the outcome/disease. Thus, the information obtained provides critical empirical evidence to health planners and public health professionals to guide health planning and disease control programs. Since the regression coefficients change based on geographical location, it implies that a determinant of disease may be a more important risk factor in one location and not other locations. Incorporating this information in health planning and service provision ensures that health professions do not use a "one-size-fits-all" approach but instead the planning and provision of services would be guided by the needs of the areas as evidenced by the local regression coefficients of specific disease determinants. Thus, local GWR regression models should be an important addition to the toolbox of public health epidemiologists globally. This tool would allow them to assess how the impact of different determinants of disease outcomes vary by geographical location which information would greatly

improve the decision making process in relation to allocation of resources for disease control programs.

## **CHAPTER 6**

# **Summary and Recommendations**

#### **1.0 Time Series Investigations**

Despite the high incidence of campylobacteriosis in the United States, the time series investigations herein are the first, to our knowledge, that compare forecast modeling strategies for campylobacteriosis risk in this country. We show how surveillance data can be used to accurately predict monthly campylobacteriosis risk at the state level, as well as assess regional associations between climatic factors and disease risk over time. Specifically, decomposition models were able to reliably predict monthly disease risk in Minnesota, Oregon and Georgia for up to one year in advance. The temporal structure of risk data can therefore assist epidemiologists in anticipating high risk time periods and understanding the relationships between determinants of disease and campylobacteriosis.

Although the seasonality of campylobacteriosis is well documented, worldwide, no studies have compared the utility of univariate and multivariable forecasting approaches. Our investigation confirmed a distinct seasonal peak in campylobacteriosis risk between June and August in Georgia and identified individual variation that was consistent over time among the nine climate divisions. Regional differences in weather conditions, temperature and precipitation impact the surrounding environment, as well as contamination and carriage rates in animal and water reservoirs. Strong correlations observed in our study between temperature and disease risk may be associated with the presence of temperature-dependent transmission routes such as migratory birds, insects and flies. It is unclear whether animals and the environment are being seasonally re-infected or subject to natural, biological, or management-related

fluctuations in *Campylobacter* over time, and the role of regional factors on campylobacteriosis reservoirs and risk has yet to be elucidated. Further investigation is warranted to determine if the seasonal patterns identified in our study, on a regional level, provide useful insight into transmission routes, as well as pathogen and host specific interactions. Local public health officials must become knowledgeable about their respective environments in order to identify and investigate important variations in risk factors for campylobacteriosis.

Box Jenkins ARIMA control charts served to augment division level predictive models by focussing attention on specific temporal high points in campylobacteriosis risk. Control charting on the combination data sets supported division level results by identifying outliers in common. Statistical control charting can be used as a guideline to assess expected vs. observed level of campylobacteriosis risk and alert public health officials by identifying erratic patterns and interventions.

In our study, models that forecast campylobacteriosis risk using temperature and precipitation were comparable to models based solely on inherent patterns in the data. In univariate models, 10 to 50% of campylobacteriosis risk was attributable solely to temperature. In multivariable models, temperature at time zero, or at the six month lag produced stronger models than the one month lag found in studies from different areas of the world. This suggests that geographic differences play an important role in the effect of temperature on risk. These differences may be a result of seasonal increases in sunlight hours and warmer temperatures that subsequently increase human exposure to *Campylobacter* sources. However, complex interactions between climate factors such

as sunlight, temperature and humidity make it difficult to assess the direct impact between regions, and while there is no absolute standard to quantify the importance of temperature, we were able to do so in Georgia.

Precipitation patterns for Georgia's climate divisions correspond visually with campylobacteriosis risk during isolated sets of months over the study period. Therefore, precipitation may be important as a baseline climatic factor. Risk patterns that diverge from precipitation patterns over time may be a function of unknown local causes or weather-related spikes in campylobacteriosis risk. For example, a drought that occurred during the study period coincided with a seasonal spike in the risk of campylobacterisosis. This indicates that the cumulative impact of drought and other seasonal factors may induce a biological or behavioral-based increase in disease risk, or cause outbreaks that are undetected by surveillance systems.

Regional variation may be the key to unlocking and understanding the complex relationships between climatic factors such as temperature and precipitation on campylobacteriosis risk. The variation we observed between divisions in Georgia suggests that these factors may influence regional environmental disease reservoirs, be they natural (i.e. water, wild animals) or anthropogenic (i.e. agriculture, land use). Furthermore, environmental sources, as opposed to food/poultry may be an important contribution to campylobacteriosis risk in regions of intensive animal production, such as northeast Georgia. Understanding the cause of regional increases in risk should include investigation of the animal and poultry production industry and its effects on the surrounding environment, and populations at risk. We recommend that public health

officials be familiar with specific risk factors that are linked to regional environments. This would allow for objective and qualitative assessments on why and when atypical patterns of high risk campylobacteriosis occur.

#### 2.0 Spatial Investigations

Identifying "hot spots," or clusters of high risk, is a topic of international interest in the field of health geographics, as it allows public health officials to focus prevention and control efforts on regions with the highest population at risk for disease. Our spatial clustering results identified regions of high risk for campylobacteriosis surrounding Knoxville and Cookeville, and south of metropolitan Nashville-Davidson in Tennessee. The risk of acquiring campylobacteriosis may be higher in these areas due to the presence of different risk factors such as centralized sources of contaminated poultry products, exposure to domestic farm animals or unknown local environmental reservoirs of disease. This is the only investigation, to our knowledge, that validated the results of clustering at more than one spatial level, i.e. census tract, zip code and county subdivision. The fact that all three levels share clusters of high risk is a unique strength of this study, serving to statistically validate the location of high risk regions in Tennessee.

The lower level (census tract) analysis produced the finest detail and is able to capture small, yet potentially important areas of high campylobacteriosis risk in Tenessee. We recommend that where possible, analyses be conducted at more than one level to assess the full impact of the spatial picture. Furthermore, socioeconomic, demographic and environmental data are often unavailable at finer scales, and

geocoding (necessary for census tract analysis) can be costly and time consuming. When fine scale analyses are either undesirable or not feasible, our findings suggest that the zip code or county subdivision aggregations may provide sufficient cluster detection results for implementation of campylobacteriosis prevention and control measures in Tennessee.

Patterns of campylobacteriosis may change over time in response to changing human and animal demographics as well as shifts in climatic factors and land use. Sequential analyses are warranted to improve our understanding of the spatial distribution of this disease. Our research enhances current knowledge of the distribution of human campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee, and offers an ecological framework upon which socioeconomic and environmental risk factors can be identified and tested.

To our knowledge, no studies have used local geographically weight regression approaches to investigate the geographic variations of the association between campylobacteriosis risk and socioeconomic factors. The global multivariable models in our second spatial investigation showed that census tracts with high proportions of the population that were black, unemployed and divorced tended to consistently have a lower risk of campylobacteriosis, whereas those with high proportions of the population living in urban areas, and with no high school diploma had a higher risk of campylobacteriosis. In contrast, local Poisson GWR models revealed a diverse range of regression coefficients for the associations between campylobacteriosis risk and the socioeconomic determinants across the study area. Thus, since the regression coefficients of the determinants ranged from negative to positive over the study area, global models are inaccurate and unreliable. This complex spatial heterogeneity in the associations between socioeconomic factors and campylobacteriosis risk explains: (i) why local Poisson GWR models outperformed negative binomial, spatial lag and global Poisson GWR models and (ii) how global models mask the true nature of the relationships between determinants and campylobacteriosis risk. These findings imply that the strength of association between a determinant and disease changes by location and this needs to be factored in disease control programs.

Local Poisson GWR results identified positive associations in Tennessee between high campylobacteriosis risk and urbanicity in areas that tended to have low education attainment and high proportion of blacks. Similarly, areas which had positive association between high campylobacteriosis risk and high divorce and unemployment rates tended to be rural. The association between campylobacteriosis risk and the proportion of the census tract population living in urban areas showed the largest spatial variation. These patterns support the hypothesis that the reasons for the differences in campylobacteriosis risk vary geographically across the study area. Wealthy and highly educated populations might acquire campylobacteriosis through exposure to undercooked foods in restaurants or contaminated outdoor environments while vacationing, whereas populations living in poverty or with lower levels of education attainment may be exposed through poor food handling at home. Campylobacteriosis risk factors have also been shown to differ between rural and urban environments due to different direct and indirect exposure opportunities and typical rural exposures include poultry and farm animals, unpasteurized milk and contaminated surface waters.

Regional variation in how underlying socioeconomic characteristics influence the parameter estimates of high risk areas warrant further investigation at a local level in rural and urban regions.

In our study, local Poisson GWR models had better statistical fit (lower AIC's) than the global models investigated. Although local GWR modeling is relatively new, the results convincingly indicate that local spatial characteristics can have a profound effect on regression coefficients and statistical significance of variables. Geographic disparities in risk should therefore be investigated at local levels to: (i) capture regional differences in the nature of the relationship between risk factors and disease outcome, (ii) avoid misleading inferences and conclusions from global models, and (iii) better inform disease control programs.

Health disparities are likely to change empirically as societal conditions and populations change over time and space, altering social and ethnic demographics and disease patterns. When the nature of a relationship varies from negative association in some areas to positive associations in others disease control strategies must be tailored, geographically, to fulfill the goal of needs-based health planning. By adopting strategies that target known high risk socioeconomic groups, limited resources can be more efficiently allocated and policy and planning can better target regional public health needs.

A number of factors may play a role in the accuracy and usefulness of these studies. Many ill persons do not seek care, have a stool culture performed, or have the etiology identified. In addition, data reporting may vary and the impact of linking census

information to campylobacteriosis risk is not known. Underreporting is expected, as campylobacteriosis is typically self limiting and very rarely fatal, therefore predictions and associations based on surveillance data should be interpreted with caution. The presence of outliers, change points or interventions can alter patterns and invalidate models. Furthermore, a large number of cases arising from a common source may result in a regional elevation in disease risk that may distort temporal and spatial modeling results. Improved identification and documentation of cases due to an outbreak (a strategy recently implemented by FoodNet) would help to eliminate this potential source of bias as well as add to our knowledge of the characteristics of the population at risk.

Accurate measurement and reporting of health disparities has important implications for decision-making and policy implementation at a local, national and international level, and constitutes a primary goal of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Over the past 20 years developed nations have implemented modern active surveillance systems that offer more accurate modeling and prediction capacity than was previously possible. Epidemiological and statistical software has advanced considerably, in line with our changing world. Specifically, advances in the utility and accessibility of temporal analysis tools broaden the investigative capacity of epidemiologists and public health officials in the field. SaTScan, a fast, user-friendly and well-developed cluster detection technique further adds to the growing body of knowledge on geographic distributions of disease. Similarly, local GWR approaches are novel, and we believe that the spatial variations in regression coefficients need to be

investigated. Advanced interdisciplinary analytical techniques that incorporate temporal and geographic parameters into epidemiological studies in novel ways, need to be more widely accessible to researchers and epidemiologists.

#### Conclusions

Forecasting campylobacteriois risk in Georgia using inherent temporal patterns and incorporating regional climatic factors improves our understanding of biological, environmental and behavioural drivers of disease. The addition of statistical control charting augments predictive models when erratic, non random patterns exist and serves as an early warning system at the division level. Forecasting on the state level improved our explanation of the variance in campylobacterioisis risk in decomposition and multivariable time series regression models. However, the patterns and climatic associations identified by division level analyses highlight how important information can be gleaned at finer levels of investigation. Public health officials can more readily address specific "out of control" risk estimates in a timely manner by focusing on the causal factors that relate directly to their regions. Furthermore, climate and weather information can be rapidly and freely obtained, and assessing the baseline impact of temperature and precipitation, in real time, may be a useful alternative for those who do not have ready access to surveillance data. Modeling and comparing campylobacteriosis time series patterns in regions with different environmental characteristics is an important step towards identifying transmission routes, sources and reservoirs with greater accuracy.

The overlap in spatial clustering of campylobacteriosis across three geographic scales in Tennessee improved our confidence in hot spot detection and attests to the validity of comparing between levels. This finding is especially important in situations where address data are unavailable, making finer scale analyses impossible. Identification and superimposition of regional-specific risk factors would help generate hypotheses for the spatial differences in campylobacteriosis risk identified in these analyses. Subsequently, this knowledge could be used to create a framework whereby future disease control strategies become more geographically precise and economically efficient.

Global regression strategies frequently used to investigate determinants of geographic disparities in disease distribution, generally tend to mask the true nature of the relationship between the outcome and explanatory variables. Since local GWR models estimate a regression coefficient for each location in a study area, they are able to more powerfully reveal the geographic differences in the associations between the explanatory variables and the disease. Thus, local GWR regression models provide a tool to understanding the true impact of health inequalities and improving the allocation of resources for disease control programs.

The level at which an investigation is conducted dictates the sense of the relationship identified between disease risk and temporal and spatial variables. A critical decision must be made *a priori*, as to the chosen level of study, based upon the practicality of predictive models, epidemiological and biological information and the importance of capturing minute details and anomalies. In a recent commentary,

epidemiologist R.S. Bhopal stated that "the absence of both clarity in conceptual reasoning and high-quality data are twin obstacles, arguably making the task [ethical and just policy] impossible" (344). By adopting more focused regional goals, public health officials can better identify the most important disease determinants, plan unique health programs, allot resources and provide timely and cost-effective services based on high risk populations.

A common thread that weaves these four diverse studies together resides at the interface between statistical and epidemiological modeling, technological advances in computing and software and practical issues of public health and policy. Every aspect of our planet and our lives are changing, in some cases exponentially. Our investigations into the temporal and spatial patterns of campylobacteriosis are a microcosmic glimpse into how epidemiological modeling can provide novel, accurate and quantifiable results that serve as an impetus for local and global change. The research community, government and non-government health organizations, worldwide, can no longer afford to observe the realm of public health through a narrow lens, but must embrace the tools and the mindset that address health disparities from a multidimensional and interdisciplinary perspective.

List of References

(1) Allos BM, Taylor DN. *Campylobacter* Infections. In: Evans AS, Brachman PS, eds. Bacterial Infections of Humans, Epidemiology and Control. Third ed. New York: Plenum Medical Book Company, 1998: 169-90.

(2) Altekruse SF, Swerdlow DL. *Campylobacter jejuni* and Related organisms. In: Cliver DO, Riemann HP, eds. Foodborne Diseases. Second ed. Boston: Academic Press, 2002: 103-12.

(3) Tauxe RV. Incidence, trends and sources of Campylobacteriosis in developed countries: An overview. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 42-3.

(4) Frost J. Current epidemiological issues in human campylobacteriosis. Symp Ser Soc Appl Microbiol 2001(30): 85S-95S.

(5) Vandamme PAR. Methods for Identification of *Campylobacter*. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 94-9.

(6) Newell DG, Wassenaar TM. Strengths and weaknesses of bacterial typing tools for the study of Campylobacteriosis epidemiology. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 101-4.

(7) Dahoo I, Martin W, Stryhm H. Veterinary Epidemiologic Research. Charlottetown, PEI: AVC Inc., 2003: 706.

(8) Jepsen MR, Simonsen J, Ethelberg S. Spatio-temporal cluster analysis of the incidence of Campylobacter cases and patients with general diarrhea in a Danish county, 1995-2004. Int J Health Geogr 2009; 8: 11.

(9) Hearnden M, Skelly C, Eyles R, Weinstein P. The regionality of campylobacteriosis seasonality in New Zealand. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH RESEARCH 2003; 13(4): 337-48.

(10) Kovats R, Edwards S, Charron D, et al. Climate variability and campylobacter infection: an international study. Int J Biometeorol 2005; 49(4): 207-14.

(11) Patrick M, Christiansen L, Wainø M, Ethelberg S, Madsen H, Wegener H. Effects of climate on incidence of Campylobacter spp. in humans and prevalence in broiler flocks in Denmark. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004; 70(12): 7474-80.

(12) Fleury M, Charron DF, Holt JD, Allen OB, Maarouf AR. A time series analysis of the relationship of ambient temperature and common bacterial enteric infections in two Canadian provinces. Int J Biometeorol 2006; 50(6): 385-91.

(13) Bi P, Hiller JE, Cameron AS, Zhang Y, Givney R. Climate variability and Ross River virus infections in Riverland, South Australia, 1992-2004. Epidemiol Infect 2009: 1-8.

(14) Nobre FF, Monteiro AB, Telles PR, Williamson GD. Dynamic linear model and SARIMA: a comparison of their forecasting performance in epidemiology. Stat Med 2001; 20(20): 3051-69.

(15) De Greeff SC, Dekkers AL, Teunis P, Rahamat-Langendoen JC, Mooi FR, De Melker HE. Seasonal patterns in time series of pertussis. Epidemiol Infect 2009: 1-8.
(16) Altizer S, Dobson A, Hosseini P, Hudson P, Pascual M, Rohani P. Seasonality and the dynamics of infectious diseases. Ecol Lett 2006; 9(4): 467-84.

(17) Hartnack S, Doherr MG, Alter T, Toutounian-Mashad K, Greiner M. Campylobacter monitoring in German broiler flocks: an explorative time series analysis. Zoonoses Public Health 2009; 56(3): 117-28.

(18) Benneyan JC. Design, use and performance of statistcal control charts for clinical process improvement. In. Boston: Northeastern University, 2001: 1-26.

(19) Cardinal M, Roy R, Lambert J. On the application of integer-valued time series models for the analysis of disease incidence. Stat Med 1999; 18(15): 2025-39.

(20) Williamson GD, Weatherby Hudson G. A monitoring system for detecting aberrations in public health surveillance reports. Stat Med 1999; 18(23): 3283-98.

(21) Medina DC, Findley SE, Guindo B, Doumbia S. Forecasting non-stationary diarrhea, acute respiratory infection, and malaria time-series in Niono, Mali. PLoS ONE 2007; 2(11): e1181.

(22) Myers MF, Rogers DJ, Cox J, Flahault A, Hay SI. Forecasting disease risk for increased epidemic preparedness in public health. Adv Parasitol 2000; 47: 309-30.

(23) Benschop J, Stevenson MA, Dahl J, Morris RS, French NP. Temporal and longitudinal analysis of Danish Swine Salmonellosis Control Programme data: implications for surveillance. Epidemiol Infect 2008; 136(11): 1511-20.

(24) Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food - 10 states, 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep; 59(14): 418-22.

(25) Weisent J, Rohrbach B, Dunn JR, Odoi A. Detection of high risk campylobacteriosis clusters at three geographic levels. Geospat Health; 6(1): 65-76.

(26) Beale L, Abellan JJ, Hodgson S, Jarup L. Methodologic issues and approaches to spatial epidemiology. Environ Health Perspect 2008; 116(8): 1105-10.

(27) Pascutto C, Wakefield JC, Best NG, et al. Statistical issues in the analysis of disease mapping data. Stat Med 2000; 19(17-18): 2493-519.

(28) Oliver MN, Matthews KA, Siadaty M, Hauck FR, Pickle LW. Geographic bias related to geocoding in epidemiologic studies. Int J Health Geogr 2005; 4: 29.

(29) Krieger N, Chen JT, Waterman PD, Soobader MJ, Subramanian SV, Carson R. Geocoding and monitoring of US socioeconomic inequalities in mortality and cancer incidence: does the choice of area-based measure and geographic level matter?: the Public Health Disparities Geocoding Project. Am J Epidemiol 2002; 156(5): 471-82.

(30) Elliott P, Wartenberg D. Spatial epidemiology: current approaches and future challenges. Environ Health Perspect 2004; 112(9): 998-1006.

(31) Que J, Tsui FC. A multi-level spatial clustering algorithm for detection of disease outbreaks. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2008: 611-5.

(32) Lai PC, Wong CM, Hedley AJ, et al. Understanding the spatial clustering of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in Hong Kong. Environ Health Perspect 2004; 112(15): 1550-6.

(33) Odoi A, Martin SW, Michel P, Middleton D, Holt J, Wilson J. Investigation of clusters of giardiasis using GIS and a spatial scan statistic. Int J Health Geogr 2004; 3(1): 11.

(34) Bilheimer LT, Klein RJ. Data and measurement issues in the analysis of health disparities. Health Serv Res 2010; 45(5 Pt 2): 1489-507.

(35) Harper S, Lynch J, Meersman SC, Breen N, Davis WW, Reichman ME. An overview of methods for monitoring social disparities in cancer with an example using trends in lung cancer incidence by area-socioeconomic position and race-ethnicity, 1992-2004. Am J Epidemiol 2008; 167(8): 889-99.

(36) Baker MG, Sneyd E, Wilson NA. Is the major increase in notified campylobacteriosis in New Zealand real? Epidemiol Infect 2007; 135(1): 163-70.

(37) Belongia E, Chyou P, Greenlee R, Perez-Perez G, Bibb W, DeVries E. Diarrhea incidence and farm-related risk factors for Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Campylobacter jejuni antibodies among rural children. J Infect Dis 2003; 187(9): 1460-8.

(38) Havelaar AH, de Wit, Matty A.S., van Koningsveld, R., van Kempen, E. Health Burden due to infection with thermophilic *Campylobacter spp*. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human

Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 49-52.

(39) Tian N, Wilson JG, Zhan FB. Spatial association of racial/ethnic disparities between latestage diagnosis and mortality for female breast cancer: where to intervene? Int J Health Geogr; 10: 24.

(40) Cheng EM, Atkinson PM, Shahani AK. Elucidating the spatially varying relation between cervical cancer and socio-economic conditions in England. Int J Health Geogr; 10: 51.

(41) Comber AJ, Brunsdon C, Radburn R. A spatial analysis of variations in health access: linking geography, socio-economic status and access perceptions. Int J Health Geogr; 10: 44.

(42) Nakaya T, Fotheringham AS, Brunsdon C, Charlton M. Geographically weighted Poisson regression for disease association mapping. Stat Med 2005; 24(17): 2695-717.

(43) Charlton M, Fotheringham AS. Geographically Weighted Regression White Paper. Maynooth, Co Kildare, IRELAND: National Centre for Geocomputation; 2009 March 3 2009.

(44) Edwards KL, Clarke GP, Ransley JK, Cade J. The neighbourhood matters: studying exposures relevant to childhood obesity and the policy implications in Leeds, UK. J Epidemiol Community Health 2009; 64(3): 194-201.

(45) Wen TH, Chen DR, Tsai MJ. Identifying geographical variations in poverty-obesity relationships: empirical evidence from Taiwan. Geospat Health 2010; 4(2): 257-65.

(46) Vona-Davis L, Rose DP. The influence of socioeconomic disparities on breast cancer tumor biology and prognosis: a review. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2009; 18(6): 883-93.

(47) Snelling W, Matsuda M, Moore J, Dooley J. Campylobacter jejuni. Lett Appl Microbiol 2005; 41(4): 297-302.

(48) Wassenaar TM, Newell DG. Prokaryotes. In: Dworkin M, ed. The Prokaryotes: Springer, 2006: 119-38.

(49) Moore J, Corcoran D, Dooley J, et al. Campylobacter. Vet Res 2005; 36(3): 351-82.

(50) Galanis E. Campylobacter and bacterial gastroenteritis. CMAJ 2007; 177(6): 570-1.

(51) Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004; 38 Suppl 3: S285-96.

(52) Skirrow MB, Butzler J-P. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. Second ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press, 2000.

(53) Zilbauer M, Dorrell N, Wren BW, Bajaj-Elliott M. Campylobacter jejuni-mediated disease pathogenesis: an update. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2008; 102(2): 123-9.

(54) Walker RI, Caldwell MB, Lee EC, Guerry P, Trust TJ, Ruiz-Palacios GM. Pathophysiology of Campylobacter enteritis. Microbiol Rev 1986; 50(1): 81-94.

(55) Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ. *Campylobacter*. Second ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press, 2000.

(56) de Zoete MR, van Putten JP, Wagenaar JA. Vaccination of chickens against Campylobacter. Vaccine 2007; 25(30): 5548-57.

(57) Lastovica AJ, Engel, Mark E. Epidemiology of other *Campylobacter* species. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts Consultation Proceedings of a WHO Consultation Proceedings of a WHO Consultation Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts Consultation Proceedings of a WHO Consultat

Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 61-4.
(58) Frost J, Gillespie I, O'Brian SJ. Combining typing data and epidemiological information in *Campylobacter* surveillance-new opportunities. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organization, 2001: 81-6.

(59) Nielsen EM, Engberg J, Fussing V, Petersen L, Brogren CH, On SL. Evaluation of phenotypic and genotypic methods for subtyping Campylobacter jejuni isolates from humans, poultry, and cattle. J Clin Microbiol 2000; 38(10): 3800-10.

(60) Food and Waterborne Diseases Quarterly *Campylobacter* Report 2007/Q3 July-September 2007: European Center for Disease prevention and Control FWD team; 2007.

(61) Alter T, Gaull F, Kasimir S, et al. Prevalences and transmission routes of Campylobacter spp. strains within multiple pig farms. Vet Microbiol 2005; 108(3-4): 251-61.

(62) Denis M, Refregier-Petton J, Laisney MJ, Ermel G, Salvat G. Campylobacter contamination in French chicken production from farm to consumers. Use of a PCR assay for detection and identification of Campylobacter jejuni and Camp. coli. J Appl Microbiol 2001; 91(2): 255-67.

(63) Oberhelman RA, Taylor DN. *Campylobacter* Infections In Developing Countries. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. *Campylobacter*. Second ed. Washington D.C.: ASM Press, 2000: 139-53.

(64) Inglis G, Kalischuk L, Busz H. Chronic shedding of Campylobacter species in beef cattle. J Appl Microbiol 2004; 97(2): 410-20.

(65) Wieland B, Regula G, Danuser J, et al. Campylobacter spp. in dogs and cats in Switzerland: risk factor analysis and molecular characterization with AFLP. J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health 2005; 52(4): 183-9.

(66) Hald B, Madsen M. Healthy puppies and kittens as carriers of Campylobacter spp., with special reference to Campylobacter upsaliensis. J Clin Microbiol 1997; 35(12): 3351-2.

(67) Uzunovic-Kamberovic S, Zorman T, Heyndrickx M, Smole Mozina S. Role of poultry meat in sporadic Campylobacter infections in Bosnia and Herzegovina: laboratory-based study. Croat Med J 2007; 48(6): 842-51.

(68) Fernandez H. Emergence of antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter*: The consequences for incidence, clinical course, epidemiology and control. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human

Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 67-72.

(69) Skirrow MB, Blaser MJ. Clinical Aspects of *Campylobacter* Infection. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. *Campylobacter*. Second ed. Washington, D.C: ASM Press, 2000: 69-88.

(70) Conlan AJ, Coward C, Grant AJ, Maskell DJ, Gog JR. Campylobacter jejuni colonization and transmission in broiler chickens: a modelling perspective. J R Soc Interface 2007; 4(16): 819-29.

(71) Gillespie I, O'Brien S, Frost J, et al. A case-case comparison of Campylobacter coli and Campylobacter jejuni infection: a tool for generating hypotheses. Emerg Infect Dis 2002; 8(9): 937-42.

(72) Evans MR, Ribeiro CD, Salmon RL. Hazards of healthy living: bottled water and salad vegetables as risk factors for Campylobacter infection. Emerg Infect Dis 2003; 9(10): 1219-25.

(73) Blaser MJ, Engberg J. Clinical Aspects of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* Infections. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. 3 ed. Washington DC: ASM Press, 2008: 99-121.

(74) Dasti JI, Tareen AM, Lugert R, Zautner AE, Gross U. Campylobacter jejuni: a brief overview on pathogenicity-associated factors and disease-mediating mechanisms. Int J Med Microbiol; 300(4): 205-11.

(75) Watson RO, Galan JE. Campylobacter jejuni survives within epithelial cells by avoiding delivery to lysosomes. PLoS Pathog 2008; 4(1): e14.

(76) Tauxe RV. Major Risk factors for human Campylobacteriosis-An overview. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 65-6.
(77) Cover TL, Blaser MJ. The pathobiology of Campylobacter infections in humans. Annu Rev Med 1989; 40: 269-85.

(78) Guerry P. Campylobacter flagella: not just for motility. Trends Microbiol 2007; 15(10): 456-61.

(79) Janssen R, Krogfelt KA, Cawthraw SA, van Pelt W, Wagenaar JA, Owen RJ. Hostpathogen interactions in Campylobacter infections: the host perspective. Clin Microbiol Rev 2008; 21(3): 505-18.

(80) Van Deun K, Haesebrouck F, Heyndrickx M, et al. Virulence properties of Campylobacter jejuni isolates of poultry and human origin. J Med Microbiol 2007; 56(Pt 10): 1284-9.

(81) Wooldridge KG, Ketley JM. Campylobacter-host cell interactions. Trends Microbiol 1997; 5(3): 96-102.

(82) Gaynor EC, Wells DH, MacKichan JK, Falkow S. The Campylobacter jejuni stringent response controls specific stress survival and virulence-associated phenotypes. Mol Microbiol 2005; 56(1): 8-27.

(83) van Alphen LB, Bleumink-Pluym NM, Rochat KD, van Balkom BW, Wosten MM, van Putten JP. Active migration into the subcellular space precedes Campylobacter jejuni invasion of epithelial cells. Cell Microbiol 2008; 10(1): 53-66.

(84) Pope C, Wilson J, Taboada EN, et al. Epidemiology, relative invasive ability, molecular characterization, and competitive performance of Campylobacter jejuni strains in the chicken gut. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007; 73(24): 7959-66.

(85) Poly F, Guerry P. Pathogenesis of Campylobacter. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2008; 24(1): 27-31.

(86) Young KT, Davis LM, Dirita VJ. Campylobacter jejuni: molecular biology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol 2007; 5(9): 665-79.

(87) Pickett CL. *Campylobacter* Toxins and their Role in Pathogenesis. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. Second ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press, 2000: 179-90.

(88) Stanley K, Jones K. Cattle and sheep farms as reservoirs of Campylobacter. J Appl Microbiol 2003; 94 Suppl: 104S-13S.

(89) Murphy C, Carroll C, Jordan K. Environmental survival mechanisms of the foodborne pathogen Campylobacter jejuni. J Appl Microbiol 2006; 100(4): 623-32.

(90) Thomas C, Hill D, Mabey M. Evaluation of the effect of temperature and nutrients on the survival of Campylobacter spp. in water microcosms. J Appl Microbiol 1999; 86(6): 1024-32.

(91) Mihaljevic RR, Sikic M, Klancnik A, Brumini G, Mozina SS, Abram M. Environmental stress factors affecting survival and virulence of Campylobacter jejuni. Microb Pathog 2007; 43(2-3): 120-5.

(92) Moen B, Oust A, Langsrud Ø, et al. Explorative multifactor approach for investigating global survival mechanisms of Campylobacter jejuni under environmental conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005; 71(4): 2086-94.

(93) Cook KL, Bolster CH. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni and Escherichia coli in groundwater during prolonged starvation at low temperatures. J Appl Microbiol 2007; 103(3): 573-83.

(94) Jones K. The Campylobacter conundrum. Trends Microbiol 2001; 9(8): 365-6.

(95) Obiri-Danso K, Paul N, Jones K. The effects of UVB and temperature on the survival of natural populations and pure cultures of Campylobacter jejuni, Camp. coli, Camp. lari and urease-positive thermophilic campylobacters (UPTC) in surface waters. J Appl Microbiol 2001; 90(2): 256-67.

(96) Louis VR, Gillespie IA, O'Brien SJ, Russek-Cohen E, Pearson AD, Colwell RR. Temperature-driven Campylobacter seasonality in England and Wales. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005; 71(1): 85-92.

(97) Rollins D, Colwell R. Viable but nonculturable stage of Campylobacter jejuni and its role in survival in the natural aquatic environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 1986; 52(3): 531-8.

(98) Devane M, Nicol C, Ball A, et al. The occurrence of Campylobacter subtypes in environmental reservoirs and potential transmission routes. J Appl Microbiol 2005; 98(4): 980-90.

(99) Vereen EJ, Lowrance R, Cole D, Lipp E. Distribution and ecology of campylobacters in coastal plain streams (Georgia, United States of America). Appl Environ Microbiol 2007; 73(5): 1395-403.

(100) Kemp R, Leatherbarrow A, Williams N, et al. Prevalence and genetic diversity of Campylobacter spp. in environmental water samples from a 100-square-kilometer predominantly dairy farming area. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005; 71(4): 1876-82.

(101) Templeton J, De Jong A, Blackall P, Miflin J. Survival of Campylobacter spp. in darkling beetles (Alphitobius diaperinus) and their larvae in Australia. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006; 72(12): 7909-11.

(102) Axelsson-Olsson D, Waldenström J, Broman T, Olsen B, Holmberg M. Protozoan Acanthamoeba polyphaga as a potential reservoir for Campylobacter jejuni. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005; 71(2): 987-92.

(103) Snelling W, McKenna J, Lecky D, Dooley J. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni in waterborne protozoa. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005; 71(9): 5560-71.

(104) Dykes GA, Sampathkumar B, Korber DR. Planktonic or biofilm growth affects survival, hydrophobicity and protein expression patterns of a pathogenic Campylobacter jejuni strain. Int J Food Microbiol 2003; 89(1): 1-10.

(105) Tholozan J, Cappelier J, Tissier J, Delattre G, Federighi M. Physiological characterization of viable-but-nonculturable Campylobacter jejuni cells. Appl Environ Microbiol 1999; 65(3): 1110-6.

(106) Martin S, Penttinen P, Hedin G, et al. A case-cohort study to investigate concomitant waterborne outbreaks of Campylobacter and gastroenteritis in Soderhamn, Sweden, 2002-3. J Water Health 2006; 4(4): 417-24.

(107) Skelly C, Weinstein P. Pathogen survival trajectories: an eco-environmental approach to the modeling of human campylobacteriosis ecology. Environ Health Perspect 2003; 111(1): 19-28.

(108) Garenaux A, Jugiau F, Rama F, et al. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni Strains from Different Origins Under Oxidative Stress Conditions: Effect of Temperature. Curr Microbiol 2008.

(109) Rosenquist H, Nielsen NL, Sommer HM, Norrung B, Christensen BB. Quantitative risk assessment of human campylobacteriosis associated with thermophilic Campylobacter species in chickens. Int J Food Microbiol 2003; 83(1): 87-103.

(110) Unicomb LE, Dalton CB, Gilbert GL, Becker NG, Patel MS. Age-specific risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in regional Australia. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2008; 5(1): 79-85.

(111) Ruiz-Palacios G. The health burden of Campylobacter infection and the impact of antimicrobial resistance: playing chicken. Clin Infect Dis 2007; 44(5): 701-3.

(112) Stern NJ, Cox NA, Hiett KL. Strategies for controlling *Campylobacter* spp. in poultry. In: Organization WH, ed. WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human

Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000. Geneva, 2001: 106-9.

(113) Ekdahl K, Normann B, Andersson Y. Could flies explain the elusive epidemiology of campylobacteriosis? BMC Infect Dis 2005; 5(1): 11.

(114) Adhikari B, Connolly JH, Madie P, Davies PR. Prevalence and clonal diversity of Campylobacter jejuni from dairy farms and urban sources. N Z Vet J 2004; 52(6): 378-83.

(115) Meerburg BG, Jacobs-Reitsma WF, Wagenaar JA, Kijlstra A. Presence of Salmonella and Campylobacter spp. in wild small mammals on organic farms. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006; 72(1): 960-2.

(116) Nichols GL. Fly transmission of Campylobacter. Emerg Infect Dis 2005; 11(3): 361-4.

(117) Guerin MT, Martin SW, Reiersen J, et al. Temperature-related risk factors associated with the colonization of broiler-chicken flocks with Campylobacter spp. in Iceland, 2001-2004. Prev Vet Med 2008; 86(1-2): 14-29.

(118) Hald B, Sommer HM, Skovgard H. Use of fly screens to reduce Campylobacter spp. introduction in broiler houses. Emerg Infect Dis 2007; 13(12): 1951-3.

(119) Havelaar AH, van Pelt W, Ang CW, et al. Immunity to Campylobacter: its role in risk assessment and epidemiology. Crit Rev Microbiol 2009; 35(1): 1-22.

(120) Potter RC, Kaneene JB, Gardiner J. A comparison of Campylobacter jejuni enteritis incidence rates in high- and low-poultry-density counties: Michigan 1992-1999. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis 2002; 2(3): 137-43.

(121) Girard MP, Steele D, Chaignat CL, Kieny MP. A review of vaccine research and development: human enteric infections. Vaccine 2006; 24(15): 2732-50.

(122) Gillespie IA, O'Brien SJ, Penman C, Tompkins D, Cowden J, Humphrey TJ. Demographic determinants for Campylobacter infection in England and Wales: implications for future epidemiological studies. Epidemiol Infect 2008; 136(12): 1717-25.

(123) Coker AO, Isokpehi RD, Thomas BN, Amisu KO, Obi CL. Human campylobacteriosis in developing countries. Emerg Infect Dis 2002; 8(3): 237-44.

(124) Gormley FJ, Macrae M, Forbes KJ, Ogden ID, Dallas JF, Strachan NJ. Has retail chicken played a role in the decline of human campylobacteriosis? Appl Environ Microbiol 2008; 74(2): 383-90.

(125) Gilpin BJ, Scholes P, Robson B, Savill MG. The transmission of thermotolerant Campylobacter spp. to people living or working on dairy farms in New Zealand. Zoonoses Public Health 2008; 55(7): 352-60.

(126) Miller G, Dunn G, Reid T, Ogden I, Strachan N. Does age acquired immunity confer selective protection to common serotypes of Campylobacter jejuni? BMC Infect Dis 2005; 5: 66.
(127) Doorduyn Y, Van Pelt W, Siezen CL, et al. Novel insight in the association between salmonellosis or campylobacteriosis and chronic illness, and the role of host genetics in susceptibility to these diseases. Epidemiol Infect 2008; 136(9): 1225-34.

(128) Nichols GL, Richardson JF, Sheppard SK, Lane C, Sarran C. Campylobacter epidemiology: a descriptive study reviewing 1 million cases in England and Wales between 1989 and 2011. BMJ Open; 2(4).

(129) Effler P, Ieong MC, Kimura A, et al. Sporadic Campylobacter jejuni infections in Hawaii: associations with prior antibiotic use and commercially prepared chicken. J Infect Dis 2001; 183(7): 1152-5.

(130) Tribble DR, Baqar S, Thompson SA. Development of a Human Vaccine. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. 3 ed. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 2008: 429-44.

(131) Doyle MP, Erickson MC. Reducing the carriage of foodborne pathogens in livestock and poultry. Poult Sci 2006; 85(6): 960-73.

(132) Zeng X, Xu F, Lin J. Development and evaluation of CmeC subunit vaccine against *Campylobacter jejuni*. NIH Public Access 2010; 1(3).

(133) Wagenaar JA, Jacobs-Reitsma W, Hopshagen P, Newell D. Poultry Colonization with *Campylobacter* and Its Control at Primary Production Level. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. 3 ed. Washington DC: ASM Press, 2008: 667-78.

(134) Fitzgerald C, Whichard J, Nachamkin I. Diagnosis and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of *Campylobacter* Species. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. 3 ed. Washington DC: ASM Press, 2008: 227-43.

(135) Bolton F. Methods for Isolation of Campylobacters from humans, animals, food and water. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 87-94.

(136) Wareing D, Bolton F, Fox A, Wright P, Greenway D. Phenotypic diversity of Campylobacter isolates from sporadic cases of human enteritis in the UK. J Appl Microbiol 2002; 92(3): 502-9.

(137) Hughes RA, Cornblath DR. Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet 2005; 366(9497): 1653-66.
(138) McCarthy N, Giesecke J. Incidence of Guillain-Barré syndrome following infection with Campylobacter jejuni. Am J Epidemiol 2001; 153(6): 610-4.

(139) van Doorn PA, Ruts L, Jacobs BC. Clinical features, pathogenesis, and treatment of Guillain-Barre syndrome. Lancet Neurol 2008; 7(10): 939-50.

(140) Taboada EN, van Belkum A, Yuki N, et al. Comparative genomic analysis of Campylobacter jejuni associated with Guillain-Barre and Miller Fisher syndromes: neuropathogenic and enteritis-associated isolates can share high levels of genomic similarity.

BMC Genomics 2007; 8: 359.

(141) Buzby JC, Allos BM, Roberts T. The economic burden of Campylobacter-associated Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Infect Dis 1997; 176 Suppl 2: S192-7.

(142) Ternhag A, Torner A, Svensson A, Ekdahl K, Giesecke J. Short- and long-term effects of bacterial gastrointestinal infections. Emerg Infect Dis 2008; 14(1): 143-8.

(143) Pope J, Krizova A, Garg A, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Ouimet J. Campylobacter reactive arthritis: a systematic review. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2007; 37(1): 48-55.

(144) Becker S, Ejlertsen T, Kristensen B, Norgaard M, Nielsen H. Is the incidence of perimyocarditis increased following Campylobacter jejuni infection? Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2007; 26(12): 927-9.

(145) de Vries JJ, Arents NL, Manson WL. Campylobacter species isolated from extra-orointestinal abscesses: a report of four cases and literature review. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2008; 27(11): 1119-23.

(146) Gupta A, Nelson J, Barrett T, et al. Antimicrobial resistance among Campylobacter strains, United States, 1997-2001. Emerg Infect Dis 2004; 10(6): 1102-9.

(147) Moore J, Barton M, Blair I, et al. The epidemiology of antibiotic resistance in Campylobacter. Microbes Infect 2006; 8(7): 1955-66.

(148) Luangtongkum T, Jeon B, Han J, Plummer P, Logue CM, Zhang Q. Antibiotic resistance in Campylobacter: emergence, transmission and persistence. Future Microbiol 2009; 4(2): 189-200.

(149) Alfredson DA, Korolik V. Antibiotic resistance and resistance mechanisms in Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2007; 277(2): 123-32.

(150) Inglis G, Morck D, McAllister T, et al. Temporal prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in Campylobacter spp. from beef cattle in Alberta feedlots. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006; 72(6): 4088-95.

(151) Lin J. Novel approaches for *Campylobacter* control in poultry. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2009; 6(7): 755-65.

(152) Gallay A, Prouzet-Mauleon V, Kempf I, et al. Campylobacter antimicrobial drug resistance among humans, broiler chickens, and pigs, France. Emerg Infect Dis 2007; 13(2): 259-66.

(153) Feierl G, Jelovcan S. Campylobacteriosis in Austria: situation and trends. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2009; 121(3-4): 103-7.

(154) Hammerum AM, Heuer OE, Lester CH, et al. Comment on: withdrawal of growthpromoting antibiotics in Europe and its effects in relation to human health. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2007; 30(5): 466-8.

(155) Englen MD, Hill AE, Dargatz DA, Ladely SR, Fedorka-Cray PJ. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of Campylobacter in US dairy cattle. J Appl Microbiol 2007; 102(6): 1570-7.

(156) Little CL, Richardson JF, Owen RJ, de Pinna E, Threlfall EJ. Campylobacter and Salmonella in raw red meats in the United Kingdom: prevalence, characterization and antimicrobial resistance pattern, 2003-2005. Food Microbiol 2008; 25(3): 538-43.

(157) Clark C, Price L, Ahmed R, et al. Characterization of waterborne outbreak-associated Campylobacter jejuni, Walkerton, Ontario. Emerg Infect Dis 2003; 9(10): 1232-41.

(158) Kärenlampi R, Rautelin H, Schönberg-Norio D, Paulin L, Hänninen M. Longitudinal study of Finnish Campylobacter jejuni and C. coli isolates from humans, using multilocus sequence typing, including comparison with epidemiological data and isolates from poultry and cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007; 73(1): 148-55.

(159) On SLW. What have we learned from *Campylobacter coli/jejuni* from bacterioloical typing studies? In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human

Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 53-7.

(160) Wassenaar TM, Newell DG. Genotyping of Campylobacter spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 2000; 66(1): 1-9.

(161) Nielsen EM, Fussing V, Engberg J, Nielsen NL, Neimann J. Most Campylobacter subtypes from sporadic infections can be found in retail poultry products and food animals. Epidemiol Infect 2006; 134(4): 758-67.

(162) Johnsen G, Zimmerman K, Lindstedt B, Vardund T, Herikstad H, Kapperud G. Intestinal carriage of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli among cattle from south-western Norway and comparative genotyping of bovine and human isolates by amplified-fragment length polymorphism. Acta Vet Scand 2006; 48(1): 4.

(163) Hanninen ML, Haajanen H, Pummi T, et al. Detection and typing of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli and analysis of indicator organisms in three waterborne outbreaks in Finland. Appl Environ Microbiol 2003; 69(3): 1391-6.

(164) Eyles R, Brooks H, Townsend C, et al. Comparison of Campylobacter jejuni PFGE and Penner subtypes in human infections and in water samples from the Taieri River catchment of New Zealand. J Appl Microbiol 2006; 101(1): 18-25.

(165) Gilpin B, Cornelius A, Robson B, et al. Application of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis to identify potential outbreaks of campylobacteriosis in New Zealand. J Clin Microbiol 2006; 44(2): 406-12.

(166) Wilson DJ, Gabriel E, Leatherbarrow AJ, et al. Tracing the source of campylobacteriosis. PLoS Genet 2008; 4(9): e1000203.

(167) Keller J, Wieland B, Wittwer M, Stephan R, Perreten V. Distribution and genetic variability among Campylobacter spp. isolates from different animal species and humans in Switzerland. Zoonoses Public Health 2007; 54(1): 2-7.

(168) Hanninen ML, Perko-Makela P, Pitkala A, Rautelin H. A three-year study of Campylobacter jejuni genotypes in humans with domestically acquired infections and in chicken samples from the Helsinki area. J Clin Microbiol 2000; 38(5): 1998-2000.

(169) Frost JA, O'Brien S, Bolton FJ, Little C. Public Health Lab Service Data for England and Wales: Human Infections and *Campylobacter* from retail foods. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 121-7.

(170) WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis. The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000. Geneva, 2001: 135.
(171) Friedman CR, Neimann J, Wegener HC, Tauxe RV. Epidemiology of Campylobacter Infection in the United States and Other Industrialized Nations. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. *Campylobacter*. Second ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press, 2000: 121-38.

(172) Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food--10 states, 2006. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2007; 56(14): 336-9.
(173) Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food--10 states, 2007. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008; 57(14): 366-70.

(174) Scallan E, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ, et al. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. Emerg Infect Dis; 17(1): 7-15.

(175) Allerberger F, Al-Jazrawi N, Kreidl P, et al. Barbecued chicken causing a multi-state outbreak of Campylobacter jejuni enteritis. Infection 2003; 31(1): 19-23.

(176) Brown P, Christensen O, Clough H, et al. Frequency and spatial distribution of environmental Campylobacter spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004; 70(11): 6501-11.

(177) Ethelberg S, Simonsen J, Gerner-Smidt P, Olsen K, Mølbak K. Spatial distribution and registry-based case-control analysis of Campylobacter infections in Denmark, 1991-2001. Am J Epidemiol 2005; 162(10): 1008-15.

(178) Humphrey T, O'Brien S, Madsen M. Campylobacters as zoonotic pathogens: a food production perspective. Int J Food Microbiol 2007; 117(3): 237-57.

(179) Havelaar AH, de Wit M, van Pelt W, et al. Campylobacteriosis in the Netherlands. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 130-3.

(180) McTavish SM, Pope CE, Nicol C, Sexton K, French N, Carter PE. Wide geographical distribution of internationally rare Campylobacter clones within New Zealand. Epidemiol Infect 2007: 1-9.

(181) Majowicz SE, Edge VL, Fazil A, et al. Estimating the under-reporting rate for infectious gastrointestinal illness in Ontario. Can J Public Health 2005; 96(3): 178-81.

(182) Thomas MK, Majowicz SE, Sockett PN, et al. Estimated Numbers of Community Cases of Illness Due to Salmonella, Campylobacter and Verotoxigenic Escherichia Coli: Pathogen-specific Community Rates. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 2006; 17(4): 229-34.

(183) Misawa N. Trends of *Campylobacter* enteritis in Japan. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 118.

(184) Vally H, Hall G, Scallan E, Kirk MD, Angulo FJ. Higher rate of culture-confirmed Campylobacter infections in Australia than in the USA: is this due to differences in healthcare-seeking behaviour or stool culture frequency? Epidemiol Infect 2009: 1-8.

(185) Engleberg N, Correa-Villaseñor A, North C, Crow T, Wells J, Blake P. Campylobacter enteritis on Hopi and Navajo Indian reservations. Clinical and epidemiologic features. West J Med 1984; 141(1): 53-6.

(186) Workman SN, Sobers SJ, Mathison GE, Lavoie MC. Human Campylobacter-associated enteritis on the Caribbean island of Barbados. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2006; 74(4): 623-7.

(187) Coker AO. Incidence, trends and sources of Campylobacteriosis in developing countries-An overview. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 44-8.

(188) Esrey SA, Habicht JP, Latham MC, Sisler DG, Casella G. Drinking water source, diarrheal morbidity, and child growth in villages with both traditional and improved water supplies in rural Lesotho, southern Africa. Am J Public Health 1988; 78(11): 1451-5.

(189) Carrique-Mas J, Andersson Y, Hjertqvist M, Svensson A, Torner A, Giesecke J. Risk factors for domestic sporadic campylobacteriosis among young children in Sweden. Scand J Infect Dis 2005; 37(2): 101-10.

(190) Skirrow MB. Epidemiology of Campylobacter enteritis. Int J Food Microbiol 1991; 12(1): 9-16.

(191) Molbak K, Havelaar A. Burden of Illness of Campylobacteriosis and Sequelae. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. Third ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press, 2008.

(192) Zhao C, Ge B, De Villena J, et al. Prevalence of Campylobacter spp., Escherichia coli, and Salmonella serovars in retail chicken, turkey, pork, and beef from the Greater Washington, D.C., area. Appl Environ Microbiol 2001; 67(12): 5431-6.

(193) Molbak K. What can be learned from surveillance and register studies? In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 73-80.

(194) Ternhag A, Torner A, Svensson A, Giesecke J, Ekdahl K. Mortality following Campylobacter infection: a registry-based linkage study. BMC Infect Dis 2005; 5: 70.
(195) Gillespie I, O'Brien S, Adak G, et al. Point source outbreaks of Campylobacter jejuni

infection--are they more common than we think and what might cause them? Epidemiol Infect 2003; 130(3): 367-75.

(196) Stafford RJ, Schluter PJ, Wilson AJ, Kirk MD, Hall G, Unicomb L. Populationattributable risk estimates for risk factors associated with Campylobacter infection, australia. Emerg Infect Dis 2008; 14(6): 895-901.

(197) Hall G, Yohannes K, Raupach J, Becker N, Kirk M. Estimating community incidence of Salmonella, Campylobacter, and Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli infections, Australia. Emerg Infect Dis 2008; 14(10): 1601-9.

(198) de Jong B, Ancker C. Web-based questionnaires - a tool used in a Campylobacter outbreak investigation in Stockholm, Sweden, October 2007. Euro Surveill 2008; 13(17).
(199) Gallay A, Bousquet V, Siret V, et al. Risk factors for acquiring sporadic campylobacter infection in france: results from a national case-control study. J Infect Dis 2008; 197(10): 1477-84.

(200) Hedberg CW, Greenblatt JF, Matyas BT, et al. Timeliness of enteric disease surveillance in 6 US states. Emerg Infect Dis 2008; 14(2): 311-3.

(201) O'Leary MC, Harding O, Fisher L, Cowden J. A continuous common-source outbreak of campylobacteriosis associated with changes to the preparation of chicken liver pate. Epidemiol Infect 2008: 1-6.

(202) Forbes KJ, Gormley FJ, Dallas JF, et al. Campylobacter immunity and coinfection following a large outbreak in a farming community. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47(1): 111-6.

(203) Hopkins RS, Olmsted R, Istre GR. Endemic Campylobacter jejuni infection in Colorado: identified risk factors. Am J Public Health 1984; 74(3): 249-50.

(204) Hansson I, Vagsholm I, Svensson L, Olsson Engvall E. Correlations between Campylobacter spp. prevalence in the environment and broiler flocks. J Appl Microbiol 2007; 103(3): 640-9.

(205) Workman SN, Mathison GE, Lavoie MC. Pet dogs and chicken meat as reservoirs of Campylobacter spp. in Barbados. J Clin Microbiol 2005; 43(6): 2642-50.

(206) Workman SN, Mathison GE, Lavoie MC. An investigation of sources of Campylobacter in a poultry production and packing operation in Barbados. Int J Food Microbiol 2008; 121(1): 106-11.

(207) Mead GC. Strategies for post-harvest control of *Campylobacter:* A review. In: Organization WH, ed. WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human

Campylobacteriosis The Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000. Geneva, 2001: 110-5.

(208) Arsenault J, Letellier A, Quessy S, Normand V, Boulianne M. Prevalence and risk factors for Salmonella spp. and Campylobacter spp. caecal colonization in broiler chicken and turkey flocks slaughtered in Quebec, Canada. Prev Vet Med 2007; 81(4): 250-64.

(209) Kärenlampi R, Rautelin H, Hakkinen M, Hänninen M. Temporal and geographical distribution and overlap of Penner heat-stable serotypes and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis

genotypes of Campylobacter jejuni isolates collected from humans and chickens in Finland during a seasonal peak. J Clin Microbiol 2003; 41(10): 4870-2.

(210) Hald B, Skovgard H, Bang DD, et al. Flies and Campylobacter infection of broiler flocks. Emerg Infect Dis 2004; 10(8): 1490-2.

(211) Vellinga A, Van Loock F. The dioxin crisis as experiment to determine poultry-related campylobacter enteritis. Emerg Infect Dis 2002; 8(1): 19-22.

(212) Nygard K, Andersson Y, Rottingen J, et al. Association between environmental risk factors and campylobacter infections in Sweden. EPIDEMIOLOGY AND INFECTION 2004; 132(2): 317-25.

(213) Stirling J, Griffith M, Dooley JS, et al. Zoonoses associated with petting farms and open zoos. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis 2008; 8(1): 85-92.

(214) Joacobs-Reitsma W. *Campylobacter* In the Food Supply. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. *Campylobacter*. Second ed. Washington D.C.: ASM Press, 2000: 467-81.

(215) Outbreak of Campylobacter enteritis associated with cross-contamination of food--Oklahoma, 1996. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 1998; 47(7): 129-31.

(216) de Jong AE, Verhoeff-Bakkenes L, Nauta MJ, de Jonge R. Cross-contamination in the kitchen: effect of hygiene measures. J Appl Microbiol 2008.

(217) Istre GR, Blaser MJ, Shillam P, Hopkins RS. Campylobacter enteritis associated with undercooked barbecued chicken. Am J Public Health 1984; 74(11): 1265-7.

(218) Luber P, Bartelt E. Enumeration of Campylobacter spp. on the surface and within chicken breast fillets. J Appl Microbiol 2007; 102(2): 313-8.

(219) Winquist AG, Roome A, Mshar R, Fiorentino T, Mshar P, Hadler J. Outbreak of campylobacteriosis at a senior center. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001; 49(3): 304-7.

(220) Michaud S, Menard S, Arbeit RD. Campylobacteriosis, Eastern Townships, Quebec. Emerg Infect Dis 2004; 10(10): 1844-7.

(221) Robinson DA. Infective dose of Campylobacter jejuni in milk. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1981; 282(6276): 1584.

(222) Taylor DN, Porter BW, Williams CA, Miller HG, Bopp CA, Blake PA. Campylobacter enteritis: a large outbreak traced to commercial raw milk. West J Med 1982; 137(5): 365-9.

(223) Outbreak of Campylobacter jejuni infections associated with drinking unpasteurized milk procured through a cow-leasing program--Wisconsin, 2001. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2002; 51(25): 548-9.

(224) Leifert C, Ball K, Volakakis N, Cooper JM. Control of enteric pathogens in ready-to-eat vegetable crops in organic and 'low input' production systems: a HACCP-based approach. J Appl Microbiol 2008; 105(4): 931-50.

(225) Green C, Krause D, Wylie J. Spatial analysis of Campylobacter infection in the Canadian province of Manitoba. Int J Health Geogr 2006; 5(1): 2.

(226) Tam CC. Fortune and foreigners: toward an epidemiology of food (borne illness). Epidemiology 2008; 19(2): 291-3.

(227) Boga JA, Melon S, Nicieza I, et al. Etiology of sporadic cases of pediatric acute gastroenteritis in asturias, Spain, and genotyping and characterization of norovirus strains involved. J Clin Microbiol 2004; 42(6): 2668-74.

(228) Fullerton K, Ingram L, Jones T, et al. Sporadic campylobacter infection in infants: a population-based surveillance case-control study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007; 26(1): 19-24.

(229) Bellido-Blasco JB, Gonzalez-Cano JM, Galiano-Arlandis JV, et al. [Risk factors for the occurrence of sporadic Campylobacter, Salmonella and rotavirus diarrhea in preschool children]. An Pediatr (Barc) 2007; 66(4): 367-74.

(230) Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, et al. Epidemiology of sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004; 38 Suppl 3: S165-74.

(231) Hopkins RS, Olmsted RN. Campylobacter jejuni infection in Colorado: unexplained excess of cases in males. Public Health Rep 1985; 100(3): 333-6.

(232) Heyworth JS, Cutt H, Glonek G. Does dog or cat ownership lead to increased gastroenteritis in young children in South Australia? Epidemiol Infect 2006; 134(5): 926-34.
(233) Coker AO, Isokpehi RD, Thomas BN, Amisu KO. Campylobacter enteritis in Lagos, Nigeria. In: WHO Consultation on the Increasing Incidence of Human Campylobacteriosis: Report and Proceedings of a WHO Consultation of Experts, Copenhagen, Denmark 21-25 November 2000: World Health Organization, 2001: 117.

(234) Gilpin BJ, Thorrold B, Scholes P, et al. Comparison of Campylobacter jejuni genotypes from dairy cattle and human sources from the Matamata-Piako District of New Zealand. J Appl Microbiol 2008; 105(5): 1354-60.

(235) Garrett N, Devane ML, Hudson JA, et al. Statistical comparison of Campylobacter jejuni subtypes from human cases and environmental sources. J Appl Microbiol 2007; 103(6): 2113-21.
(236) Sandberg M, Nygård K, Meldal H, Valle P, Kruse H, Skjerve E. Incidence trend and risk factors for campylobacter infections in humans in Norway. BMC Public Health 2006; 6: 179.
(237) Ekdahl K, Andersson Y. Regional risks and seasonality in travel-associated campylobacteriosis. BMC Infect Dis 2004; 4(1): 54.

(238) Ekdahl K, Giesecke J. Travellers returning to Sweden as sentinels for comparative disease incidence in other European countries, campylobacter and giardia infection as examples. Euro Surveill 2004; 9(9): 6-9.

(239) Hald B, Pedersen K, Waino M, Jorgensen JC, Madsen M. Longitudinal study of the excretion patterns of thermophilic Campylobacter spp. in young pet dogs in Denmark. J Clin Microbiol 2004; 42(5): 2003-12.

(240) Houf K, De Smet S, Bare J, Daminet S. Dogs as carriers of the emerging pathogen Arcobacter. Vet Microbiol 2008.

(241) Sandberg M, Bergsjø B, Hofshagen M, Skjerve E, Kruse H. Risk factors for Campylobacter infection in Norwegian cats and dogs. Prev Vet Med 2002; 55(4): 241-53.

(242) Parsons BN, Williams NJ, Pinchbeck GL, et al. Prevalence and shedding patterns of Campylobacter spp. in longitudinal studies of kennelled dogs. Vet J.

(243) Guest CM, Stephen JM, Price CJ. Prevalence of Campylobacter and four endoparasites in dog populations associated with Hearing Dogs. J Small Anim Pract 2007; 48(11): 632-7.

(244) Gargiulo A, Rinaldi L, D'Angelo L, et al. Survey of Campylobacter jejuni in stray cats in southern Italy. Lett Appl Microbiol 2008; 46(2): 267-70.

(245) Rossi M, Hanninen ML, Revez J, Hannula M, Zanoni RG. Occurrence and species level diagnostics of Campylobacter spp., enteric Helicobacter spp. and Anaerobiospirillum spp. in healthy and diarrheic dogs and cats. Vet Microbiol 2008; 129(3-4): 304-14.

(246) Colles F, Jones K, Harding R, Maiden M. Genetic diversity of Campylobacter jejuni isolates from farm animals and the farm environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 2003; 69(12): 7409-13.

(247) Hutchison M, Walters L, Avery S, Munro F, Moore A. Analyses of livestock production, waste storage, and pathogen levels and prevalences in farm manures. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005; 71(3): 1231-6.

(248) Kwan PS, Barrigas M, Bolton FJ, et al. Molecular epidemiology of Campylobacter jejuni populations in dairy cattle, wildlife, and the environment in a farmland area. Appl Environ Microbiol 2008; 74(16): 5130-8.

(249) French N, Barrigas M, Brown P, et al. Spatial epidemiology and natural population structure of Campylobacter jejuni colonizing a farmland ecosystem. Environ Microbiol 2005; 7(8): 1116-26.

(250) Eyles R, Niyogi D, Townsend C, Benwell G, Weinstein P. Spatial and temporal patterns of Campylobacter contamination underlying public health risk in the Taieri River, New Zealand. J Environ Qual 2003; 32(5): 1820-8.

(251) Sinton LW, Braithwaite RR, Hall CH, Mackenzie ML. Survival of indicator and pathogenic bacteria in bovine feces on pasture. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007; 73(24): 7917-25.
(252) Jones K, Howard S, Wallace J. Intermittent shedding of thermophilic campylobacters by sheep at pasture. J Appl Microbiol 1999; 86(3): 531-6.

(253) Hughes LA, Bennett M, Coffey P, et al. Molecular epidemiology and characterization of Campylobacter spp. isolated from wild bird populations in northern England. Appl Environ Microbiol 2009; 75(10): 3007-15.

(254) Griekspoor P, Olsen B, Waldenstrom J. Campylobacter jejuni in penguins, Antarctica. Emerg Infect Dis 2009; 15(5): 847-8.

(255) Colles FM, McCarthy ND, Howe JC, Devereux CL, Gosler AG, Maiden MC. Dynamics of Campylobacter colonization of a natural host, Sturnus vulgaris (European starling). Environ Microbiol 2009; 11(1): 258-67.

(256) French NP, Midwinter A, Holland B, et al. Molecular epidemiology of Campylobacter jejuni isolates from wild-bird fecal material in children's playgrounds. Appl Environ Microbiol 2009; 75(3): 779-83.

(257) Broman T, Waldenström J, Dahlgren D, Carlsson I, Eliasson I, Olsen B. Diversities and similarities in PFGE profiles of Campylobacter jejuni isolated from migrating birds and humans. J Appl Microbiol 2004; 96(4): 834-43.

(258) Diergaardt S, Venter S, Spreeth A, Theron J, Brözel V. The occurrence of campylobacters in water sources in South Africa. Water Res 2004; 38(10): 2589-95.

(259) Abe T, Haga S, Yokoyama K, Watanabe N. An outbreak of Campylobacter jejuni subsp. jejuni infection via tap water. Jpn J Infect Dis 2008; 61(4): 327.

(260) Sacks JJ, Lieb S, Baldy LM, et al. Epidemic campylobacteriosis associated with a community water supply. Am J Public Health 1986; 76(4): 424-8.

(261) Obiri-Danso K, Jones K. Distribution and seasonality of microbial indicators and thermophilic campylobacters in two freshwater bathing sites on the River Lune in northwest England. J Appl Microbiol 1999; 87(6): 822-32.

(262) Carter A, Pacha R, Clark G, Williams E. Seasonal occurrence of Campylobacter spp. in surface waters and their correlation with standard indicator bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 1987; 53(3): 523-6.

(263) Schönberg-Norio D, Takkinen J, Hänninen M, et al. Swimming and Campylobacter infections. Emerg Infect Dis 2004; 10(8): 1474-7.

(264) Nylen G, Dunstan F, Palmer S, et al. The seasonal distribution of campylobacter infection in nine European countries and New Zealand. Epidemiol Infect 2002; 128(3): 383-90.

(265) Miller G, Dunn G, Smith-Palmer A, Ogden I, Strachan N. Human campylobacteriosis in Scotland: seasonality, regional trends and bursts of infection. Epidemiol Infect 2004; 132(4): 585-93.

(266) Stanley K, Wallace J, Currie J, Diggle P, Jones K. The seasonal variation of thermophilic campylobacters in beef cattle, dairy cattle and calves. J Appl Microbiol 1998; 85(3): 472-80.
(267) Kovats RS, Edwards SJ, Charron D, et al. Climate variability and campylobacter infection: an international study. Int J Biometeorol 2005; 49(4): 207-14.

(268) Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, O'Brien SJ, Hajat S. Temperature dependence of reported Campylobacter infection in England, 1989-1999. Epidemiol Infect 2006; 134(1): 119-25.
(269) Meldrum RJ, Griffiths JK, Smith RM, Evans MR. The seasonality of human campylobacter infection and Campylobacter isolates from fresh, retail chicken in Wales. Epidemiol Infect 2005; 133(1): 49-52.

(270) Patrick ME, Christiansen LE, Waino M, Ethelberg S, Madsen H, Wegener HC. Effects of climate on incidence of Campylobacter spp. in humans and prevalence in broiler flocks in Denmark. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004; 70(12): 7474-80.

(271) Hudson J, Nicol C, Wright J, Whyte R, Hasell S. Seasonal variation of Campylobacter types from human cases, veterinary cases, raw chicken, milk and water. J Appl Microbiol 1999; 87(1): 115-24.

(272) Bi P, Cameron AS, Zhang Y, Parton KA. Weather and notified Campylobacter infections in temperate and sub-tropical regions of Australia: An ecological study. J Infect 2008.

(273) Auld H, MacIver D, Klaassen J. Heavy rainfall and waterborne disease outbreaks: the Walkerton example. J Toxicol Environ Health A 2004; 67(20-22): 1879-87.

(274) Curriero FC, Patz JA, Rose JB, Lele S. The association between extreme precipitation and waterborne disease outbreaks in the United States, 1948-1994. Am J Public Health 2001; 91(8): 1194-9.

(275) Patz JA, McGeehin MA, Bernard SM, et al. The potential health impacts of climate variability and change for the United States: executive summary of the report of the health sector of the U.S. National Assessment. Environ Health Perspect 2000; 108(4): 367-76.

(276) Paul M, Held L, Toschke AM. Multivariate modelling of infectious disease surveillance data. Stat Med 2008; 27(29): 6250-67.

(277) Rhodes CJ, Hollingsworth TD. Variational data assimilation with epidemic models. J Theor Biol 2009.

(278) Sanson RL. The Use of GIS in Epidemic Disease Response. In: P. Durr AG, ed. GIS and Spatial Analysis in Veterinary Science. Cambridge: CAB International, 2004: 223-47.

(279) French NPaW, P. The use of GIS in Modelling the Spatial and Temporal Spread of Animal Diseases. In: P. Durr AG, ed. GIS and Spatial Analysis in Veterinary Science. Cambridge: CAB International, 2004: 177-203

(280) Pfeiffer D. Geographic Information Science and Spatial Analysis in Animal Health. In: Durr PG, A., ed. GIS and Spatial Analysis in Veterinary Science. Cambridge: CAB International, 2004: 119-44.

(281) Jerrett M, Gale S, Kontgis C. Spatial modeling in environmental and public health research. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2010; 7(4): 1302-29.

(282) Durr P, Froggatt A. How best to geo-reference farms? A case study from Cornwall, England. Prev Vet Med 2002; 56(1): 51-62.

(283) Biggeri A, Dreassi E, Catelan D, Rinaldi L, Lagazio C, Cringoli G. Disease mapping in veterinary epidemiology: a Bayesian geostatistical approach. STATISTICAL METHODS IN MEDICAL RESEARCH 2006: 337-52.

(284) Newell DG, Fearnley C. Minireview: Sources of *Campylobacter* colonization in broiler chickens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 2003; 69(8): 4343-51.

(285) Peyrat MB, Soumet C, Maris P, Sanders P. Recovery of Campylobacter jejuni from surfaces of poultry slaughterhouses after cleaning and disinfection procedures: analysis of a potential source of carcass contamination. Int J Food Microbiol 2008; 124(2): 188-94.

(286) Van Huang K, Stern N, Saxton AM, Xu F, Zeng X, Lin J. Prevalence, development and molecular mechanisms of bacteriocin resistance in *Campylobacter*. Appl Environ Microbiol 2011; 77(7): 2309-15.

(287) Jones K. Campylobacters in water, sewage and the environment. Symp Ser Soc Appl Microbiol 2001(30): 68S-79S.

(288) Bi P, Cameron AS, Zhang Y, Parton KA. Weather and notified Campylobacter infections in temperate and sub-tropical regions of Australia: an ecological study. J Infect 2008; 57(4): 317-23.

(289) Zhang Y, Bi P, Hiller J. Climate variations and salmonellosis transmission in Adelaide, South Australia: a comparison between regression models. Int J Biometeorol 2008; 52(3): 179-87.

(290) Tokars JI, Burkom H, Xing J, et al. Enhancing time-series detection algorithms for automated biosurveillance. Emerg Infect Dis 2009; 15(4): 533-9.

(291) Burkom HS, Murphy SP, Shmueli G. Automated time series forecasting for biosurveillance. Stat Med 2007; 26(22): 4202-18.

(292) Rolfhamre P, Ekdahl K. An evaluation and comparison of three commonly used statistical models for automatic detection of outbreaks in epidemiological data of communicable diseases. Epidemiol Infect 2006; 134(4): 863-71.

(293) Naumova EN, Chen JT, Griffiths JK, Matyas BT, Estes-Smargiassi SA, Morris RD. Use of passive surveillance data to study temporal and spatial variation in the incidence of giardiasis and cryptosporidiosis. Public Health Rep 2000; 115(5): 436-47.

(294) Naumova EN, MacNeil IB. Time-distributed effect of exposure and infectious outbreaks. Econometrics 2009; 20: 235-348.

(295) Preliminary FoodNet Data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food--10 States, 2008. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009; 58(13): 333-7.
(296) Oregon Climate.<u>http://wwwcity-datacom/states/Oregon-Climatehtml</u>. Accessed on 8 September 2009.

(297) Net State Geography. In: <u>http://wwwnetstatecom/states/geography/ga\_geographyhtm</u>. Accessed 15 October 2009.

(298) Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (DNR). http://www.dnrstatemnus/climate/ indexhtml. Accessed 9 September 2009.

(299) DeLurgio SA. Forecasting Principles and Applications. FIrst ed. St. Louis, Missouri: Irwin McGraw-Hill: 802.

(300) SAS Institute. In: Statistical analysis systems (SAS) version 9.2 ed. Cary, North Carolina, USA: SAS Institute, Inc., 2008.

(301) U.S.Census. United States Census Bureau. http://factfindercensusgov/home/saff/mainhtml?\_lang=en, 2010: Accessed 5 June 2010.

(302) Hintze J. NCSS, PASS and GESS. In: NCSS. Kaysville, Utah, USA, 2006.

(303) Alwan LC. Time series modelling for statistical process control. Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 1988; 6(1): 87-95.

(304) Box EP, Jenkins GM. Time Series Analysis: Forecasting and Control. 3rd ed. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall, 1994: 592.

(305) Reichert TA, Simonsen L, Sharma A, Pardo SA, Fedson DS, Miller MA. Influenza and the winter increase in mortality in the United States, 1959-1999. Am J Epidemiol 2004; 160(5): 492-502.

(306) Singer JD, Willett JB. Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis. New York: Oxford University Press, Inc., 2003: 644.

(307) Weisent J, Seaver W, Odoi A, Rohrbach B. Comparison of three time-series models for predicting campylobacteriosis risk. Epidemiol Infect 2010; 138(6): 898-906.

(308) Lal A, Hales S, French N, Baker MG. Seasonality in human zoonotic enteric diseases: a systematic review. PLoS ONE; 7(4): e31883.

(309) Allard R, Plante C, Garnier C, Kosatsky T. The reported incidence of campylobacteriosis modelled as a function of earlier temperatures and numbers of cases, Montreal, Canada, 1990-2006. Int J Biometeorol; 55(3): 353-60.

(310) Bergmeir C, Benitez JM. On the use of cross-validation for time series predictor evaluation. Information Sciences 2012; 191: 192-213.

(311) Netstate. The Geography of Georgia.http://wwwnetstatecom/states/geography/ga\_geographyhtm, 2012.

(312) NCDC. Climate Divisions in Georgia U.S. In: http://www.cpcncepnoaagov/products/ analysis\_monitoring/regional\_monitoring/CLIM\_DIVS/georgiagif courtesy of the CLimate Prediction Center, 2012.

(313) CDC. FoodNet Overview. 2010. http://www.ceip.us/pdf/FoodNet\_Overview.pdf.

(314) Wikipedia. Elevation of Georgia. http://enwikipediaorg/wiki/File:Map\_of\_Georgia\_elevations png, courtesy of the United States Geological Society, 2012.

(315) U.S. Drought Monitior. http://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/. Accessed September 2, 2012

(316) Makridakis S, Hibon M. Accuracy of Forecasting: An Empirical Investigation. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society 1979; A 142, Part 2: 97-145.

(317) Scallan E, Griffin PM, Angulo FJ, Tauxe RV, Hoekstra RM. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--unspecified agents. Emerg Infect Dis 2011; 17(1): 16-22.

(318) Jonsson ME, Heier BT, Norstrom M, Hofshagen M. Analysis of simultaneous space-time clusters of Campylobacter spp. in humans and in broiler flocks using a multiple dataset approach. Int J Health Geogr 2010; 9(1): 48.

(319) Kitron U, Clennon JA, Cecere MC, Gurtler RE, King CH, Vazquez-Prokopec G. Upscale or downscale: applications of fine scale remotely sensed data to Chagas disease in Argentina and schistosomiasis in Kenya. Geospat Health 2006; 1(1): 49-58.

(320) Kramer MR, Cooper HL, Drews-Botsch CD, Waller LA, Hogue CR. Do measures matter? Comparing surface-density-derived and census-tract-derived measures of racial residential segregation. Int J Health Geogr 2010; 9: 29.

(321) Openshaw S. Ecological fallacies and the analysis of areal census data. Environ Plan A 1984; 16(1): 17-31.

(322) Census 2000 TIGER Line Data. http://www.census.gov/geo/www/tiger /tiger2k/tgr2000.html.

(323) Google Maps.2010: http://maps.google.com/.

(324) Batchgeo. 2010: <u>http://www.batchgeo.com/</u>.

(325) ESRI. Arcview GIS version 9.2. In. Redlands, California, USA: Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc., 2009.

(326) Mazumdar S, Rushton G, Smith BJ, Zimmerman DL, Donham KJ. Geocoding accuracy and the recovery of relationships between environmental exposures and health. Int J Health Geogr 2008; 7: 13.

(327) LP S. <u>http://www.stata.com/</u>. In: Copyright 1996–2011 StataCorp LP LD, College Station, TX 77845 USA., ed. College Station, Texas.

(328) GeoDa0.9.5-i. Arizona State University.<u>http://geodacenter.asu.edu/software/downloads</u>, 2010.

(329) Odoi A, Martin SW, Michel P, Holt J, Middleton D, Wilson J. Geographical and temporal distribution of human giardiasis in Ontario, Canada. Int J Health Geogr 2003; 2(1): 5.
(330) Tobler WR. A Computer movie simulating urban growth in the Detroit region Economic

Geography 1970; 46: 234-40.

(331) Kuldorff M. <u>http://www.satscan.org/download.html</u>. 2010.

(332) Tian N, Goovaerts P, Zhan FB, Wilson JG. Identification of racial disparities in breast cancer mortality: does scale matter? Int J Health Geogr 2010; 9: 35.

(333) Sugumaran R, Larson SR, Degroote JP. Spatio-temporal cluster analysis of county-based human West Nile virus incidence in the continental United States. Int J Health Geogr 2009; 8:
43.

(334) Reading R, Openshaw S. Do inaccuracies in small area deprivation analyses matter? J Epidemiol Community Health 1993; 47(3): 238-41.

(335) Robertson C, Nelson TA. Review of software for space-time disease surveillance. Int J Health Geogr 2010; 9: 16.

(336) Kulldorff M. A spatial scan statistic. Communications in Statistics: Theory and Methods 1997; 26(6): 1481-96.

(337) Chen J, Roth RE, Naito AT, Lengerich EJ, Maceachren AM. Geovisual analytics to enhance spatial scan statistic interpretation: an analysis of U.S. cervical cancer mortality. Int J Health Geogr 2008; 7: 57.

(338) Charlton M, Fotheringham S, Brunsdon C. GWR 3: Software for Geographically Weighted Regression. In. 3.0.1 ed. Newcastle upon Tyne, England: Spatial Analysis Research Group, 2003.

(339) Ailes E, Scallan E, Berkelman RL, Kleinbaum DG, Tauxe RV, Moe CL. Do Differences in Risk Factors, Medical Care Seeking, or Medical Practices Explain the Geographic Variation in Campylobacteriosis in Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) Sites? Clin Infect Dis; 54 Suppl 5: S464-71.

(340) Gilbert A, Chakraborty J. Using geographically weighted regression for environmental justice analysis: Cumulative cancer risks from air toxics in Florida. Social Science Research 2011; 40: 273-86.

(341) Liu Y, Jiang S, Wang R, et al. Spatial epidemiology and spatial ecology study of worldwide drug-resistant tuberculosis. Int J Health Geogr; 10: 50.

(342) HHS. Healthy People 2020. In: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2011.

(343) Messer LC. Invited commentary: measuring social disparities in health--what was the question again? Am J Epidemiol 2008; 167(8): 900-4; author reply 8-16.

(344) Bhopal RS. Re: "An overview of methods for monitoring social disparities in cancer with an example using trends in lung cancer incidence by area-socioeconomic position and race-ethnicity, 1992-2004". Am J Epidemiol 2008; 168(10): 1214-6; author reply 6.

Appendices

## **Appendix A: Tables**

Table 2.1. Time series model comparisons for campylobacteriosis risk per 100,000 persons in GA (1999 to 2007), OR and MN (1998 to 2007).

State	Model	R <sup>2</sup> , <b>PRED</b> *	R <sup>2</sup> Holdout**	MSE	Normality	WN (adequate lags)	MAPE
	Regression	0.693, 0.602	0.733	0.014	Yes	No (5-7)	0.162
Georgia	ARIMA(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	0.655	0.757	0.016	No-close	Yes	0.197
	Decomposition	0.727	0.662	0.011	Yes	No (1-2)	0.147
	<b>_</b>	0.740.0.000	0 500	0 070			0 4 5 4
	Regression	0.710, 0.633	0.588	0.073	Yes	No (28 on)	0.154
Oregon	ARIMA(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	0.724	0.620	0.070	No-2 off	Yes	0.177
	Decomposition	0.763	0.526	0.053	Yes	No	0.145
	Regression	0.835, 0.792	0.682	0.089	Yes	No	0.194
Minnesota	ARIMA(1,0,0)(0,1,1)	0.841	0.599	0.107	No-close	Yes-All except lag 1	0.219
	Decomposition	0.899	0.799	0.049	Yes	No (1,4,7-11)	0.156

\* PRED is a prediction R<sup>2</sup> value (sometimes referred to as a Press R<sup>2</sup>). This statistic is used to internally validate the regression model using jackknife techniques.

\*\*  $R^2$  of 2008 validation sample Mean square error (MSE) White Noise (WN)

Mean Absolute Percent Error (MAPE)

Area	Risk F	Range	Mean	Risk	Zero values	Trend	<sup>1</sup> Cross Correlations				ns
Division/	per 100	,000	(Stand	ard	(# in dataset)	(P<0.05)	Tempe		erature		Precipitation
combination			Deviati	on)			Lag: 0	Lag:1	Lag:6	Lag:12	Lag, CC
Georgia	0.24	1.19	0.59	(0.20)	None	Down	0.71	0.57	-0.72	0.69	0, 0.31
1	0.00	2.97	0.78	(0.50)	2*	Up	0.44	0.47	-0.48	0.46	4, -0.15
2	0.13	1.38	0.63	(0.24)	None	Down	0.53	0.41	-0.51	0.52	0, 0.17
3	0.00	4.97	0.99	(0.78)	19 <sup>*</sup>	—	0.34	0.26	-0.34	0.32	0, 0.28
4	0.00	1.09	0.37	(0.22)	3 <sup>*</sup>	Down	0.40	0.33	-0.44	0.45	8, -0.18
5	0.00	1.58	0.45	(0.33)	8*	—	0.43	0.33	-0.50	0.42	0, 0.13
6	0.00	1.92	0.36	(0.32)	25		0.31	0.15	-0.39	0.33	0, 0.29
7	0.00	3.90	0.69	(0.59)	18		0.35	0.33	-0.31	0.32	0, 0.16
8	0.00	2.18	0.84	(0.49)	6 <sup>*</sup>		0.38	0.30	-0.35	0.33	1, 0.19
9	0.00	2.03	0.67	(0.43)	4	_	0.50	0.40	-0.45	0.41	6, -0.35
1,2 & 3	0.22	2.13	0.79	(0.36)	None	—	0.58	0.48	-0.58	0.56	0, 0.31
4,5 & 6	0.07	1.17	0.40	(0.22)	None		0.54	0.38	-0.62	0.54	0, 0.19
7,8 & 9	0.08	1.58	0.72	(0.34)	None		0.60	0.50	-0.55	0.52	0, 0.22

**Table 3.1** Descriptive statistics and cross correlations (temperature and precipitation) for monthly campylobacteriosis risk estimates per 100,000 population in Georgia, climate divisions 1-9, and combined divisions 1-3, 4-6 and 7-9.

 $^{1}_{*}$ Strongest cross correlations for temperature (lag 0,1,6,12) and precipitation (varies) are reported.

Some zero values are located in the last 24 months of data (2007-2008)

Division	Univariate	) )		Deco	ompositio	n	Time Series Regression				
	PCP (P<0.05)	TMP (R <sup>2</sup> )	R <sup>2</sup>	Holdout	Norm	White Noise	Variables*	R <sup>2</sup>	Holdout	Norm	White Noise
Georgia	Yes	0.51	0.73	0.66	Yes	No, close	T, PCP, TMP (lag 6)	0.64	0.66	Yes	No
1	No	0.26	0.44	0.13	No, close	Yes	TMP (lag 6) IV: July 2007	0.40	0.02	Yes	Yes
2	Yes	0.30	0.55	0.40	Yes	No	T, PCP, TMP	0.46 Robust <sup>1</sup>	0.48	Yes	Yes
3	Yes	0.12	0.27	-0.37	Yes	No	PCP, TMP IV: June 2005	0.36	0.03	Yes	Yes
4	No	0.17	0.37	0.19	No, close	Yes	T, TMP (lag 6) IV: Jan 2007	0.42	0.26	Yes	Yes
5	No	0.19	0.41	0.09	Yes	Yes	TMP (lag 6)	0.33 Robust	0.31	No, close	Yes
6	Yes	0.10	0.47	0.21	Yes	No	PCP, TMP (lag 6) IV: Aug 2001 IV: June 2003	0.47	0.45	Yes	Yes
7	No	0.13	0.31	0.24	No, close	Yes	TMP IV: Aug 2001 IV: Aug 2003	0.35	0.20	Yes	Yes
8	No	0.15	0.29	0.11	Yes	Yes	TMP IV: Aug 2002	0.27	0.00	No	Yes
9	Yes	0.25	0.36	0.12	Yes	No	PCP (lag 6), TMP	0.31	0.09	No, close	Yes

**Table 3.2.** Decomposition & time series regression with external variables and interventionsfor Georgia, USA, Divisions 1-9 and Combinations 1-3, 4-6 & 7-9

1,2 & 3	Yes	0.33	0.49	0.43	Yes	No	PCP, TMP (lag 6) IV: June 2005	0.52	0.46	Yes	Yes
4,5 & 6	Yes	0.27	0.55	0.43	Yes	No	TMP (lag 6) IV: May 2000 IV: June 2003	0.57	0.34	No, close	Yes
7, 8 & 9	Yes	0.36	0.51	0.22	Yes	No	TMP	0.36	0.28	Yes	Yes

\*Variables: T=trend, PCP=precipitation, TMP=temperature, IV=Intervention <sup>1</sup> Robust method improved normality and model results

	Cluster	General Region			RR <sup>3</sup>	Count <sup>₄</sup>	
	(p-value)	-	<b>Observed</b> <sup>1</sup>	Expected <sup>2</sup>			Population
	1*(p=.001)	Knoxville	289	106.5	2.86	32	161,266
	2 (p=.001)	Cookeville	97	28.3	3.43	14	42,008
Census	3 (p=.001)	Maynardville, Jefferson City	185	80.6	2.36	37	121,862
Tract	4 (p=.001)	Murfreesboro	122	46.0	2.71	18	67,564
	5 (p=.001)	Shelbyville	16	1.3	12.06	1	2,010
	6 (p=.001)	Nashville-Davidson, Franklin	176	106.2	1.69	33	167,671
	7 (p=.001)	Kingsport	16	2.8	5.82	1	4,181
	8 (p=.003)	Lawrenceburg	10	1.1	9.00	1	1,775
	1*(n - 001)	Knoxville	267	110.8	2 52	8	12 627
	2 (p=.001)	East Knoxville, Jefferson City	157	74.6	2.15	12	114,482
Zip	3 (p=.001)	Oak Ridge	179	96.6	1.90	16	149,081
Code	4 (p=.001)	Cookeville	97	45.6	2.16	7	70,054
	5 (p=.001)	Nashville-Davidson, Franklin	182	110.0	1.69	6	168,288
	6 (p=.001)	Shelbyville, Murfreesboro	98	56.3	1.76	11	83,231
	1* (p=.001)	West Knoxville	207	98.2	2.17	11	151,917
County	2 (p=.001)	Maynardville	104	43.5	2.43	10	66,116
Sub-	3 (p=.001)	Cookeville	89	38.9	2.32	4	59,547
division	4 (p=.002)	Shelbyville, Murfreesboro	61	30.3	2.03	7	11,215
	5 (p=.009)	Philadelphia, Barnard	19	5.5	3.47	2	8,433

Table 4.1. High risk campylobacteriosis cluster profiles at census tract, zip code and county subdivision spatial levels.

<sup>1</sup>The observed number of cases within the cluster
 <sup>2</sup>The expected number of cases as calculated by the spatial scan algorithm
 <sup>3</sup>The relative risk of campylobacteriosis for the cluster
 <sup>4</sup>Denotes the number of areal units included in the cluster
 \*Denotes the primary cluster detected in the analysis

Number of	%	
cases (total=967)	Total	Reason for removal
		Infection acquired outside study
		area
130	2.75	(travel-related)
40	0.85	No address provided
•		
24	0.51	Duplicate data/data entry error
4	0.05	Missing and
4	0.05	Missing sex
125	2.80	Missing ago
100	2.00	Missing age
		Missing street or address
520	11.00	information
		Incorrect address or
244	5.20	typographical error
Note: One hund	dred twent	y nine cases contained more than one of the
above reasons	for remova	al. (Total number of cases described above=1096,

## Table 5.1. Cases deleted from initial dataset and reasons for deletion.

Total number eliminated=967)

Category	Variable (% of census tract population)	Mean	Std Dev	Median	Min	Max
Race &	Black or African American	19.2	28.4	5.6	0	99.7
Nationality	White	77.2	29.0	91.1	0	100.0
	American Indian or Alaskan	0.3	0.4	0.2	0	11.1
	Asian	1.0	1.7	0.4	0	25.6
	Hispanic/Latino	2.1	2.9	1.2	0	34.2
	Native American/Alaskan	0.2	0.2	0.2	0	1.1
Employment	Unemployed	3.8	2.9	3.2	0	36.3
	Service occupation	14.9	6.7	13.6	0	82.6
	Agriculture: forestry, fish/hunt/mine	1.6	2.3	0.7	0	20.4
	Farming Industry	0.6	1.1	0.3	0	14.5
	Disability (age 21-64)	23.1	8.6	22.9	0	60.4
	Armed forces	0.3	2.7	0.0	0	70.1
Education	No high school diploma	15.7	7.7	15.8	0	50.2
	Bachelor degree	11.9	9.3	8.7	0	52.1
	Graduate or Professional Degree	6.4	6.2	4.3	0	39.6
Marital	Never married	24.4	11.1	19.9	0	88.9
Status	Separated	2.3	2.2	1.7	0	21.7
	Divorced	11.6	3.9	11.3	0	51.1
	Widow	7.4	3.3	7.0	0	28.5
Poverty,	Poverty level	12.5	11.3	9.7	0	100.0
assistance	Receive public assistance	4.0	4.4	2.8	0	57.1
a Urbanicity	Urban	62.7	42.8	89.1	0	100.0
	Rural	37.1	42.7	10.0	0	100.0

**Table 5.2.** Summary statistics of the socioeconomic factors investigated for potential associations with campylobacteriosis risk.

	Black	White	Unemp <sup>1</sup>	Service Industry	Ag Employ <sup>2</sup>	Dis- ability	No HS Diploma³	Bach Degree	Grad Degree 5	Never Married	Sep⁵	Divorced	Poverty	Public Assist <sup>7</sup>	Urban	Rural
Black	1															
White	-0.97 (<.001)	1														
Unemployed	0.37 (<.001)	-0.35 (<.001)	1													
Service Industry	0.40 (<.001)	-0.39 (<.001)	0.57 (<.001)	1												
Ag Employ <sup>2</sup>	-0.49 (<.001)	0.52 (<.001)	-0.07 (<.001)	-0.17 (<.001)	1											
Disability	0.15 (<.001)	-0.11 (<.001)	0.51 (<.001)	0.55 (<.001)	0.19 (<.001)	1										
No High School Diploma	0.20 (<.001)	-0.15 (<.001)	0.50 (<.001)	0.51 (<.001)	0.24 (<.001)	0.76 (<.001)	1									
Bachelor's Degree	0.05 (0.08)	-0.06 (0.02)	-0.39 (<.001)	-0.35 (<.001)	-0.41 (<.001)	-0.72 (<.001)	-0.79 (<.001)	1								
Graduate Degree	-0.01 (0.86)	-0.01 (0.61)	-0.36 (<.001)	-0.32 (<.001)	-0.34 (<.001)	-0.62 (<.001)	-0.73 (<.001)	0.84 (<.001)	1							
Never Married	0.73 (<.001)	-0.74 (<.001)	0.40 (<.001)	0.48 (<.001)	-0.49 (<.001)	0.16 (<.001)	0.16 (<.001)	0.09 (<.001)	0.04 (0.12)	1						
Separated	0.61 (<.001)	-0.59 (<.001)	0.47 (<.001)	0.54 (<.001)	-0.24 (<.001)	0.48 (<.001)	0.48 (<.001)	-0.32 (<.001)	-0.30 (<.001)	0.55 (<.001)	1					
Divorced	0.27 (<.001)	-0.26 (<.001)	0.31 (<.001)	0.36 (<.001)	-0.21 (<.001)	0.36 (<.001)	0.32 (<.001)	-0.18 (<.001)	-0.17 (<.001)	0.36 (<.001)	0.42 (<.001)	1				
Poverty level	0.29 (<.001)	-0.26 (<.001)	0.61 (<.001)	0.63 (<.001)	0.12 (<.001)	0.75 (<.001)	0.73 (<.001)	-0.61 (<.001)	-0.53 (<.001)	0.37 (<.001)	0.58 (<.001)	0.36 (<.001)	1			
Receives public assistance	0.31 (<.001)	-0.28 (<.001)	0.58 (<.001)	0.58 (<.001)	0.06 (0.04)	0.70 (<.001)	0.69 (<.001)	-0.57 (<.001)	-0.50 (<.001)	0.30 (<.001)	0.55 (<.001)	0.38 (<.001)	0.76 (<.001)	1		
Urban	0.57 (<.001)	-0.60 (<.001)	0.17 (<.001)	0.26 (<.001)	-0.78 (<.001)	-0.10 (<.001)	-0.17 (<.001)	0.40 (<.001)	0.34 (<.001)	0.62 (<.001)	0.36 (<.001)	0.32 (<.001)	0.03 (0.24)	0.06 (0.03)	1	
Rural	-0.56 (<.001)	0.61 (<.001)	-0.16 (<.001)	-0.25 (<.001)	0.78 (<.001)	0.11 (<.001)	0.18 (<.001)	-0.39 (<.001)	-0.33 (<.001)	-0.61 (<.001)	-0.35 (<.001)	-0.31 (<.001)	-0.02 (0.40)	-0.05 (0.06)	-0.99 (<.001)	1

Fable 5.3. Spearman Rank Correlation	n Coefficients of variables investigated fo	or potential association with cam	pylobacteriosis in Tennessee.
--------------------------------------	---	-----------------------------------	-------------------------------

<sup>1</sup>Unemployed, <sup>2</sup>Agricultural employment, <sup>3</sup>No high school diploma, <sup>4</sup>Bachelor's degree, <sup>5</sup>Graduate degree, <sup>6</sup>Separated, <sup>7</sup>Receives public assistance

Category	Variable (proportion of census tract population )	Estimate (95% Confidence Interval)	SE <sup>1</sup>	P-value	AIC <sup>2</sup>
Bace &	Black or African American	-0.0133 (-0.0158,-0.0108)	0.0013	0.0001	5972
Nationality	White	0.0127 (0.0103, 0.0152)	0.0012	0.0001	5977
	Asian	0.0265 (-0.0143, 0.0672)	0.0204	0.2037	6072
	Hispanic/Latino	-0.0065 (-0.0278, 0.0148)	0.0109	0.5499	6074
	American Indian/Alaskan	0.3575 (-0.0490, 0.7641)	0.2074	0.0843	6071
Employment	Unemployed	-0.0902 (-0.1170,-0.0634)	0.0137	0.0001	6030
Employment	Service occupation	-0.0291 (-0.0403,-0.0178)	0.0058	0.0001	6049
	Agriculture: forestry, fishing, hunting & mining	0.0585 (0.0317, 0.0854)	0.0137	0.0001	6055
	Farming Industry	0.0278 (0.0367,-0.0442)	0.0999	0.4485	6074
	Disability (age 21-64)	-0.0169 (-0.0253,-0.0086)	0.0043	0.0001	6058
	Armed forces	-0.0462 (-0.0779,-0.0144)	0.0162	0.0043	6065
Education	No High school diploma	-0.0097 (-0.0188,-0.0006)	0.0046	0.0373	6070
	Bachelor degree Graduate/Professional Degree	0.0122 (0.0049, 0.0195) 0.0159 (0.0054, 0.0265)	0.0037 0.0054	0.0011 0.0031	6069 6070
Marital status	Never married	-0.0134 (-0.0193, -0.007)	0.0030	0.0001	6055
	Separated	-0.1560 (-0.1909, -0.1211)	0.0178	0.0001	6000
	Divorced	-0.0390 (-0.0570, -0.020)	0.0092	0.0001	6056
	Widow	-0.0559 (-0.0776, -0.0342)	0.0111	0.0001	6049
Poverty, Public	Below poverty level	-0.0198 (-0.0264,-0.0132)	0.0034	0.0001	6041
Assistance & Urbanicity	Receives public assistance	-0.0458 (-0.0627,-0.0289)	0.0086	0.0001	6047
<b>·</b> ,	Urban Rural	-0.2573 (-0.4133,-0.1013) 0.2573 (0.1013, 0.4134)	0.0796 0.0796	0.0012 0.0012	6064 6064

**Table 5.4.** Results of assessment of univariate (simple) associations between campylobacteriosis risk and selected socioeconomic factors.

<sup>1</sup> Standard Error <sup>2</sup>Akaike's Information Criterion

	Model type with C	Coefficient estimates (p-values)				
	Negative Bind	omial	Global	Poisson GWR <sup>1</sup>		
	Model	Spatial Lag Model	Model		Local Pois	son GWR <sup>1</sup> Model
Model 1:					Min	Max
Intercept	-7.164 (0.0001)	1.716 (0.000)	- 7.155	(0.000)	-8.187	-6.247
Black Race	-0.015 (0.0001)	-0.169 (0.001)	-0.014	(0.001)	-0.0487	0.0218
No diploma	0.021 (0.0004)	-0.012 (0.112)	0.003	(0.003)	-0.0553	0.0533
Unemployed	-0.041 (0.0141)	-0.030 (0.112)	-0.014	(0.009)	-0.1866	0.0851
Urban	0.235 (0.0154)	0.357 (0.014)	0.186	(0.055)	-0.4526	0.9321
Model 2:						
Intercept	- 6.73 (0.0001	) 1.80 (0.000)	- 6.85	(0.000)	-7.71	-4.905
Black Race	-0.0129 (0.0001	-0.093 (0.000)	-0.012	(0.001)	-0.0161	0.0311
No diploma	0.0175 (0.0009	-0.018 (0.011)	0.000	(0.003)	-0.0650	0.0882
Unemployed	-0.0330 (0.0433	-0.026 (0.179)	-0.010	(0.008)	-0.1847	0.0752
Divorced	-0.0260 (0.006)	-0.004 (0.733)	-0.016	(0.005)	-0.2485	0.0382

**Table 5.5** Comparison of negative binomial, spatial lag, global and local geographically weighted Poisson models.

<sup>1</sup> Geographically Weighted Regression

Model 1:	Global Poisson GWR <sup>1</sup> SE <sup>2</sup>	Global Poisson GWR <sup>1</sup> 2xSE <sup>2</sup>	Local Poisson GWR <sup>1</sup> IQR <sup>3</sup>	Is Regression Coefficient Non-Stationary?
Black Race	0.001	0.002	0.015	Yes
No diploma	0.003	0.006	0.028	Yes
Unemployed	0.009	0.018	0.068	Yes
Urban	0.046	0.092	0.469	Yes
Model 2:				
Black Race	0.001	0.002	0.016	Yes
No diploma	0.003	0.006	0.015	Yes
Unemployed	0.009	0.018	0.067	Yes
Divorced	0.005	0.010	0.033	Yes

Table 5.6. Assessment of the stationarity of the local Geographically Weighted (GWR) Model regression coefficients

<sup>1</sup> Geographically Weighted Regression <sup>2</sup> Standard error of the global GWR model <sup>3</sup> Interquartile local coefficient estimate range

Appendix B: Figures







Figure 2.1. Risk of campylobacteriosis per 100,000 persons in (a) Georgia (1999-2007), (b) Oregon (1998-2007) and (c) Minnesota (1998-2007).



**Figure 2.2.** (a) Autocorrelation and (b) Partial Autocorrelation plots for Georgia campylobacteriosis risk per 100,000 persons.




Figure 2.3 (continued)



**Figure 2.3.** Validation year (2008) actual verses predicted risk of campyloacteriosis per 100,000 persons in (a) Georgia, (b) Oregon and (c) Minnesota



Figure 2.4. Comparison of temporal patterns in risk of campylobacteriosis in Oregon, Minnesota and Georgia.



**Figure 3.1.** (a) Georgia state map including county (names) and climate division (numerical) boundaries and (b) Georgia diigital elevation map highlighting the regions that correspond to mountains (red, pink), piedmont (dark blue), coastal plain (blue to green interface) and swamp regions (yellow to light green).

Note: Maps are public domain and courtesy of (a) NCDC Climate Prediction Center and (b) U.S. Geological Society



**Figure 3.2**. Procedural flow chart for forecasting campylobacteriosis risk in Georgia, USA



**Figure 3.3.** Risk (and linear trend) of campylobacteriosis (scale factor of 100), precipitation (scale factor of 10) and temperature in Georgia, USA from 1999-2008.











Figure 3.4 (continued)



Figure 3.4 (continued)

100

(h)





**Figure 3.4.** Risk of campylobacteriosis (scale factor of 10) and precipitation for Georgia, USA climate divisions 1-9 (a-i) from 1999-2008.

5.02.70.3-2.00.0-2.00.0-2.00.0-2.00.0-2.00.0-2.00.0-2.00.0-2.

(a) Mean training R<sup>2</sup>: 0.37 (0.43), Holdout R<sup>2</sup>: 0.10 (0.13)

(b) Mean training R<sup>2</sup>: 0.39 (0.37), Holdout R<sup>2</sup>: 0.24 (0.19)



**Figure 3.5.** ARIMA (000 011) Control Charting and Moving holdout results for Divisions 1 (a) & Division 4 (b). Included are the standardized residual scatter plots and mean training and holdout R<sup>2</sup> results for Moving holdout analyses using decomposition (compared with 2008 results).



Data Sources: U.S. Census Bureau & Tennessee Department of Health

**Figure 4.1.** Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed risk of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee during the study period September 1, 1991 to December 31, 2008 at the county subdivision spatial level. The risks are standardized by age and gender.



**Figure 4.2.** Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed risk of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee at the zip code spatial level. Primary insert incorporates the area surrounding Knoxville. Secondary insert highlights the highest risk region of central Knoxville (dark purple). The risks are standardized by age and gender.



Data Sources: U.S. Census Bureau & Tennessee Department of Health

**Figure 4.3**. Spatial empirical Bayesian smoothed risk of campylobacteriosis in Tennessee at the census tract spatial level. The three regional inserts highlight important high risk areas at this scale. The risks are standardized by age and gender.



Data Sources: U.S. Census Bureau & Tennessee Department of Health

**Figure 4.4.** Significant high risk clusters using 3% scanning window at three levels: (a) county subdivision, (b) zip code, (c) census tract.



Data Sources: U.S. Census Bureau & Tennessee Department of Health

**Figure 4.5.** Magnified view of Tennessee demonstrates simultaneous overlay of clusters using 3% scanning window: (a) includes only the zip code (green), (b) contains the zip code and census tract (blue) and (c) shows all three (from bottom to top): zip code, census tract and county subdivision (brown).

Note: Order of overlay was chosen for improved visualization.



Data Sources: U.S. Census Bureau & Tennessee Department of Health

**Figure 4.6.** Significant (p<0.05) high risk cluster results for county subdivision spatial level using (a) 3% scanning window, (b) 5% scanning window, (c) 10% scanning window.



**Figure 5.1.** Geographic distribution of selected socioeconomic variables investigated for potential association with campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee.



**Figure 5.2.** McHenry's All Possible variable selection procedure scree plot demonstrating root mean square error improvement in the top model combinations. Improvement is optimized with four variables (dashed red line).



**Figure 5.3.** Model 1 geographically weighted parameter estimates of the significant socioeconomic determinants of campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee.



**Figure 5.4.** Model 2 geographically weighted parameter estimates of the significant socioeconomic determinants of campylobacteriosis risk in Tennessee.

Jennifer Weisent was born in Queens, New York on March 6, 1973. She graduated from Mattituck High School in 1991 and attended Cornell University where she received a Bachelor of Science degree in Animal Science in 1995. She served as a Peace Corps volunteer for two years in Ecuador, designing and implementing sustainable animal and agriculture farming systems with the indigenous Quechua. She then attended Ross University School of Veterinary Medicine, on the island of St. Kitts, West Indies and received her DVM in 2003. She worked in small animal private practice and shelter medicine in New York for three years, specializing in pediatric critical care and spay/neuter surgery. In 2007 she began her doctoral studies in the Department of Comparative and Experimental Medicine at the University of Tennessee in Knoxville, TN where she received her PhD in Epidemiology with a minor in statistics. In the coming year, Jennifer intends to continue self-directed epidemiological research, complete her first full length non-fiction book, as well as continue to publish her poetry and personal essays.